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Directors’ Report and Financial Statements Kardan N.V. Full Year 2016  
 
Amsterdam/Tel Aviv, March 23, 2017         
Number of pages: 26       
 
The Additional Information and the Financial Statements of Kardan N.V., Full Year 2016, are drawn up 
in accordance with the Dutch and Israeli regulations and together with the separately presented press 
release on the Q4 and Full Year 2016 results of Kardan (‘Kardan’/ ‘the Company’) form an integral part 
of the regulatory requirements and presentation.  

 

FINANCIAL REPORTS  
FOR THE FULL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 
The Financial Reports contain the following sections: 
 
PART 1      
 

 Main events in the period and subsequent to balance sheet date 

 Book Value of investments of Kardan as of December 31, 2016 

 Financial position of Kardan Group as of December 31, 2016 

 Market Risks Management 

 
PART 2   
 

1. Financial analysis of consolidated balance sheet and cash flow statement 

2. Fair Value disclosure 

3. Issuance of debentures 

4. Sensitivity analysis of the fair value of financial instruments 

5. Linkage balance sheet 

6. Directors with accounting and financial expertise 

7. Critical accounting estimations 

8. Internal audit at Kardan NV 

9. Donations policy 

10. Classification of minor transactions 

11. Audit fees 

 

 

PART 3  NON-STATUTORY IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INCLUDING INDEPENDENT 

AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT  

 (PUBLISHED ON THE WEBSITE OF KARDAN N.V. (WWW.KARDAN.NL)) 

 

PART 4  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ISRAELI LAW  
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PART 1 
 
 
 
1.1. Main events in 2016 and subsequent to balance sheet date  
 
KARDAN 

 
 In March 2016, Mr. Shouky Oren had informed the Board of Directors of Kardan N.V. of his intention 

to leave the Company, after four years as CEO and member of the Board of Directors. The Board has 
appointed Mr. Ariel Hasson, CEO of Kardan Financial Services, as the new CEO of Kardan N.V. to 
replace Mr. Oren who relinquished his duties on April 15, 2016. Mr. Hasson was nominated as an 
Executive Board Member at the Company’s Annual General Meeting that took place on May 26, 2016. 

 
 On August 4, 2016, S&P has ratified the rating (ilB with outlook Negative) of Kardan and its Debentures 

Series A and series B following the completion of the sale of KWIG at the end of June 2016 and the 
expected sale – at that date - of TBIF. 

 
 On July 24, 2016, the Company made an early repayment of accrued interest and principal of 

debentures series A and series B amounting to EUR 26 million, using the proceeds from the sale of 
the 25% of KWIG and existing funds. 
On September 2, 2016, the Company made an early repayment of accrued interest and principal of 
debentures series A and series B amounting to EUR 62 million, using the net proceeds from the sale 
of TBIF and existing cash balances. 
On November 14, 2016 the Company made an early repayment of accrued interest and principal of 
debentures series A and series B amounting to EUR 15 million, using the net proceeds from the 
adjustment amount from the sale of TBIF and existing cash balances. 

 
 On December 12, 2016 the Company approved in a special general meeting the appointment of  

Mr. Max Groen as a non-executive independent director of the Company and his Compensation.   
 

 
REAL ESTATE 

 
 In January 2016, Kardan received EUR 13.2 million (the ‘Dalian Deposit‘), following the release of the 

pledges which were registered to secure the previous Dalian project loan. 
 
 In February 2016, the Company, GTC RE and Lone Star Real Estate III (the ‘Buyer’) signed a 

settlement agreement, according to which GTC RE would pay the Buyer an amount of EUR 4 million 
(the ‘Settlement Amount’) in exchange for a final and absolute waiver by the Buyer of all its existing 
and future claims and demands towards the Company and GTC RE in relation to the Buyer’s demands 
according to the Claw Back mechanism, and of mutual cancellation and deletion of all proceedings 
taken in this matter. The settlement did not have any impact on the Company’s income statement in 
2016.  

 
 In February 2016, Kardan Land Dalian Ltd. withdrew an additional amount of RMB 100 million  (EUR 

14 million) from its RMB 1 billion credit facility from Ping An Trust, which was announced by the 
Company on October 27 and November 30, 2015. 
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WATER INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
 In June 2016, the Company announced that Tahal Group Assets B.V. (‘Tahal Assets’) completed the 

sale of the remaining 25% of the shares in the Chinese water infrastructure company Kardan Water 
International Group Ltd. (‘KWIG’) to China Gezhouba Group Investment Holding Co. Ltd. (‘CGGC 
Investment’) (the ‘Transaction’). The total consideration for the 25% stake amounts to USD 27.7 million 
(including interest). In addition, Tahal Assets has paid the taxes due on the sale of the 75% of KWIG 
shares. Therefore, according to the trust agreement that was signed, the amount of the tax deposit will 
be reduced to USD 1.7 million (from USD 10 million as previously announced), to cover the taxes due 
by Tahal Assets on the second phase of the transaction. This amount will be transferred from the funds 
already reserved by Tahal Assets from the proceeds of the first phase of the sale of KWIG. As a result 
no additional tax deposit is required from the consideration of the second phase of the Transaction. 
The net consideration (less cost of sale) for this second phase of the Transaction were used by Tahal 
Assets for dividend distribution to its shareholders. Kardan used the received funds for partial early 
repayment of its debentures, in accordance with the provisions of the Amended Deeds of Trust dated 
July 2, 2015. Refer to section 1.2 for additional information. 

 
 

 In April 2016, Star Pumped Storage Ltd., in which Kardan’s subsidiary Tahal Consulting Engineers 
Ltd. (‘TCE’ - A subsidiary held 98.43% by Kardan N.V.) holds a 40.5% stake, has signed a principle 
construction agreement (‘the Agreement’) with a joint consortium, comprising Sinohydro Corporation 
(a subsidiary of Power China, one of the leading energy companies in China) and Alstom Hydro France 
(‘AHF’, which was acquired by GE).  
The Agreement encompasses a full EPC (engineering, construction and procurement) turn-key 
assignment for the Project, representing a total amount of NIS 1.7 billion (approximately EUR 394 
million). In addition, an operating and maintenance agreement was signed with AHF in the amount of 
NIS 16 million (approximately EUR 4 million) per year, for a period of up to 18 years, including 
possibilities to end earlier as stipulated in the agreement. The terms of the two agreements are subject 
to the approvals of the banks financing the Project, Bank Leumi Le Israel Ltd. and Bank Hapoalim Le 
Israel Ltd. In addition, the completion of both agreements is subject to completion of the financial 
closing for the entire project.  
 

 In January 2017 the Company announced that Tahal is negotiating the sale of 49% of its 40.5% stake 
in Star Pumped Storage Ltd. (i.e. 19.8% of the rights in the Project) in consideration for approximately 
NIS 40-50 million (€10-12 million). The sale is subject to various conditions which will be stipulated in 
the sale agreement, and are being discussed between the parties. It is noted that as of the date of 
approval of these financial statements, the parties negotiate the sale of the remaining of Tahal’s stake 
in Star Pumped Storage Ltd. 

 
 In October 2016, an indirect held subsidiary of Tahal Group B.V. signed together with its 50% partner 

(ZRB Consulting Finance & Development Limited (‘ZRB’)), an agreement with Gesterra – Gestao de 
Terras Araveis S.A., a company owned by the government of Angola regarding the operation and 
management of a large scale agricultural project in the Quiminha area in Angola (the ‘Agreement’ and 
the ‘Project’, respectively). 
The Quiminha Project is a communal agricultural project, located 70km east of the capital Luanda over 
an area of 5,000 ha. In an earlier phase, Tahal was assigned by the government of Angola to provide 
a full range of services to make the land suitable for agricultural use and to build the infrastructure for 
full communal and commercial services for the farmers and inhabitants. After successfully handing-
over this project in mid-2016, Tahal has now been assigned with its partner for the operation and 
management of the site. According to the Agreement, Tahal and ZRB will operate and manage this 
agricultural project which includes 300 private farms, thousands of acres of crops, grains, vegetables 
and fruits in open areas and in green houses and chicken coops. The Project furthermore comprises 
water infrastructure and water treatment, irrigation, and various facilities in relation to crops, live-stock 
and the distribution of products. The extent of crops expected in the Project will reach approximately 
60,000 tons of agricultural products per year to be sold in the domestic market. Under the Agreement, 
Tahal and ZRB undertook the responsibility to supply all equipment necessary for the operation of the 
Project, employing managerial and professional teams to operate the Project, and to pay a franchise 
fee to the government of Angola which has rights in the Project. The Agreement is for a period of 7 
years, with an extension option for an additional 5 years.  
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Tahal and ZRB will be entitled, in equal shares, to the entire proceeds arising from the sale of the 
agricultural products, estimated at an average of USD 52 million annually for the duration of the 
Agreement. Accordingly, the gross proceeds to Tahal and ZRB during the initial period is estimated at 
USD 370 million. The Project commenced immediately and Tahal recognized the initial (immaterial) 
revenues in the fourth quarter of 2016. In parallel, the parties have signed a memorandum of 
understanding with an International Fund with respect to financing the majority of the required equity 
for the Project, which will be nonrecourse to the parties. Signing a binding agreement is expected in 
the coming period. The expected revenues from the Project of USD 370 million is in addition to the 
existing backlog of Tahal Group, at that date, of more than USD 300 million. All the projects included 
in the backlog are for immediate execution, and do not require financing, financial closing and/or 
regulatory approvals. 

 

Others 

 
 On August 11, 2016, Kardan Financial Services B.V. (‘KFS’), the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, 

completed the sale of its 100% holding in the subsidiary TBIF, comprising the banking and retail lending 
activities of the Kardan Group. The total consideration of the Transaction comprises two parts, a sum 
of circa EUR 69 million which was paid at the time of closing, plus an adjustment to take into account 
the reviewed result of the sold assets since January 1, 2016. The adjustment, amounting to EUR 13 
million, was paid in October 2016. Following the completion of the transaction, the Company 
recognized a gain of EUR 15 million. Prior to the completion of the transaction TBIF had transferred to 
KFS all assets that are not part of TBIF’s banking and retail lending activities. These assets, including 
Avis Ukraine, are not part of the Transaction. KFS undertakes to indemnify the buyer for costs and 
damages which might occur under circumstances which have been specifically detailed in the 
Agreement, including a breach of the customary representations and warranties given by KFS. 
Accordingly, KFS has deposited an amount of EUR 6 million for a period of two years and pledged this 
in favor of the buyer as collateral for the indemnification, which amount will be reduced to EUR 5 million 
after one year. In addition, Kardan will guarantee KFS’s obligation in this respect. The buyer, 4finance 
Holding S.A., is one of Europe’s largest and fastest growing online and mobile consumer lending 
groups with operations in 14 countries. 

 
 In October 2016, KFS signed an agreement to sell its 100% holding in the subsidiary TBIF Bulgaria. 

As a result, the Company recorded an impairment of EUR 1.7 million in the third quarter of 2016. 
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1.2. Book value of investments Kardan N.V.  

 
 
The following table summarizes the book value of the companies held directly by Kardan as of 
December 31, 2016 and, 2015 (amounts in EUR million):  
 

 
Holding 

Com-
pany 

Name  
of 

subsi-
diary 

Share in 
subsi-
diary 

Consoli-
dated 
equity 

Share 
holders 
consoli-

dated 
equity 

Adjust-
ments 

of 
Kardan 

NV 

Book 
Value in 
Kardan 

NV 
 

Share 
holders 
Loans 

Total 
Invest- 
ment in 
books 

31.12.16 

Total 
Invest- 
ment 

in 
books 

.31 12.15 

Kardan 
NV 

GTC RE 
Holding  

100% 275.4 275.4 1.0 276.4 (14.5) 261.9 301.4 

KFS  100% 36.6 36.6 - 36.6 - 36.6 84.5 

TGI 98.43% 44.1 43.7 (3.5) 40.2 - 40.2 60.4 

Emerg-
ing 
Invest 
ments 
XII,  

100% 53.5 53.5 - 53.5 - 53.5 130.5 

 
 

Holding 
Com- 
pany 

Name 
of 

subsi-
diary 

Share 
in 

subsi-
diary 

Consoli
-dated 
equity 

Share 
holders 
console
-dated 
equity 

Adjust-
ments 
of GTC 

RE  

Book 
Value in 
GTC RE 

Share-
holders 
Loans 

Total 
Invest- 
ment in 
books 
31.12. 

16 

Total 
Invest- 
ment 

in books 
31.12. 

15 

GTC RE 
Holding 

Kardan 
Land 
China 

100% 302.5 302.5 1.9 304.4 (50.2) 254.2 290.1 

 
 

Holding 
Com-
pany 

Name 
of 

subsi-
diary 

Share 
in 

subsi-
diary 

Consoli
-dated 
equity 

Share 
holders 
console
-dated 
equity 

Adjust-
ments 
of TGI 

Book 
Value 

Loans 
granted 
by TGI 

 

Total 
Invest-
ment in 
books 
31.12. 

16 

Total 
Invest-
ment 

in books 
31.12. 

15 
TGI  Tahal 

Group 
Assets 
B.V. 

100% 8.7 8.7 - 8.7 (3.3) 5.4 24.8 

Tahal 
Group 
B.V. 

100% 40.2 40.2 - 40.2 0.3 40.5 41.4 

 
 
(*) The shareholder’s loans were granted through the Company’s 100% subsidiary, Emerging Investments 
XII B.V. For convenience, the shareholder’s loans are presented as part of the investments in subsidiaries.  
 
(**) For further information regarding dividends amount, shareholders loans and management fees that 
were paid during 2016, please refer to section 13 of Part 4 of the Barnea report. 
 
(***) GTC RE holds NIS 26,666,667 par value debentures (Series A) of the Company having a liability 
value of € 7.9 million.   
 
(****) Emerging Investment XII B.V. holds the following Kardan N.V Debentures as of December 31, 
2016: 
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1.3. Financial Position of holding companies of the Kardan Group as of December 31, 2016 

 
 Net debt  
 
The following table summarizes the net debt of Kardan N.V. (company only) and if applicable of 
its directly held subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016: 
 
 

Company Net Debt *   (in EUR  million)  

Kardan NV / 
GTC RE / 
Emerging 
Investments 
XII 

Liabilities: 
Debentures**    
FIMI liability 

 
 

( .295 9)
(2.3)

Assets: 
Cash and short term investments           

 
1.9

Net debt                                (296.3)

KFS Assets: 

Cash and short term investments           

Loans to subsidiaries and other 
receivables 

 
 

18.3 
 

6.6

 Net cash                                              24.9

TGI Liabilities 

Long-term  liability 

Assets: 

Cash and short term investments           

 

Net cash                                            

 
 

(0.5) 
 
 

1.3 

0.8

 
(*) Net debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings, debentures, less cash and cash equivalents and 
 interest bearing receivables. 
(**)  The balance is presented net of debentures held by subsidiaries, see section 1.2 above.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Liability Value 
including accrued 

interest 
in € mn 

 

Nominal Value  

32.7 109,839,448 Series A 

35.8 120,381,450 Series B 
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1.4. Market Risks Management  
 
The CEO of the Company, Mr. Ariel Hasson, and the CFO, Ms. Einat Oz-Gabber, are responsible for 
Kardan’s overall Risk Management. Each operating segment is managed by a managing director or by a 
board of directors which are responsible for risk management. In addition, each operating company has 
a senior manager who is responsible for risk management. Those responsible for risk management are 
operation in accordance with the risk management policy determined by the board of directors. For 
information regarding the background of those in charge of risk management in the Company, reference 
is made to section 26 in part 4 to this report, and to the corporate site of Kardan, www.kardan.nl 
  
Market risks to which the Company is exposed  
 
Liquidity risk 
The Company finances its activities by, among other, long and short term credit from banking and non-
banking institutions. The Group's activities depends on its ability to continue raising capital to develop its 
business and meet its obligations. Capital structure and liquidity situation are run differently from segment 
to segment depending on the nature of operations. At the same time, Kardan is managing its investments 
and activities with attention to the liquidity and therefore monitors future cash flows and liquidity and the 
Group companies on an ongoing basis (see cash flow forecast later in the report). 
 
Currency Risk 
Since Kardan Group is active in different countries, it is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates of 
various currencies such as Euro, USD, RMB and NIS. The majority of Kardan N.V.’s assets are 
denominated in Chinese currency while most of its financial liabilities are denominated in Israeli Shekel., 
This causes exposure to both equity and results. In 2016 changes in exchange rates significantly 
impacted the financial statements of Kardan N.V., mainly in light of the strengthening of the Israeli Shekel 
against the Euro. It is noted that during the first quarter of 2017, until the date of signing this report, the 
Israeli Shekel has strengthen by approximately 4% compared to the Euro, which could have a significant 
negative effect of the Company’s results.  
 
Credit Risk 
The Group is exposed to credit risk relating to trade and other receivable, cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits and other financial assets (including loans granted). 
 
Interest Risk 
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from loans. 
 
Market Risks Management Policy 
 
Kardan’s business strategy is to focus on emerging markets. Emerging markets are inherently more 
volatile and therefore often exposed to risks arising from unforeseen changes such as geopolitical, 
political, regulatory and economic. In cases where there is a conflict between the economic market risk 
and accounting exposures the Company prefers managing the economic risks over the accounting 
exposures. 
 
Developments and shocks in global markets and particularly in the operating markets may affect the 
liquidity of Kardan N.V., its equity value, the value of its assets, its ability to realize its assets, the state of 
its business (including the demand for its assets), its ability to distribute dividends and its ability to raise 
finance for its ongoing activities and long-term activities, as well as the terms of such financing. 
 
Kardan NV's management conducts regular discussions in which the overall liquidity risk management 
principles are determined. Management also focuses on maintaining cash balances, examination of a 
variety of funding sources and maintaining available properties to facilitate their financing activities. 
Financing policy relates to, among other things, a change in the structure of loans or their recruitment, 
setting budgets for investments and dividend distribution policy. 

 
To minimize these risks, the Group companies examine periodically the need to hedge risk and 
contracting in hedging transactions if needed, but the company did not set any quantitative exposure 
thresholds as each case is examined on its merits. In addition, the Company has not determined an 
investment policy with entities whose main activities are derivative transactions and short sales (including 
hedge funds). 
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Supervision over Market Risks Management Policy  
 
Contacts between the CEO, the members of the Executive Management and local management of 
Kardan’s subsidiaries are frequent and intensive, to discuss the latest development and expectations in 
the respective markets as well as the (financial) resilience of the group. 
 
The Board of Directors discusses usually twice a year all the risks the Company is exposed to, including 
market risks. At the beginning of each year, in tandem with the budget discussion, the Board discusses 
all relevant risks and decides on the ten most significant risks for the Company, including market risks. 
During the year, the Board receives updates on the management of these significant risks. 

 
 

 
Disclaimer 
 
This report contains forward looking information as defined in the Israeli Securities Act, based on 
macro-economic data relevant to each geographical region in which Kardan N.V. is active, the 
management's experience and the condition of the local and global market. The aforesaid may not 
materialize completely or part thereof, or materialize in a different manner, including materially different 
from what is expected as a result of changes in the state of the market, new regulations, continuation 
and/or worsening of the global economic crisis or incorrect assessments by management.  
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 PART 2   
 
 
2.1.  Financial analysis 
 
2.1.1 Following is a summary of Kardan N.V.’s consolidated balance sheet (in EUR thousands) 
 

 
Year ended 

December 31, 
2016 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2015 
Notes 

Total balance 
sheet 

665,367 975,742 The decrease in total balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2016 compared to December 
31, 2015 is mainly due: 

  the sale of TBIF during 2016  

 the sale of  the remaining  25% of KWIG.  

 Current assets 281,987 474,143 

Non-current 
assets 

 

383,380 501,599 

Current liabilities 320,964 482,490 The decrease in current liabilities compared 
to December 31, 2015, is mainly due to the 
sale of TBIF; this decrease was offset by the 
reclassification of a long term n to short term 
(current maturity). 

 

Debentures 288,978 356,272 The decrease compared to December 31, 
2015 is due to early repayment of 2017 
principle and interest during the year 2016 
(instead of February 2017).  

Long term 
Interest-bearing 
loans and 
borrowings  

419 40,550 The decrease in long term interest bearing 
loans and borrowings compared to 
December 31, 2015 is mainly due to 
reclassification of a long term loan to short 
term (current maturity). It is noted that the 
loan, amounting to €111 million (€101 million 
at the end of 2015), was partially classified 
(€62 million) in 2015 as short term loan as it 
is allocated to current inventory. 

Equity attributable 
to equity holders 
of the parent 

37,333 71,461 The decrease in equity compared to 
December 31, 2015, is mainly due to the loss 
in the period.                                                         
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2.1.2 Cash Flow and source of funding (in EUR thousands) 

 

 
 

FY 2016 FY 2015 
 

FY 2014 Notes 

Net cash provided by 
(used in) operating 
activities 

(51,944) 3,866 28,749 The Company net cash from operating activities 
is materially impacted by interest payments and 
foreign currency exchange differences.   

Net cash provided by 
investing activities 

74,492 52,986 183 In 2016 €103.7 million were provided from the 
sale of TBIF and the remaining 25% of KWIG, 
In addition €2.8 million were provided from the 
sale of assets, mostly assets in Foodyard in 
Bulgaria offset by €7.7 million that were used to 
invest in property plan and equipment.    

In 2015, €119 million were provided from 
proceeds from the sale of a subsidiary, € 33.3 
million were used for the acquisition of tangible 
fixed assets and investment properties.  

In 2014, € 45.3 million were used for the 
acquisition of tangible fixed assets and 
investment properties, € 35.1 million were used 
to provide long-term loans, and € 74.4 million 
were provided  from the sale of GTC SA, which 
was accounted for using the equity method 

Net cash provided by 
(used in) financing 
activities 

(66,346) (69,223) 17,759 In 2016 €86.5 million were used for early 
repayment of debentures, offset by €28 million 
provided from receipt of long term and short 
term loans 

In 2015, € 162.5 million were used for 
repayment of loans, and € 105 million were 
provided from receipt of long term loans. 

In 2014, € 68.5 million were used for repayment 
of debentures, and € 89.2 million were provided 
from long term loans, offset by € 48 million 
used for repayment of loans.  

 

 
For details regarding financing sources of the Company, refer to section 2.1.3 hereafter. 
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2.1.3 Cash flow Forecast  
 
The audit report of the external auditors in the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2016, 
includes a mandatory emphasis of matter regarding the ability of the Company to continue as going 
concern (see also Note 1 to the financial statements). In addition, the Company has a negative working 
capital on a consolidated and stand-alone basis, and recorded a loss for the period. These are "warning 
signs" as defined in Regulation 10 (b) (14) of the Israeli Securities Authority regulations.  
Therefore, the Company provides a cash-flow forecast for a period of two years as of December 31, 2016.  
 

January 1, 2018 –
December 31,  

2018 

January 1, 2017 - 
December 31, 

2017 

Forecast cash flow  

in € millions  

  

120.3 2.0 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  

  Company only resources  

  From operating activities  

(3.8) (3.8) General and administration expenses  

  From investing activities  

115.0 126.3 Sale of assets  

  Resources from investee companies  
0.2 0.2 From operating activities in investments – Management fees  

231.7 124.7 Total Resources  

   

  Expected Uses  

  From financing activities  

3.0 0.8 Interest payment of debentures – Series A  

16.7 3.6 Interest payment of debentures – Series B  

47.6 - Principal payment of debentures – Series A  

49.1 - Principal payment of debentures – Series B  

116.4 4.4 Total Uses  
115.3 120.3 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  

 

Assumptions and Notes to the cash flow forecast: 

1. The cash-flow projection has been jointly prepared for Kardan NV (company-only) and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries GTC Real Estate Holding BV and Emerging Investments XII BV as the treasury 
of these companies is centralized. With respect to limitations regarding the transfer of funds 
between Kardan NV and GTC RE please see below under point 10. 

 
2. The projected cash flow was prepared based on the Amended Deeds of Trust effective July 3, 2015 

(‘the Deeds of Trust’).  
 

3. The forecasted General and administration expenses are based on estimates of the Company 
according to its past experience. 

 
4. Following the sale of TBIF in 2016 and the completion of the sale of the remaining 25% in KWIG, 

the Company early repaid the full debentures principal that was due in February 2017. The 
remaining payment of interest was made in February 2017 according to the dates stipulated in the 
Deeds of Trust, from the Company’s sources. 

 
5. With respect to sale of assets in 2017 and 2018 - the completion of the transaction to sell TBIF 

provided the Company a period of over a year to sell assets in order to repay its liabilities in 2018 
and onwards. The Company is conducting processes, directly or through its subsidiaries, to sell any 
of its assets. These assets may include the subsidiaries Kardan Land China and/or Tahal Group 
International B.V. and/or part of their assets.  
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6. In this cash flow forecast, cash provided from the sale of assets in 2017 and 2018 will be used to 

repay principal and interest of the debentures which are due in February 2018 and 2019, 
respectively, in accordance with the Deeds of Trust. Should the Company obtain funds prior to the 
expected repayment dates, the Company will make early repayments, as required in the Deeds of 
Trust. 
   

7. The amount of Management fees from investee companies is based on existing agreements 
between the Company and its subsidiaries as of the balance sheet date. 
 

8. The Interest calculations are based on Israeli CPI, exchange rates and interest rates which are 
applicable as of December 31, 2016. The principal and interest payments of the debentures are 
presented net of the part which relates to the debentures held by the subsidiaries GTC RE and 
Emerging Investment XII B.V. A change of 5% in the Euro/NIS rate will lead to a change of 
approximately € 6 million in the amount of principal and interest payment.  

 
9. The cash flow forecast does not include any additional investments which the Company will make 

once those will be approved by the appropriate bodies in the Company. As of the authorization of 
these financial statements, the Company did not approve any new investments. In addition, 
according to the Deeds of Trust there are certain limitations on new investments.   
 

10. Limitations on transferring funds: 
 

Transfer of funds between Kardan NV, GTC RE, Emerging Investments XII, TGI and KFS is mostly 
done through intercompany loans or distribution of dividend or capital reserves as permitted by Dutch 
law. Breakdown of distributable reserves according to Dutch law and intercompany loans balances 
is as follows: 
 

Subsidiary Distributable reserves 
(EUR million) as of 

31.12.16 

Intercompany loan (EUR 
million) as of 31.12.16 

TGI 34.6 - 

GTC RE 186.9 (14.5) 

KFS 33.8 - 

Emerging 53.5 - 

 
 

11. This estimate is forward looking information as defined in the Israeli Securities Act, based on 
management assumptions and expectations. The aforesaid may not materialize completely or part 
thereof, or materialize in a different manner, including materially different from what is expected as 
a result of changes in the state of the market, difficulties in raising credit, decrease in value of 
investments and change in cash amounts expected to be received from affiliated companies. 
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Comparison table and explanations for material deviations: 

 

Comments January 1, 
2016 - 

December 31, 
2016   
(actual) 

January 1, 
2016 - 

December 31, 
2016 

(projected) 

 
Cash flow Forecast 

 in EUR millions Sources 
  From investing activities 

1 113.3 122.0 Sale of assets  

   

   Uses 

   For Finance activities 

2 41.1 23.7 Interest payment on account of debentures 

2 86.3 - Principle payment on account of debentures 

 1.9 113.3 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the period  
 

 
(1) During 2016, the Company sold assets in accordance with its plans and the proceeds exceeded 

the cash flow forecast for the year 2016. However the actual cash flow does not include amounts 
deriving from the sale of assets which are not agreed assets as defined in the  which are in KFS 
account as of December 31, 2016 (in the amount of €12.3 million). 

(2) The cash flow forecast presented in the financial statements as of December 31, 2015 did not 
assume early repayments arising from the sale of agreed assets as defined in the Deed of Trust. 
During 2016, the Company completed the sale of several agreed assets and made an early 
repayment of interest and principal as required in the Deeds of Trust. Accordingly, the Company 
early repaid in 2016 the principal and interest intended to be paid in February 2017 in the 
projected cash flow presented in the 2015 financial statements, in addition to interest payment of 
€ 23.7 million that was intended to be paid in 2016.  Therefore, the cash balance at the end of 
the period is lower compared to the balance presented in the said cash flow forecast.  
 

2.2  Fair Value Disclosure 

 
Galleria Dalian shopping mall – China, Dalian 
The valuation is considered to be material and therefore is attached to financial statements as of 
December 31, 2016. 
  

  

Identification of the property subject of 
the valuation 

Shopping mall in Dalian, China, having net 
leasable area of 64,834 sqm. 

Date of the valuation 31.12.2016 

External valuer DTZ/ C&W    

Value of the property in the financial 
statements prior to the valuation  

€ 250.3 million 

Value of the property according to the 
valuation  

€240.5 million 

Key parameters used in the valuation 

 Discount rate – 10.5% 
 Terminal capitalization rate – 5.5% 
 Rent per sqm – 167 RMB 
 Price per sqm for comparison 

approach – 17,200 RMB 

Valuation Method Direct Comparison Approach and DCF  
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2.3  Issuance of debentures  
 

The following are details regarding the marketable debentures of Kardan N.V. as of  
December 31, 2016: 
 

 Debenture series A Debenture series B 

Date of issuance 20.2.2007, 13.8.2007, 16.2.2008 16.2.2008 

Par value of issued debentures 
€ 294.3 million  
(NIS 1,190,000,000) 

€ 329.9 million  
(NIS 1,333,967,977) 

Linkage basis 

Principal and interest linked to 
Israeli CPI  
(CPI of January 2007) 
 

Principal and interest linked to 
Israeli CPI  
(CPI of December 2006) 
 

Par value of debentures as of 
December 31, 2016 
 

€ 73.6 million  
(NIS 297,500,000 par value) 

€ 235.6 million  
(NIS 952,834,318 par value) 

Debentures held by subsidiaries NIS 136,506,115 par value NIS 120,381,386 par value 

Interest rate (per annum) 6.325% 6.775% 

Principal repayment  
Two installments one in February 
2017 and the second in February 
2018. 

Four installments from February 
2017 to February 2020. 

Interest payment dates  
3 annual installments on 25 
February in the years 2016 - 2018 

5 annual installments on 
1  February in the years 2016 - 
2020 

Total debt up to the date of the 
balance sheet (including interest 
and Israeli CPI linkage)  

€ 47.6 million (net of debentures 
held by  subsidiaries) 

€ 243.9 million (net of debentures 
held by subsidiaries)  

Market capitalization as of 
December 31, 2016 
 

€ 41.2 million (net of debentures 
held by subsidiaries) 

€ 171.8 million (net of debentures 
held by subsidiaries) 

The trustee Aurora Fidelity Trust Company Ltd.  Hermatic Trust (1975)  Ltd 

Rated by S&P Maalot S&P Maalot 

Rating at the time of issuance AA - (February 2007) AA - (February 2007) 

Updated rating B (August 2016)  B (August 2016) 

Right of early repayment 

In accordance with the amended deeds of trust, the Company is eligible to 
announce on a partial or full early repayment throughout the entire term of 
the debentures. Such early repayment will be carried out without any 
compensation and in accordance to the full liability value of the debentures. 
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Pledged Assets  
as of December 31, 2016 
 
 

According to the Deeds of Trust, the Company established and registered 
primary, exclusive pledges with no limitations of amounts over all of the 
Group's interests in GTC RE, KFS, TGI, EMERGING (the ‘Pledged 
Subsidiaries’), including all benefits which will emanate from these interests 
and all the rights of the Group in loans granted to the Pledged Subsidiaries. 
The Company has to establish such pledge on its rights in KLC. 
A primary exclusive pledge with no limitation of amounts over all the rights 
of EMERGING for the repayments of loans it has granted to any of the 
corporations in Kardan Group. 
A primary exclusive pledges with no limitations of amounts over the bank 
accounts of the Company.  
Pledge on all the Company’s debentures held by the Group.  
Additional negative pledges. 
 

Guarantee to secure the 
obligations of Kardan NV 

A limited guarantee in the amount of EUR 100 million by Kardan Land 
China. 

 
 
 

The Debentures (Series A and B) are considered material to the Company, according to the definition in the Israeli 
Securities Regulations. During and at the end of 2016 the Company met the terms of the Deeds of Trust. 
The detailed presented above are in accordance with the Dead of Trust of July 3, 2015. For additional information 
regarding the terms of the debentures and the related restrictions apply to the Company, see section 13.1.4 and 
13.1.5 of the corporate description chapter in the 2016 periodical report. For information relating to early repayment 
of debentures see section 1.1 above - events in the period and subsequent to the balance sheet date.   
 
General meetings of the Debenture Holders 
 
 On June 23, 2016, the general meeting of the debenture holders (series A and series B) of the Company 

approved that the Company and KFS will engage in a transaction to sell all of KFS’s holding in TBIF, and also 
approved that as part of the completion of this sale transaction, the pledge on TBIF shares in favor of the trustee 
will be removed, subject to a written approval from the Company. In the meetings additional matters relating to 
the said sale transaction were approved.   

 
 On October 6, 2016, the general meeting of the debenture holders (series A and series B) of the Company did 

not approve the Company’s request to provide a guarantee to its subsidiary Emerging Investments XII B.V. 
 
 On November 16, 2016 at the general meeting of the debenture holders, the Company’s representatives 

presented the Company’s position regarding its request to provide a guarantee to its subsidiary Emerging 
Investment XII B.V., while emphasizing that this guarantee does not include a guarantee towards the tax 
authorities. This guarantee, if will be provided, will allow the Company to save costs associated with preparation 
of the financial statements of this subsidiary. In addition, Mr. Ariel Hasson, the CEO of the Company provided an 
overview of the Company’s business and financial position. 
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2.4        Sensitivity analysis of the fair value of financial instruments 
 
Financial Instruments' Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis as at December 31, 2016 According to Changes in 
Market Factors 
 

  Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in  Euro \ US Dollar exchange rate

  Profit or (loss) from change 
 in Euro millions 

 
Profit or (loss) from change

 in Euro millions 

  
Increase in exchange rate 

Fair Value 
In Euro 
millions 

Decrease in exchange rate 

  
20% 10% 5%  -5% -10% -20% 

Other financial instruments         

Cash and cash equivalents  0.9 0.4 0.2 4.5 )0.2(  )0.4(  )0.9(  

Accounts receivables  2.1 1.0 0.5 10.4 )0.5(  )1.0(  )2.1(  

Other receivables  0.3 0.1 0.1 1.4 )0.1(  )0.1(  )0.3(  

Investments in joint venture companies  4.9 2.5 1.2 24.8 )1.2(  )2.5(  )4.9(  

Warrants and options  )0.8(  )0.4(  )0.2(  )3.9(  0.2 0.4 0.8 

Trade payables  )0.4(  )0.2(  )0.1(  )2.2(  0.1 0.2 0.4 

Long-term loans from Banks and others (including 
current maturities) 

 )2.3(  )1.1(  )0.6(  )11.5(  0.6 1.1 2.3 

Total   4.7 2.3 1.1 23.5 (1.1) (2.3) (4.7) 

 

 

 Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in NIS\USD exchange rate 

 

 Loss from change  

in Euro millions 

Profit from change 

in Euro millions 
 

 Increase in exchange rate 
Fair Value 

In Euro 
millions 

Decrease in exchange rate 

  20% 10% 5% -5% -10% -20% 

Derivatives that are not designated as hedging 
instruments 

       

NIS/USD Derivatives   (1.3) )0.6(  (0.3) (0.0) 0.3 0.6 1.3 

Total  (1.3) )0.6(  (0.3) (0.0) 0.3 0.6 1.3 
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 Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in  Euro \ NIS exchange rate 

 Profit or (loss) from change   Profit or (loss) from change 

 in Euro millions   in Euro millions 

 Increase in exchange rate 
Fair Value 

In Euro 
millions 

Decrease in exchange rate 

 20% 10% 5% -5% -10% -20% 

Other financial instruments        

Cash and cash equivalents 1.4 0.7 0.3 6.9 )0.3(  )0.7(  )1.4(  

Short term investments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 )0.0(  )0.0(  )0.0(  

Accounts receivable (Trade receivables) 8.0 4.0 2.0 40.4 )2.0(  )4.0(  )8.0(  

Long term loans and receivables (Including current 
maturities) 

0.5 0.3 0.1 2.5 )0.1(  )0.3(  )0.5(  

Other receivables 1.0 0.5 0.3 4.8 )0.3(  )0.5(  )1.0(  

Other payables and accrued expenses )2.3(  )1.1(  )0.6(  )11.5(  0.6 1.1 2.3 

Trade payables )1.2(  )0.6(  )0.3(  )6.3(  0.3 0.6 1.2 

 Non-Convertible debentures linked to the Israeli CPI 
(Including current maturities) 

)42.6(  )21.3(  )10.6(  )213.1(  10.6 21.3 42.6 

Short-term loans from Banks and others (including 
current maturities) 

)0.3(  )0.1(  )0.1(  )1.4(  0.1 0.1 0.3 

Other long term liabilities )0.8(  )0.4(  )0.2(  )4.0(  0.2 0.4 0.8 

Total  )36.3(  )18.0(  )9.1(  )181.5(  9.1 0.18  36.3 

 

 

 Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in Euro \ RMB exchange rate 

 
Profit or (loss) from change 

  
Profit or (loss) from change 

 in Euro millions  in Euro millions 

 Increase in exchange rate 
Fair Value 

In Euro 
millions  

Decrease in exchange rate 

 20% 10% 5%  -5% -10% -20% 

Other financial instruments        

Cash and cash equivalents 3.9 1.9 1.0 19.4 )1.0(  )1.9(  )3.9(  

Short term investments 1.7 0.8 0.4 8.5 )0.4(  )0.8(  )1.7(  

Accounts receivable (Trade receivables) 1.0 0.5 0.2 4.9 )0.2(  )0.5(  )1.0(  

Other receivables 1.1 0.6 0.3 5.7 )0.3(  )0.6(  )1.1(  

Trade payables )0.8(  )0.4(  )0.2(  )4.0(  0.2 0.4 0.8 

Other payables and accrued expenses )8.8(  )4.4(  )2.2(  )43.8(  2.2 4.4 8.8 

Long-term loans from Banks and others (including 
current maturities) 

)22.2(  )11.1(  )5.5(  )111.2(  5.5 11.1 22.2 

Total  )24.1(  )12.1(  )6.0(   )120.5(  6.0 12.1 24.1 
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 Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in RMB interest rate 

 

 Profit from change 

in Euro millions 

 
Loss from change 

in Euro millions 
 

 Increase in exchange rate 
Fair Value 

In Euro 
millions 

Decrease in exchange rate 

  100% 10% 5% -5% -10% -100% 

Other financial instruments        

Long-term loans from Banks and others (including 
current maturities) 

  
10.5 1.2 0.6 (111.2) (0.6) (1.2) (13.1) 

Total  10.5 1.2 0.6 (111.2) (0.6) (1.2) (13.1) 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in NIS interest rate 

 
 Profit or (loss) from change 

 in Euro millions 
 Profit or (loss) from change 

 in Euro millions 
 

 
Increase in interest rate 

Fair Value 
In Euro 
millions  

Decrease in interest rate 

 
 100% 10% 5%  -5% -10% -100% 

Derivatives that are not designated as hedging 
instruments 

 
       

USD/NIS Derivatives  0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.0) )0.0(  )0.0(  )0.0(  
Other financial instruments         
Loans and receivables (including current 
maturities) 

 
)0.2(  )0.0(  )0.0(  1.6 0.0 0.0 0.3 

Non-convertible debentures linked to the Israeli 
CPI (Including current maturities) 

 
62.8 8.4 4.3 )213.1(  )4.5(  )9.1(  )139.6(  

Total   62.6 8.4 4.3 )5.211(  )4.5(  )9.1(  )139.3(  

  
Sensitivity Analysis to  Changes in CPI 

  
Loss from change 
 in Euro millions  

Profit from change 
 in Euro millions 

  

Increase in CPI 
Fair Value 

In Euro 
millions  

Decrease in CPI 

  
2%  1%  -1%  -2% 

Other financial instruments         

Non-convertible debentures (Including current 
maturities) 

 
)4.3(   )2.1(  )213.1(  2.1   4.3  

Total   )4.3(   )2.1(  )213.1(  2.1   4.3  
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The fair value of the financial instruments was determined as follows: 
 
1. The fair value of each account balance includes the total fair value of all the financial instruments which are 

materially sensitive to the relevant market factor. 
2. The fair value of traded financial instruments was determined based on the securities quote as of December 31, 

2016. 
3. The loan's fair value was estimated based on the future cash flow discounted by an annual interest rate equal to 

the interest rate at which the company received or could receive for a similar period, as of the balance sheet 
date. 

4. The fair value of the long term loans includes their current maturities. 
5. The sensitivity analysis of long-term loans that bear a variable interest was calculated only on the interest's 

permanent component. 
6. The fair value sensitivity analysis of loans with no payoff date was based on the company's payoff forecast; given 

no forecast the fair value was determined based on its book value as of December 31, 2016. 
7. The balances of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivables, short-term borrowing, 

trade payables and accounts payable are presented based on their carrying amounts.  
8. The sensitivity analysis for the Israeli customer price index was made using a 1%-2% range, based on company's 

assessments of possible fluctuation in this index.  
9. The sensitivity to fluctuations in the interest rates was assessed assuming an extreme scenario of 100% for all 

interest rate, according to company's assessments. 
 
 
2.5        Linkage balance sheet 
 
For information regarding linkage balance sheets of the Company, see Note 35 to the financial statements.  
 
2.6  Directors with accounting and financial expertise 
 

Kardan N.V. is a corporation incorporated in the Netherlands and consequently the Israeli Companies Law 5759-
1999 does not apply to it, so that, among other things, it does not have to appoint external directors and is not required 
to appoint directors with accounting and financial expertise. 
However, in accordance with Kardan’s articles of association, there are decisions that the Board has to take by a 
special approval process which requires, among other things, the consent of the independent directors who attend 
the Board meetings, as defined in Company’s Articles of Association and the Corporate Governance Code (as 
defined in section 15.3 of part 1 of this report).  
In addition, in accordance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, Kardan N.V. has adopted the duty whereby 
at least one of the independent serving non-executive members of the Board, has financial and accounting expertise.  
 
The directors with accounting and finance expertise currently serving on the Board are: Peter Sheldon, Cor van den 
Bos ,Ariel Hasson , Eytan Rechter ,Bouke Marsman and Max Groen.  

All members of the executive management have accounting and finance experience.  
 
For further information regarding education and experience, refer to Part 4 of the report. 
 
Independent Directors 
According to the Corporate Governance Code, the majority of the board members must be independent. As of 
December 31, 2016 and the date of this report, five of the nine board members are independent. 
 
For further information regarding the Corporate Governance Code refer to section 15 of part 1 of this report. 
 
2.7        Critical accounting estimations 

For information regarding significant accounting judgements and estimates refer to note 3 of the consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
2.8        Internal Audit at Kardan NV  
 
Kardan NV is incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Netherlands and is not subject to the Israeli Companies Law. 
Therefore, the duty to appoint an internal auditor by virtue of the Companies Law 1999 does not apply to it. However, 
according to the Corporate Governance Code recommends to appoint such a body, and the Company chose to adopt 
the Code’s recommendation in this respect and appointed an internal auditor. 
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Within the framework of adopting the Corporate Governance Code in this respect, Kardan N.V. further determined 
that the internal auditor’s activity would be under the Kardan N.V. Management’s responsibility and that this would 
assist Management in examining the Risk Management structure and the control system within the Company. The 
external auditor and the Audit Committee are involved in determining the internal auditor’s tasks and they are 
informed on its findings. 
 
 The internal auditor, CPA Yossi Ginosar, was appointed in April 2006. The Internal Auditor is the managing 

partner of the internal control sector at Fahn Kane control Management firm Grant Thornton Israel and  has many 
years of experience in similar roles in large and stock listed companies and corporations. 

 
 The Internal Auditor provides outsourced services and does not fulfil a role in the corporation other than its role 

as Internal Auditor, does not hold the audited corporate securities or securities of a body affiliated with it, and did 
not have material business ties or other material ties with the audited corporation or with a body affiliated with it. 

 
 The auditing standards pursuant to which the Auditor acts, are the common practice and international internal 

audit standards published from time to time by the American Audit Office IIA. Kardan NV’s former Management 
Board received the Internal Auditor’s statement that it satisfied the foregoing professional standards. 

 
 The organizational body in charge of internal audit is the CFO. 

 
 To the best knowledge of the Company, the Internal Auditor meets the conditions set forth in Section 146 (b) of 

Companies Law 1999 – and Sections 3 (a) and 8 of the Internal Audit Law 1992. 
 
 The considerations in determining the audit plan are: (a) the business activities of the Company and their scope; 

(b) the risks exposure; (c) findings of previous audits. The Auditor’s work plan is determined by an independent 
issues review that is executed by the Auditor at the request of management.  The annual audit issues and its 
recommendations are determined based on the various issue ratings in risks surveys and importance thereof 
while considering the Auditor and Corporation Management’s recommendations. Kardan N.V.’s Management 
decides on the Auditor’s work plan while cooperating with and involving the Audit Committee and the External 
Auditor.  

 
 The audit plan does not apply on Kardan’s subsidiaries. However, TGI and KLC have their internal auditors which 

are responsible for the internal audit in those companies and their subsidiaries.  
 

 
 As a result of the decrease in the Company’s activities, it was decided not to perform internal audits in Kardan in 

2016 However, internal audits were performed in TGI and KLC. In addition, the board of directors is examining 
rotating the position of the internal auditor of the Company, or the appointment of another body that will perform 
‘ad-hoc’ internal audits at the request of management or of the Audit Committee. 

 
 
2.9      Donations policy 

Kardan NV does not have a donation policy, nor does it contribute significant amounts. 
 
2.10      Classification of minor transactions  
 
For more information about the classification of minor transactions refer to part D to this report. 
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2.11  Audit Fees 
 
Accountant's fees of Kardan NV and its material subsidiaries, which including audit services, audit-related services 
and tax services for the years 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 
 

2016                     

Company 
name 

Accountancy 
firm 

  Audit and 
other 

related 
services  
(EUR 

thousands)

Number 
of hours 

spent 

 Tax 
services   (EUR 

thousands) 

Number 
of hours 

spent 

  Other 
services 
(EUR 

thousands)

Number 
of hours 

spent 
      

Kardan NV PWC 
 

455 4,550  4 97  - - 

Subsidiaries PWC 
Others 

 647 
17 

11,050 
1,126 

 25 
- 

284 
- 

 - 
- 

- 
- 

 
 

2015                     

Company 
name 

Accountancy 
firm 

  Audit and 
other 

related 
services  
(EUR 

thousands)

Number 
of hours 

spent 

 Tax 
services   (EUR 

thousands) 

Number 
of hours 

spent 

  Other 
services 
(EUR 

thousands)

Number 
of hours 

spent 
      

Kardan NV 
 

PWC 
EY 

355 
134 

5,823 
1,614 

 59 
167 

483 
849 

  - 
- 

- 
- 

Subsidiaries PWC 
EY 
Others 

 632 
509 
- 

12,627 
9,007 
- 

 - 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

 - 
- 
51 

- 
- 
205 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 
 

Kardan N.V. – Director’s Report Q4 + FY 2016– Page 22 
 

Chapter E - Annual Report on Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Disclosure 

  
a. Annual report on effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure, pursuant to Regulation 
9b(a) of Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 ("the regulations") 
 
b. Certification by CEO pursuant to Regulation 9b(d)(1) of the regulations 
 
c. Certification by CFO pursuant to Regulation 9b(d)(2) of the regulations 
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Annual report on effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure, pursuant to 
Regulation 9b(a) of the regulations: 

 
The Management, supervised by the Board of Kardan NV ("the corporation") is responsible to set and maintain proper 
internal control over financial reporting and disclosure by the corporation. 
 
For this matter, Management consists of: 
 
1. A. Hasson, member of the Board (CEO). 
2. E. Oz-Gabber, member of Management Board (CFO). 
 
Internal control over financial reporting and disclosure consists of existing controls and procedures at the corporation, 
designed by the general manager and most senior financial officer, or under their supervision, or by those acting in 
said capacities, under supervision of the corporation's Board, which are designed to provide reasonable certainty 
with respect to reliability of financial reporting and preparation of reports pursuant to statutory provisions, and to 
ensure that information which the corporation is required to disclose in reports issued pursuant to statutory provisions 
is collected, processed, summarized and reported on schedule and in the format prescribed by law.  
 
Internal control includes, inter alia, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information which the corporation 
is required to disclose, is collected and submitted to corporate management, including to the general manager and 
to the most senior financial officer, or to those acting in said capacities, so as to enable decisions to be made at the 
appropriate time with regard to the required disclosure. 
 
Due to structural limitations, internal control over financial reporting and disclosure is not designed to provide absolute 
certainty that misrepresentation of omission of information on the reports would be avoided or discovered. 
 
The Management, supervised by the Board, shall review and assess the internal control over financial reporting and 
disclosure at the corporation and the effectiveness thereof, of the internal control over financial reporting and the 
disclosure made by the Management Board, supervised by the Supervisory Board included: (1) Entity-level controls, 
including control over the editing and closing process of the financial reporting and general information systems 
controls (2) controls over investment properties valuation (3) controls over interest-bearing loans and debentures (4) 
controls over contract revenues process (5) controls over contract costs process (6) investments accounted for using 
the equity method. 
 
Based on this assessment, the Board and the Management of the corporation have reached the conclusion that 
internal control over financial reporting and disclosure at the corporation as of December 31, 2016, the date of these 
financial statements, is effective. 
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Certification by CEO pursuant to Regulation 9b(d)(1) of the regulations: 
 
I, A. Hasson, certify that: 
 

1. I have reviewed the periodic report of Kardan NV ("the corporation") for 2016 ("the report"). 
 

2. To the best of my knowledge, the report is free of any misrepresentation of material fact and is not lacking 
any representation of material fact required for the representations made there in, under the circumstances 
in which they were made, to not be misleading in reference to the period covered by the report. 

 
3. To the best of my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the report 

properly reflect, in all material aspects, the financial standing, operating results and cash flows of the 
corporation as of the dates and for the periods to which the report refers. 

 
4. I have disclosed to the corporation's Independent Auditor, Board and Audit Committee and the Financial 

Statement Review Committee of the corporation, based on my most current assessment of the internal 
control over financial reporting and disclosure: 

 
a. All significant faults and material weaknesses in specification of operation of internal control over financial 

reporting and disclosure which may reasonably impact the corporation's capacity to collect, process, summarize 
or report financial information in a manner which may cast doubt over the reliability of financial reporting and 
preparation of financial statements pursuant to statutory provisions; and – 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, involving the Chief Executive Officer or any of the direct reports there of, or 

involving any other employees having a significant capacity in internal control over financial reporting and 
disclosure; 

 
5. I, on my own or with others at the corporation: 

 
a. Have set controls and procedures and/or verified that controls and procedures have been specified and 

maintained under our supervision, designed to ensure that material information with regard to the 
corporation, including subsidiaries thereof, as defined in Securities Regulations (Annual financial 
statements), 2010, is brought to my attention by others at the corporation and its subsidiaries, specifically 
during preparation of the report; and – 
 

b. Have set controls and procedures and/or verified that controls and procedures have been specified and 
maintained under my supervision, designed to reasonably ensure the reliability of financial reporting and 
preparation of the financial statements pursuant to statutory provisions, including pursuant to generally-
accepted accounting principles; 

 
c. Have assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure, and have 

presented in this report the conclusions drawn by the Board and Management Board with regard to 
effectiveness of said internal control as of the report date. 

 
The foregoing shall not detract from my statutory responsibility, or that of any other person. 
 
March 22, 2017 
_________________________________________ 
A. Hasson - CEO 
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Certification by CFO pursuant to Regulation 9b(d)(2) of the regulations: 
 
I, E.Oz-Gabber, certify that: 
 

1. I have reviewed the financial statements and other financial information which is included in the report of 
Kardan NV ("the corporation") for 2016 ("the report"). 

2. To the best of my knowledge, the report is free of any misrepresentation of material fact and is not lacking 
any representation of material fact required for the representations made there in, under the circumstances 
in which they were made, to not be misleading in reference to the period covered by the report. 

3. To the best of my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the report 
properly reflect, in all material aspects, the financial standing, operating results and cash flows of the 
corporation as of the dates and for the periods to which the report refers. 

4. I have disclosed to the corporation's Independent Auditor, Board and Audit Committee and the Financial 
Statement Review Committee of the corporation, based on my most current assessment of the internal 
control over financial reporting and disclosure: 
 

a. All significant faults and material weaknesses in specification of operation of internal control over financial 
reporting and disclosure as long as it relates to the financial statements and other financial information in 
the report, which may reasonably impact the corporation's capacity to collect, process, summarize or report 
financial information in a manner which may cast doubt over the reliability of financial reporting and 
preparation of financial statements pursuant to statutory provisions; and – 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, involving the Chief Executive Officer or any of the direct reports thereof, 

or involving any other employees having a significant capacity in internal control over financial reporting and 
disclosure; 

 
5. I, on my own or with others at the corporation: 

 
a. Have set controls and procedures and/or verified that controls and procedures have been specified and 

maintained under our supervision, designed to ensure that material information with regard to the 
corporation, including subsidiaries thereof, as defined in Securities Regulations (Annual financial 
statements), 2010, as long as it relates to the financial statements and other financial information in the 
report, is brought to my attention by others at the corporation and subsidiaries, specifically during 
preparation of the report; and – 

b. Have set controls and procedures and/or verified that controls and procedures have been specified and 
maintained under our supervision, designed to reasonably ensure the reliability of financial reporting and 
preparation of the financial statements pursuant to statutory provisions, including pursuant to generally-
accepted accounting principles; 

c. Have assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure, as it relates to 
the financial statements and other financial information included in the reports on the periodic report: the 
conclusions of my assessment were presented to the Board and the Management and integrated in this 
report 

 
The foregoing shall not detract from my statutory responsibility, or that of any other person. 
 
March 22, 2017 
________________   
E.Oz-Gabber, CFO 
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Declaration  
In accordance with Article 5:25d of the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht) the Board 
declares, to the best of its knowledge, that:  
The consolidated semi-non-statutory financial statements as at December 31, 2015, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and the result of Kardan N.V. and of the group companies included in the 
consolidation;  
 
 
March 22, 2017 
 
P. Sheldon (Chairman of the Board) 
A. Hasson (CEO and Member of the Board) 

DISCLAIMER 

This press release contains forward-looking statements and information, for example concerning the financial condition, results of operations, 
businesses and potential exposure to market risks of Kardan N.V. and its group companies (jointly “Kardan Group”). All statements other than 
statements of historical fact are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements (including “forward looking statements” as defined in the 
Israeli Securities Law). Forward-looking statements are statements of future expectations that are based on management’s current expectations 
and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied in these statements. These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of terms and phrases 
such as ‘‘anticipate’’, ‘‘believe’’, ‘‘could’’, ‘‘estimate’’, ‘‘expect’’, ‘‘intend’’, ‘‘may’’, ‘‘plan’’, ‘‘objectives’’, ‘‘outlook’’, ‘‘probably’’, ‘‘project’’, ‘‘will’’, 
‘‘seek’’, ‘‘target’’, ‘‘risks’’, ‘‘goals’’, ‘‘should’’ and similar terms and phrases. A variety of factors, many of which are beyond Kardan Group’s control, 
affect our operations, performance, business strategy and results and could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Kardan 
Group to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. For Kardan Group, particular uncertainties arise, amongst others  but not limited to and not in any order of importance, (i) from 
dependence on external financing with the risk that insufficient access to capital threatens its capacity to grow, execute its business model, and 
generate future financial returns (ii) from concentration of its business in Central Eastern Europe and China as a result of which Kardan Group 
is strongly exposed to these particular markets (iii) from risks related to the financial markets as a result of Kardan N.V.’s listings on NYSE 
Euronext Amsterdam and the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and (iv) from it being a decentralized organization with a large number of separate entities 
spread over different geographic areas in emerging markets, so that Kardan Group is exposed to the risk of fraudulent activities or illegal acts 
perpetrated by managers, employees, customers, suppliers or third parties which expose the organization to fines, sanctions and loss of 
customers, profits and reputation etc. and may adversely impact Kardan Group’s ability to achieve its objectives and (v) from any of the risk 
factors specified in Kardan N.V.’s Annual Report and in the related “Periodic Report ” (published by Kardan N.V. in Israel) published in April and 
which is also available at the Kardan website. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions 
prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in the relevant forward-looking statement as expected, anticipated, 
intended, planned, believed, sought, estimated or projected. Kardan N.V. does not intend or assume any obligation to update or revise these 
forward-looking statements in light of developments which differ from those anticipated. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

A s s e t s  

   December  December 
 Note  31, 2016  31, 2015 
   In €’000 
Non-current assets       
Tangible fixed assets, net 6  13,689  24,161
Investment property 7  240,461  250,310
Investments in associates 8  12,888  9,540
Investments in joint ventures 9  96,039  95,964
Other financial assets   -  5,485
Loans to bank customers 5  -  83,143
Long-term loans and receivables 10  11,695  23,570
Intangible assets and goodwill, net 11  6,156  6,361
Deferred tax assets 33  2,452  3,065
      
   383,380  501,599
   
      
Current assets      
Inventories, contract work, buildings and apartments 

inventory progress 
 

12  119,421  109,818
Current maturities of long-term loans and receivables 10  -  16,749
Loans to bank customers 5  -  55,112
Trade receivables 13  66,447  67,318
Current tax assets   1,345  1,155
Other receivables and prepayments 14  26,773  40,383
Short-term investments 15  10,218  7,787
Cash and cash equivalents 16  57,783  143,920  
      
   281,987  442,242
   
Assets held for sale 5  -  31,901
   
Total current assets   281,987  474,143
   
Total assets   665,367  975,742

  

 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements. 
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E q u i t y  a n d  l i a b i l i t i e s  

 December  December
 Note 31, 2016  31, 2015
 In €’000 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 17    
Issued and paid-in capital 25,276  25,276
Share premium 206,482  206,482
Foreign currency translation reserve 23,590  24,711
Property revaluation reserve 34,772  36,713
Revaluation reserve, other 6,633  8,144
Accumulated deficit (259,420)  (229,865)
  
 37,333 71,461
    
Non-controlling interests  3,850 4,477
  
Total equity 41,183 75,938
  
Non-current liabilities  
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 19 419 40,550
Banking customers accounts - 129
Other long-term liabilities 20 4,004 2,544
Financial instruments 21 3,966 2,495
Debentures 22 288,978 356,272
Deferred tax liabilities 33 4,763 13,909
Accrued severance pay, net  1,090 1,415
  
 303,220 417,314
Current liabilities  
Liability due to work in progress 12 38,889  47,709
Banking customers accounts 5 -  191,933
Trade payables 20,440  20,268
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 23 126,816  68,448
Current tax liabilities 6,734  3,933
Advances from apartment buyers 12 50,011  34,263
Advance from customers 24 15,814  17,102
Other payables and accrued expenses 24 62,260  98,834
  
Total current liabilities  320,964  482,490 
 
Total liabilities  624,184  899,804

Total equity and liabilities 665,367  975,742
 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements  
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS  

   For the year ended December 31 

   2016 2015  2014  
 Note  In €’000 
      
Contract revenues 27 129,665 167,861 142,794
Rental revenues 3,732 1,822  -
Sale of apartments 761 791  46,866
Management fees and other revenues 6,645 3,398  4,670

Total revenues 140,803  173,872  194,330

Contract costs 27 108,612 141,930  118,425
Costs of rental revenues 1,493 1,473  -
Cost of sale of apartments 676  889  44,217
Other expenses, net 28 5,555 7,078  5,771

Total expenses 116,336 151,370  168,413

Gross profit 24,467 22,502  25,917

Selling and marketing expenses 29 8,127 9,963  8,192
General and administration expenses 30 20,169 24,202  21,251
Loss from operations before fair value adjustments, disposal of assets 
and investment and other income  

  

(3,829) (11,663)  (3,526) 

Adjustment to fair value of investment properties 7 (2,588) 20,907  8,859
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and other income, net 31 (1,100) 3  17,268

Profit (loss) from fair value adjustments, disposal of assets 
and investments and other income 

  
(3,688) 20,910  26,127 

Profit (loss) from operations (7,517) 9,247  22,601

Financial income 32 1,169 1,518  2,061
Financial expenses 32 (50,394) (66,431)  (21,799)

Total financial expenses, net (49,225) (64,913)  (19,738)

Profit (loss) before share of profit (loss) from investments accounted 
for using the equity method, net  

  

(56,742) (55,666)  2,863 

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method, net 8,9  
2,869 2,683  6,712 

Profit (loss) before income taxes (53,873) (52,983)  9,575

Income tax expenses (benefit) 33 (1,060) 6,493  12,969

Loss for the year from continuing operations (52,813) (59,476)  (3,394)
Net profit from discontinued operations 5 21,487 36,518  8,456

Net profit (loss) for the year (31,326) (22,958)  5,062

Attributable to:    
Equity holders (31,330) (22,915)  5,091
Non-controlling interest holders 4 (43)  (29)

 (31,326) (22,958)  5,062

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to shareholders (in €) 34    

Basic from continuing operations (0.43)  (0.51)  (0.03)
Basic from discontinued operations 0.17  0.31  0.08

 (0.26)  (0.20)  0.05

Diluted from continuing operations (0.43)  (0.51)  (0.03)
Diluted from discontinued operations 0.17  0.31  0.08

 (0.26)  (0.20)  0.05

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 For the year ended December 31
 2016 2015  2014
 In €’000 
   
Net profit (loss) for the year (31,326) (22,958) 5,062
  
Foreign currency translation differences, net of tax (941) 1,100 28,638
Change in hedge reserve, net of tax (1) (1,362) (2,784) (1,676)
  
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year to 
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (2) (2,303) (1,684) 26,962
 
Total comprehensive income (expenses) (33,629) (24,642) 32,024
  
Attributable to:  
Equity holders (33,816) (24,931) 32,038

Non-controlling interests holders 187 289 (14)

 (33,629) (24,642) 32,024
 

(1) Including reclassification of reserve due to the sale of derivative instruments in the amount of 
€(2,087) thousand, €(1,413) thousand, and €(1,300) thousand  for the years ended December 31, 
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see also Note 35). The amounts presented are net of tax 
amounting to €522 thousand, €477 thousand and €(1,659) thousand for the years ended December 
31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

(2) Including the impact resulting from associates and joint ventures for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014 
amounting to €(579) thousand, €4,721 thousand and €2,166 thousand, respectively. 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 



7 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent   
  Issued  Foreign        
  and  currency Property Revaluation    Non-  
  paid-in Share translation revaluation reserve,  Accumulated  controlling Total 
  capital premium reserve (*) reserve (*) other (*)  deficit (*) Total interest equity 
  In €’000 
Balance as of January 1, 2016  25,276 206,482 24,711 36,713 8,144  (229,865) 71,461 4,477 75,938
    
Other comprehensive income (expense)  - - (1,121) -  (1,365)  -  (2,486)  183  (2,303) 
Profit (loss) for the period  - - - -  -  (31,330)  (31,330)  4  (31,326) 
Total comprehensive income (expense)   - - (1,121) -  (1,365)  (31,330)  (33,816)  187  (33,629) 
Share-based payment (Note 18)  - - - -  (146)  -  (146)  (527)  (673) 
Dividend distributed to minority shareholders  - - - -  -  -  -  (379)  (379) 
Disposal of a subsidiary  - -  -  -  -  92  92 
Transaction with non-controlling interest (Note 21)  - - - -  -  (166)  (166)  -  (166) 
Reclassification according to the Netherlands civil

code requirements (*) 
 

- - - (1,941)  -  1,941  -  - 
 

- 

Balance as of December 31, 2016  25,276 206,482 23,590 34,772  6,633  (259,420)  37,333  3,850  41,183 

 
(*)  In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution (see Note 17F).  

 

 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)   

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent    
  Issued  Foreign         
  and  currency Property Revaluation     Non-  
  paid-in Share translation revaluation reserve,  Treasury Accumulated  controlling Total 
  capital premium reserve (*) reserve (*) other (*)  shares deficit (*)  Total interest equity 
  In €’000 
Balance as of January 1, 2015  23,041 208,002 23,943 21,033 10,765  (2,625) (191,761) 92,398 5,362 97,760 
     
Other comprehensive income (expense)  - - 768 -  (2,784)  -  -  (2,016)  332  (1,684) 
Loss for the period  - - - -  -  -  (22,915)  (22,915)  (43)  (22,958) 
Total comprehensive income (expense)   - - 768 -  (2,784)  -  (22,915)  (24,931)  289  (24,642) 
Issuance of shares (Note 17)  2,235 789 - -  -  -  -  3,024  -  3,024 
Release of treasury shares (Note 17)  - (2,309) - -  -  2,625  -  316  -  316 
Share-based payment (Note 18)  - - - -  163  -  -  163  918  1,081 
Dividend distributed to minority shareholders

in subsidiaries 
 

- - - -  -  - 
 

-  -  (780) 
 

(780) 
Transaction with non-controlling interest  
(Note 21) 

 
- - - -  -  - 

 
491  491  119 

 
610 

Deconsolidation of subsidiary (Note 5B)  - - - -  -  -  -  -  (1,431)  (1,431) 
Reclassification according to the Netherlands

civil code requirements (*) 
 

- - - 15,680  -  - 
 

(15,680)  -  - 
 

- 

Balance as of December 31, 2015  25,276 206,482 24,711 36,713  8,144  -  (229,865)  71,461  4,477  75,938 

 
(*)  In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution (see Note 17F).  

 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)  

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent    
  Issued  Foreign         
  and  currency Property Revaluation     Non-  
  paid-in Share translation revaluation reserve,  Treasury Accumulated  controlling Total 
  capital premium reserve (*) reserve (*) other (*)  shares deficit (*)  Total interest equity 
  In €’000 
Balance as of January 1, 2014  23,041 208,117 (4,680) 34,300 12,296  (2,786) (204,193) 66,095 5,655 71,750 
     
Other comprehensive income (expense)  - - 28,623 -  (1,676)  -  -  26,947  15  26,962 
Profit (loss) for the period  - - - -  -  -  5,091  5,091  (29)  5,062 
Total comprehensive income (expense)   - - 28,623 -  (1,676)  -  5,091  32,038  (14)  32,024 
Share-based payment (Note 18)  - - - -  191  -  -  191  593  784 
Issuance of treasury shares  (Note 17)  - (115) - -  (46)  161  -  -  -  - 
Transaction with non-controlling interest (Note 
18) 

 
- - - -  -  - 

 
(5,926)  (5,926)  (872) 

 
(6,798) 

Reclassification according to the Netherlands
civil code requirements (*) 

 
- - - (13,267)  -  - 

 
13,267  -  - 

 
- 

Balance as of December 31, 2014  23,041 208,002 23,943 21,033  10,765  (2,625)  (191,761)  92,398  5,362  97,760 

 
(*)  In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution (see Note 17F).  

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS  

  For the year ended December 31

  2016 2015 2014 
  In €’000 

      
Cash flow from operating activities    
Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before taxes on 
income  (53,873) (52,983)  9,575
Profit from discontinued operations before taxes on income 
(see Note 5B) 23,108 40,380  11,972
Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) to net cash (see A 
below) (21,179) 16,469  7,202
    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (51,944) 3,866  28,749
    
Cash flow from investing activities    
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets and investment 

i
(7,764)  (33,276)  (45,257)

Investments and granting of loans to companies accounted 
for using the equity method, net (see Note 8 and 9) (2,381) (2,489)  (1,958)
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments  2,813 488  496
Change in loans to bank customers, net (6,404) (11,220)  8,200
Change in long-term loans and receivables (6,517) (15,612)  (35,105)
Change in short-term investments (8,925) (4,322)  (632)
Disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity 

method  (see Note 9) - 331  74,369
Disposal of a previously consolidated subsidiary (see B 
below)  103,670 119,086  -
Change in deferred brokerage fees and other assets - -  70
     
Net cash provided by investing activities 74,492 52,986  183
 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 For the year ended December 31 
 2016 2015  2014 

 In €’000 
Cash flows from financing activities       
Issuance of debentures - - 2,155 
Repayment and of debentures (See Note 22) (86,458) (6,725) (68,538) 
Change in loans from bank customers, net (6,117) 2,593 51,748 
Proceeds from long-term loans 14,481 105,004 89,152 
Repayment of long-term loans (1,391) (162,546) (48,003) 
Change in short-term loans and borrowings 13,582 239 (1,415) 
Release (increase) of pledged deposit - (2,317) 8,025 
Repayment of long term liability - - (8,031) 
Change in short-term deposits - - (351) 
Debentures settlement payment - (750) - 
Costs related to issuance of loans - - (267) 
Change in other long term liabilities (64) 65 75 
Dividend to Non-Controlling interest holders of a subsidiary (379) (780) - 
Transaction with non-controlling interest holders (see Note 
18) - (4,006) (6,791) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (66,346) (69,223) 17,759 
   
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (43,798) (12,371) 46,691
   
Foreign exchange differences relating to cash and cash 
equivalents  (1,797) 7,746 5,127
   
Change in cash of assets held for sale  (40,542) - (21,541)

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

(see Note 16) 
 

143,920 148,545 118,268
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (see 
Note 16) 57,783 143,920 148,545
   
 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 For the year ended December 31
 

 2016 2015  2014
 
 In €’000 
A. Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash     
charges / (credits) to profit (loss) not affecting operating 
cash flows:   
Gain from disposal of investments in subsidiary, net (see B 
below and Note 5B) (15,861) (21,969) -
Share of profit of companies accounted for using the equity 
method, net (see Note 8 and 9) (2,869) (2,683) (6,712)

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets - - 5,429

Gain on disposal of assets and investments, net - - (16,739)

Share-based payment 594 1,039 1,302

Depreciation and amortization 3,538 4,755 5,473

Fair value adjustments of investment properties (see Note 7) 2,588 (20,907) (8,859)

Financial expense and exchange differences, net 54,637 65,004 30,268

Capital loss (gain) from sale property plant and equipment (451) 26 (19)
Increase in provision for bad debts in the financial services 
operations 1,914 6,553 7,797

 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
Change in trade and other receivables (17,892) (52,195) (32,298)
Change in inventories and in contract work in progress, net 
of advances from customers (8,305) 27,585 13,683

Change in trade and other payables (2,422) 11,954 1,566

Increase of concession finance receivables - - (7,358)

Movement in pledged time deposit - - (1,752)

  
Interest paid (56,565) (35,076) (17,151)

Interest received 22,464 42,509 35,476

Income taxes paid (2,549) (9,434) (3,124)

Other - (692) 220
  
 (21,179) 16,469 7,202
 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 For the year ended December 31
 2016 2015  2014

 In €’000 
      
B. Disposal of a previously consolidated subsidiary      
    Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents)  (68,489) 13,488 - 
     Non-current assets (excluding fixed assets and    
     concession assets) 

 121,864 
14,006 - 

     Fixed assets  11,231 39,165 - 
     Concession assets  - 86,637 - 
     Non-controlling  interests  - (1,431) - 
     Long-term liabilities   (2,108) (14,773) - 
     Recycling of reserves to the income statement  4,137 (13,287) - 
     Gain on disposal of investment, net of tax  15,179 18,965 - 
     Asset classified as held for sale  21,856 (23,684) - 

     103,670 119,086 - 

 
 
C. Material non cash transaction     

Liability to purchase shares from non-controlling interest 
holders (see Note 18) - - 3,380
Issuance of shares and allocation of treasury shares to the 

debenture holders (see Note 17) - 3,340 - 
  - 3,340 3,380 

 

  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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1.  GENERAL 

A. Introduction 

Kardan N.V. ('Kardan' or 'the Company') having its legal seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 
was incorporated on May 2, 2003, and acts as an active investment company which is engaged 
in the development of real estate in Asia and water infrastructure,  through its subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associated companies (for additional segment information, see Note 26).  

The Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as 'the Group'. 

The total number of employees in the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 
was 1,457 (December 31, 2015 – 2,317) of which 151 are part of the real estate segment, 1,290 
are part of the water infrastructure segment and 16 of which form the headquarters of the 
Company.   

The registered office address of the Company is located at Claude Debussylaan 30, Amsterdam, 
the Netherlands. 

These non-statutory financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on March 22, 2017.  

For additional information included in the Barnea report as required by the Israeli Securities 
Regulations, reference is made to the website of the Company (www.kardan.com). 

B. Financial Position and Going Concern 

As at December 31, 2016 the Company had, on a stand-alone basis and in the consolidated 
financial statements a working capital deficit of €1.5 million and €39 million, respectively 
(excluding debentures held by subsidiaries).   
 
In 2016 the Company completed the sale of TBIF, generating a total of €82 million, and the sale 
of the remaining 25% in KWIG (see Note 5). The Company early repaid in full the principal 
amount of the debentures that was payable in February 2017 using the proceeds from these 
transactions.  The remaining interest of approximately €4 million was paid in February 2017. 
The sale of TBIF allows the Company a period of more than one year to sell assets in order to 
pay its obligations in 2018 and onwards.  
 
Management prepared a two year liquidity analysis as part of its normal course of business which 
addresses the required liquidity to be able to repay interest and principal of the Company’s 
debentures and all other liabilities in the year 2017 and onwards and to finance its operating 
activities. Included in this analysis are, among others, the current cash balances and the projected 
cash from future operations and transactions. The Company is currently negotiating transactions 
(sale of assets and refinancing of loans) with a number of prominent parties which, it is confident 
will generate adequate resources to meet future liabilities in the next 12 months, as well as 
strengthening its financial position.   
 
The directors are confident that, taking into account their plans to realize the transactions and the 
progress which has been made in that respect, the Company has the ability to obtain the required 
resources for repaying its obligations and continue its business operations in the future. 
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Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the non-statutory 
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.  
 
However, the directors are aware that the realization of the Company’s plans depends on factors 
that are not wholly within the Company’s control, and therefore there is uncertainty that such 
transactions will be completed or will generate sufficient resources to meet its liabilities 
according to their contractual maturities. According to established guidelines, these conditions 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which casts significant doubt regarding the 
Company’s ability to repay its liabilities when they become due and its ability to continue as a 
going concern. 
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and 
classifications of assets and liabilities that would result if the Company is unable to continue as 
a going concern. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

A. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated non statutory financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for investment properties, derivative financial instruments; cash settled share-based 
payment liabilities and other financial assets and liabilities that have been measured at fair value, 
and biological assets measured at fair value less selling costs. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (€ in thousands) except when otherwise indicated. 

The Company has elected to present the comprehensive income in two statements – the income 
statement and the statement of comprehensive income.  

The period of the operational cycle of the Group exceeds one year, especially in connection with 
real estate and infrastructure construction projects that may last for 2-4 years. Accordingly, assets 
and liabilities derived from construction works include items that may be realized within the 
abovementioned operational business cycle. 

B. Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as endorsed by the European Union ('EU').  

C. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date the Group obtains control. Control is present 
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee companies and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee 
companies. This principle applies to all investees companies, including structured entities. 
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Determination of control 

Existence of control over investee companies is determined by management by examining if the 
Group has the influence and over the investee company and is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.  
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, 
unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated 
in full. 

Non-controlling interests ('NCI') represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by 
the Group and are presented separately in the income statement and within equity in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the parent. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the NCI even if that results in 
a deficit balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 
an equity transaction and is presented in a separate reserve named 'Non-controlling interest-
holders transactions reserve'. In addition, any directly attributable incremental transaction costs 
incurred to acquire outstanding NCI in a subsidiary or to sell NCI in a subsidiary without loss of 
control are deducted from equity. The Group also re-attributes ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ 
('OCI') in transactions that do not result in the loss of control of a subsidiary.  

Upon partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control, the adjustment of NCI comprises a 
portion of the net assets of the subsidiary. Furthermore, a proportion of the goodwill is 
reallocated between the controlling and the non-controlling interest. 

 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

- Derecognizes all assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 

- Derecognizes the entire carrying amount of any NCI; 

- Derecognizes amounts of other comprehensive income deferred in equity, as appropriate; 

- Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received; 

- Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; 

- Recognizes any surplus or deficit in the income statement; 

- Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss 
or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. 

D. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the current period or any 
prior period.  
 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

17 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of judgments, estimates and 
assumptions. These judgments, estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of the 
assets and liabilities and the amounts of the contingent liabilities disclosed in the notes as of the 
date of the financial position as well as reported income and expenses for the period.  

The key judgments, estimates and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the financial position date, which have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are discussed below. 

Revaluation of investment properties  

Completed investment properties are measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. Any 
changes in the fair value are included in the income statement. Change in fair value is usually 
determined by independent real estate valuation experts in accordance with recognized valuation 
techniques. These techniques include among others: the Income Approach to Value (which 
includes the Discounted Cash Flow Method and the Yield Method), the Residual Method and 
the Direct Comparison Method. These methods include estimate future cash flows from assets 
and estimates of discount rates applicable to those assets. In some cases the fair values are 
determined based on recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and location to 
those of the company's assets (Direct Comparison Method). Refer to Note 7 for a sensitivity 
analysis of profit (loss) before tax due to changes in certain key parameters. 

Fair value of investment properties is based on independent appraisal values. Independent 
appraisal values are, however, in their turn subject to judgments, estimates and assumptions and 
do not take into account estimation uncertainty, if any, about key assumptions concerning the 
future as property valuations are based on market conditions in effect as at balance sheet date.  

Estimates about key assumptions include among others: future cash flows from assets (such as 
lettings, tenants’ profiles and future revenue streams, capital values of fixtures and fittings, any 
environmental matters and the overall repair and condition of the property) and discount rates 
applicable to those assets. In addition, development risks (such as construction and letting risks) 
are also taken into consideration when determining the fair value of investment properties under 
construction. Future revenue streams, inter alia, comprise contracted rent (passing rent) and 
estimated rental income (ERV) after the contract period. In estimating ERV, the potential impact 
of vacancy and future lease incentives to be granted to secure new contracts is taken into 
consideration. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the reporting 
date. 

Contract revenues and costs 
 
The Group has construction contracts at fixed prices. Revenues from construction contracts are 
recognized by the percentage of completion of engineering stages. Costs associated with the 
work performed and for which the respective billings have not yet been received, are estimated 
based, among others, on the information it has. Actual costs could differ from the above 
estimates.  
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Impairment losses on inventory 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (‘NRV’). NRV is assessed with 
reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the 
Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of recent market transactions. In 
connection with residential units under construction which classify as inventory, impairment is 
tested by comparing the estimated selling price per unit and the expected cost per unit on 
completion. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

On the basis of the aforementioned presentation and estimation techniques applied, a summary 
of significant accounting policies is presented below: 

A. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date at fair 
value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the NCI in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Other equity 
instruments not entitled to a proportionate share of net assets should be measured at fair value 
on the acquisition date unless another measurement basis is required by IFRS such as IFRS 2. 
Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in ‘Other expenses’. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. If the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the income statement. Amounts of other 
comprehensive income items deferred in equity are reclassified to the income statement or 
transferred directly to retained earnings.  

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which 
is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in the 
income statement. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be 
premeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognized for NCI over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the income statement. After initial 
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the business combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquiree are assigned to those units. 

The carrying value of goodwill is annually tested for impairment or more frequently when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where 
goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of 
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed 
of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and 
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
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B. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 

The Group's investments in its associates and in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies. The considerations made in 
determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine 
control over subsidiaries.  
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate or a joint venture is carried in the 
statement of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group's share of net 
assets of the associate or joint venture. Goodwill relating to associates or joint ventures is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested 
for impairment. 

The income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate or joint 
venture. Where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint 
venture, the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in 
the statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest 
in the associate or joint venture. 

The share of profit of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the income 
statement. This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate or joint venture and 
therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or 
joint venture. 

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting 
period as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in 
line with those of the Group. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize 
an additional impairment loss on the Group's investment in its associates or joint ventures. The 
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or 
joint venture and its carrying value and recognizes the amount as impairment in the income 
statement. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount 
of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair 
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in the income 
statement. Amounts deferred in OCI are reclassified to the income statement or transferred 
directly to retained earnings.  
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C. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, which is the Company's functional 
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using the functional 
currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the foreign currency 
exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the foreign currency rate of exchange ruling at the financial 
position date. All differences are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences 
on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity, 
and for which hedge accounting requirements are met. These are recognized in OCI until the 
disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognized in the income statement. Tax 
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognized 
in OCI. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates ruling on the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at 
the closing rate. 

As of the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Company at the rate of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date 
and their income statements are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 
exchange differences arising on the translation are recognized in OCI. On disposal of a foreign 
entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in OCI relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognized in the income statement. 

D. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets such as 
investment properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date.  

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:  

In the principal market for the asset or liability  

Or  

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  

The principle or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.  

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.  

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  
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The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.  

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  

A. Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities  

B. Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable  

C. Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is unobservable  

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.  

The management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as investment properties and unquoted available for sale financial assets, and 
for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale in discontinued operations.  

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment property. 
Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the management after discussion 
with the Company’s Audit Committee. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The management decides, 
after discussions with the Group’s external valuers, which valuation techniques and inputs to use 
for each case.  

At each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest 
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other 
relevant documents.  

The management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the change in 
the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the 
change is reasonable.  

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level 
of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.  
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E. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are 
classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. Costs to sale are the incremental costs directly attributable to 
the sale or distribution, excluding the finance costs and income tax expense. This condition is 
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. 
 
Discontinued operations is defined as a component of an entity that either has been disposed of 
or is classified as held for sale and:  

a. represents a major separate line of business or geographical area of operations;  

b. is a part of a single cooperated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations; or 

 c. is a subsidiary acquired with a view to resale. 

In the consolidated income statement of the reporting period, and of the comparable periods of 
the previous years, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separate from 
normal income and expenses down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains 
a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. The resulting profit or loss is reported 
separately in the income statement. The cash flow effect of the discontinued operation is 
separately disclosed in Note 5. 

Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets once classified as held-for-sale are not depreciated or 
amortized. 

F. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

Tangible fixed assets, which do not qualify as investment property, are stated at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing part of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred, providing the 
recognition criteria are met. Land is not depreciated. 

The initial cost of property and equipment comprise its purchase price, including import duties 
and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended use. 

Depreciation is computed from the moment the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over 
the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 

Office furniture and equipment                    3-16 years (mainly 10 years) 

Property, plant and equipment                     10-20 years (mainly 10 years) 

Motor vehicles                                              2-7 years (mainly 5 years) 

Buildings (not including land)                      25-50 years (mainly 50 years) 

Leasehold improvements                          over the term of the lease or management’s estimation 
                                                                       of the useful lives (mainly 5 years) 
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The assets' residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each 
financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Any item of tangible fixed assets 
is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement 
in the year the asset is derecognized. 

G. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

Investment properties comprises a land plot or a building or a part of a building held to earn 
rental income and/or for capital appreciation and property that is being constructed or developed 
for future use as investment property (investment property under construction). 

Investment properties are stated at fair value according to the fair value model, which reflects 
market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair 
value of the investment properties are included in the income statement in the year in which they 
arise.  

Both completed investment properties and investment properties under construction, where 
management deemed that fair value can be reliably measured, are externally valued (in most 
cases) based on open market values. For a description of these valuation techniques and 
assumptions, see Note 7 and Note 3. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use. Any gains or losses on the retirement 
or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the income statement in the year of 
retirement or disposal. 

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, 
evidenced by the end of owner occupation or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers 
are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by 
commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale. 

Lease origination costs /deferred brokerage fees 

The costs incurred to originate a lease as well as broker fees for available rental space are added 
to the carrying value of investment property until the date of revaluation of the related investment 
property to its fair value. Upon measurement of investment property to its fair value, these 
balances are released as part of a fair value adjustment. 

H. CONTRACT WORK AND BUILDING INVENTORY IN PROGRESS 

Costs relating to the construction of the residential properties are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value NRV. NRV is assessed with reference to market conditions and prices 
existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Group having taken suitable external 
advice and in light of recent market transactions. Costs relating to the construction of a project 
are included in inventory as follows: 

- Costs incurred relating to phases of the project that are not available for sale; and 

- Costs incurred relating to units unsold associated with a phase of the project that is available 
for sale. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

25 

Costs related to the phase of the project that is not available for sale may include: 

- i. Leasehold rights for land, construction costs paid to subcontractors for the construction of 
housing units; and 

- ii. Capitalized costs, which include borrowing costs, planning and design costs, construction 
overheads and other related costs. 

The carrying amounts are tested for impairment as of each reporting date. Impairment is assessed 
to have occurred if the estimated future selling price of the residential units falls below the 
estimated cost per unit. Impairment is subsequently calculated on a discounted cash flow basis. 
Commissions paid to sales or marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units, 
which are not refundable, are expensed in full when payable. 

Receivables for contract work is separately calculated for each contract and presented in the 
statement of financial position at the aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognized profits 
less recognized losses and progress billings. Progress billings are amounts billed for work 
performed up to the financial position date, whether settled or not settled. If the amount balance 
is positive, it is recorded in the statement of financial position as an asset under receivables for 
contract work. If it is negative, it is recorded in the statement of financial position as a liability 
for contract work.  

Costs of projects based on contract work are recognized at cost that includes identifiable direct 
costs, joint indirect costs and borrowing costs. Joint indirect costs are allocated between the 
projects based on various burden keys. 

The Company classifies cost of building in progress as current or non-current based on the 
operating cycle of the related projects. Ongoing projects are presented as current. Projects where 
the construction date has not yet been determined are presented as non-current. 

I. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Other intangible assets acquired separately or identified separately as part of a purchase price 
allocation, on initial recognition are measured at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is the estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, other intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  

Other intangible assets are amortized commensurate to their estimated economic life. The 
carrying value of other intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date and 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

J. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
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time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining the fair value less costs to 
sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there 
is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used 
to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that 
is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased 
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized 
in the income statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal 
is treated as a revaluation increase. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or 
group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses recognized in relation to goodwill are not 
reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount. 

Investment in associates or Joint ventures 

After applying the equity method, the Company examines whether it is necessary to recognize 
an additional impairment of investment in associates or in joint ventures. Each balance sheet date 
an examination is carried out to check if there is objective evidence of impairment of an 
investment in an associate or joint venture. The assessment of impairment is made considering 
the total investment, including the goodwill attributable to the associates or joint ventures.   

K. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial 
assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition, when they 
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, i.e. the 
date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss’.  
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Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. Gains or losses on investments held for 
trading are recognized in profit or loss as part of the financing income or expenses. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Gains and losses are recognized in income statement when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not classified in 
one of the three categories above. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets 
are measured at fair value. Unrealized profits or losses are recognized as OCI in the revaluation 
reserve. When such assets are derecognized or impaired, any accumulated profit or loss 
recognized as OCI in the revaluation reserve in the past is reclassified to the income statement. 
Interest income and expenses are recorded on the effective interest basis. Dividends received for 
these investments are allocated to the income statement when the Company has the right to 
receive them.  

L. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and at 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  

M. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether an impairment objective evidence exists 
and financial asset or group of financial assets should be impaired. 

Assets carried at amortized cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at 
amortized cost has been incurred (such as financial hardship of the borrower), the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or 
through use of an allowance account. The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is 
determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit-risk characteristics, and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
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If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 
exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost 
(net of any principal payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognized in profit or loss, is transferred from the revaluation reserve to the 
income statement. Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are 
not recognized in the income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are 
reversed through the income statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the income 
statement. 

N. TREASURY SHARES 

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognized at cost and are 
presented in the statement of financial position as a deduction from shareholders' equity. No gain 
or loss is recognized in the income statement on the sales, issuance, or cancellation of treasury 
shares. 

Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in 
share premium. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no 
dividends are allocated to them respectively.  

O. BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs are accrued and expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset. 

Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in 
progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are 
capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded. Borrowing 
costs include interest charges and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds, 
including exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings used to finance these 
projects to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 

Borrowing costs are either based on the actual borrowing costs incurred for the purchase of a 
qualifying asset or at a capitalization rate representing the weighted average of the borrowing 
costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than 
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of 
borrowing costs that the Group capitalizes during any period will not exceed the amount of 
borrowing costs it incurred during that period. 
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P. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial 
liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, less, in 
the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading, 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as 
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on 
liabilities held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, all interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account premiums paid at initiation 
of the loans and using the effective interest method. 

Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognized as 
well as through the amortization process.  

Financial guarantee liabilities 

Financial guarantee liabilities issued by the Group, primarily by the financial services segment, 
are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss incurred 
because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of 
a debt instrument. Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements (within 
‘Other payables’) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially 
recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in the income statement, 
and the best estimate of expenditure required settling any financial obligation arising as a result 
of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recorded in the 
income statement in ‘costs of banking and retail lending activities’. The premium received is 
recognized in the income statement in ‘revenues from banking and retail lending activities’ on a 
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee. 

Debentures  

Debentures are initially recognized at fair value net of costs associated with the issuance of the 
Debentures. After initial recognition, the Debentures are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on the consideration, and using the effective interest method. The proceeds 
received in consideration for the issuance of Debentures and detachable warrants are allocated 
between the Debentures and warrants based on their relative fair value. 
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Q. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

R. DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Financial assets 

A financial asset is derecognized when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

- The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; and 

- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 
the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but retains control, 
the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that 
case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained.  

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option on the 
transferred asset, the extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option 
on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group's continuing involvement is limited 
to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the income 
statement. 
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S. PROVISIONS 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the 
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any 
reimbursement. 

T. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for 
equity instruments ('equity-settled transactions'). Some employees are granted share 
appreciation rights, which can only be settled in cash ('cash-settled transactions').  

Equity-settled transactions 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value 
at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using an appropriate 
pricing model, further details of which are given in Note 18. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The 
cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the 
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 

The income statement expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled 
transactions where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense 
recognized is the expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the 
award are met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total 
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any 
award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the entity or the employee are 
not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a 
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if 
they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share (further details are given in Note 34). 
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Cash-settled transactions 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using 
mostly the binomial model, further details of which are given in Note 18. This fair value is 
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. 
The liability is re-measured to fair value at each reporting date up to and including the settlement 
date, with changes in fair value recognized in employee benefits expense (see Note 18 and 21). 

U. LEASES 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that 
right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.  

Group as a lessee 

Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value 
of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognized in finance costs in the income statement. 

Leased assets, which are not classified as investment properties, are depreciated over the useful 
life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life 
of the asset and the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the 
lease term on the same bases as rental income. 

Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 

V. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

General 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
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Contract revenues 

Revenue from work performed under a contract, which qualifies as a construction contract is 
recognized by reference to the stage of completion when the outcome can be measured reliably. 
The stage of completion is measured based on engineering estimates. When the contract outcome 
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent of the expenses recognized 
that are recoverable. In the period in which it is determined that a loss will result from the 
performance of the contract, the entire amount of the estimated ultimate loss is charged against 
income. Contract revenue is recognized within the Group's infrastructure segment. 

Rental income 

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a 
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Costs of rental operations are recorded in the same period 
as rental income is recognized. The aggregate cost of rental incentives is recognized as a 
reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. Rental income is 
recognized within the Company's real estate segments. 

Sale of apartments 

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the properties have passed to the buyer. Revenues are recognized only when there 
is no longer any material uncertainty regarding the consideration for the transaction, when the 
related expenses are known, and when there is no longer any continuing management 
involvement relating to the apartments that were transferred. Normally, this criterion is 
considered to be met when construction is substantially completed, when the legal title of the 
apartment has been transferred to the buyer and the buyer is substantially committed to pay the 
full consideration.  

Rendering of services (including management fees) 

Revenues from services are recognized as the services are provided and when the outcome of 
such transactions can be estimated reliably. Where the outcome cannot be measured reliably, 
revenue is recognized only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered. 

W. TAXES 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at the balance 
sheet date. 

Current income tax relating to items recognized outside the income statement is recognized in 
OCI or equity, in correlation to the underlying transaction, and not in the income statement. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to the 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 
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Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary difference, except: 

- Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be used except: 

- Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realized or the liability settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside the income statement is recognized 
outside the income statement. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred 
income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority and expected to 
settle net or simultaneously. 

At each balance sheet date, the Group companies re-assess unrecognized deferred tax assets and 
the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The companies recognize a previously unrecognized 
deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  

Conversely, the companies reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part 
or that entire deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
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X. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, at 
the close of business on the balance sheet date. If quoted market prices are not available, 
reference can also be made to broker or dealer price quotations. 

For financial instruments where there is no active market, the estimated fair value is determined 
by the Group by using valuation models.  

If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, these financial instruments are measured at cost, 
being the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the investment or the amount 
received on issuing the financial liability. All transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition are also included in the cost of the investment. 

The Group has estimated that the fair value of some of the financial instruments does not differ 
significantly from their current carrying amounts. This is valid for cash items, receivables from 
banks, customers' loans, and other current receivables and current liabilities. The Group believes 
that the current carrying amount of these assets and liabilities approximates their fair value, 
especially when they are short term or their interest rates are changing together with the change 
in the current market conditions.  

Y. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge 
its risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative 
financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried 
as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are taken directly to the income statement. 
The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward 
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap 
contracts is determined by independent valuators using agreed-upon valuation models. 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group classifies and documents the type of hedge 
it wishes, the use for the purpose of financial reporting and its strategic goals for risk 
management relating to the specific hedging relationship. The documentation includes 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, and the nature of the hedged risk and 
how the Group assesses hedge effectiveness.  

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: 

Fair value hedges 

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group's exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized 
asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, 
liability or firm commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect the income 
statement. For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains 
and losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured at fair value and 
gains and losses from both are taken to the income statement. 
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For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortized cost, the adjustment to carrying value 
is amortized through the income statement over the remaining term to maturity. Amortization 
may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged item 
ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. 

If the hedged item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value is recognized immediately in the 
income statement.  

When an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent 
cumulative change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is 
recognized as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognized in the income 
statement. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also recognized in the 
income statement. 

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group 
revokes the designation.  

Cash flow hedges 

Cash flow hedges are a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flow that is attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction that could affect the income statement. The effective portion of the gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument is recognized in OCI through the hedge reserve, while the ineffective 
portion is recognized in the income statement. 

Amounts taken to OCI are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction 
affects the income statement, such as when hedged financial income or financial expense is 
recognized or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a 
non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to OCI are transferred to the initial carrying 
amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognized in OCI 
are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts 
previously recognized in OCI remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related 
transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement. 
 
Z. PUT OPTION GRANTED TO NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS 

The Group recognizes a financial liability under such contract at its fair value. The non-
controlling interest reported in the financial statements is subsequently reclassified as a financial 
liability. This happens only when the significant risks and rewards relating to NCI have been 
transferred to the parent. Any difference between the carrying value of non-controlling interest 
and the liability is adjusted against another component of equity. Any changes in the fair value 
of that financial liability in subsequent periods are taken to the income statement. 
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Dividends paid to the other shareholders are recognized as an expense of the group, unless they 
represent a repayment of the liability. If the put option is exercised, the carrying amount of the 
financial liability at that date is extinguished by the payment of the exercise price. If the put 
option expires unexercised, the liability is derecognized with the non-controlling interest being 
reinstated. Any difference between the liability and non-controlling interest is recognized against 
another component of equity, generally the same component reduced when the liability was 
initially recognized. 
 

AA.     EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the 
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period (after adjusting for treasury shares).  

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the 
equity holders of the parent (after adjusting for interest on convertible Debentures and options 
classified as derivative instruments) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 
be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. In 
addition, securities that were converted during the period are included in the diluted earnings per 
share calculation to the date of conversion, and from that date they are included in the basic 
earnings per share. Potential ordinary shares are only included in diluted earnings per share when 
their conversion would decrease earnings per share (or increase loss per share) from continuing 
operations. Options and warrants are dilutive when they would result in the issue of ordinary 
shares for less than the average market price of ordinary shares during the period.  

BB.   PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits are either classified as defined contribution or 
defined benefit plans. Under defined contribution plans, contributions during the period are 
expensed when incurred.  

Defined contribution plans 

The Group operates a defined contribution plans that are funded through independent pension 
funds or similar organizations. Contributions fixed in advance (e.g. based on salary) are paid to 
these institutions, and the beneficiary's right to benefits exists against the pension fund. The 
employer has no legal or constructive obligation beyond payment of the contributions and 
therefore is immaterial for the Group. 

Under retirement plans in the form of defined contribution plans, the entity pledges to pay the 
beneficiary benefits at a predefined level. This effectively releases the entity from any further 
obligations beyond the contributions payable and at the same time precludes the entity from 
participating in the investment success of the contributions.  

CC. CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

Cash flow statements are prepared using the indirect method. Cash flows in foreign currencies 
have been translated into Euros using the weighted average rates of exchange for the periods 
involved. Cash flows from derivative instruments that are accounted for as fair value hedges or 
cash flow hedges are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the hedged items. 
Cash flows from other derivative instruments are classified consistent with the nature of the 
instrument. 
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DD. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 
 

Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell except for bearer plants, which are 
used solely to grow produce over several periods and has a remote likelihood of being sold as 
agricultural produce. These plants are treated as part of IAS 16 as fixed assets. 
Gains and losses that arise on measuring biological assets at fair value less costs to sell are 
recognized in the statement of income in the period in which they arise. 
Selling costs include all costs that would be necessary to sell the property. 

The agricultural produce transferred to inventory in its fair value less costs to sell at the point of 
harvest. 
 
EE. NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE GROUP 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects 
all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application 
permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. 
Early application of previous versions of IFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date 
of initial application is before 1 February 2018. The Group is still assessing the impact that the 
adoption of IFRS 9 will have on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
assets, but no material impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
liabilities is expected. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The IASB has issued IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers" (’IFRS 15’), which is 
a new standard for the recognition of revenue. IFRS 15 will replace IAS 18 which covers 
contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. 
IFRS 15 is based on the core principle that revenue is recognized when control of a good or 
service transfers to a customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
 
IFRS 15 establishes a single revenue recognition model, according to which an entity recognizes 
revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following five steps: 

 
1) Identify the contract(s) with a customer; 
2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract; 
3) Determine the transaction price; 
4) Allocate the transaction price to the different performance obligations in the contract; and 
5) Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
 

Other provisions include capitalization of certain costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a 
customer, consideration of the time value of money in the transaction price, deciding whether 
performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time and performing estimates of 
variable consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain 
circumstances. IFRS 15 also requires enhanced qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s 
contracts with customers. 
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In July 2015, the IASB has published an update to IFRS 15 deferring the effective date to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 (’the Effective Date‘). Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is expecting to adopt IFRS 15 at the Effective Date, using the modified 
retrospective method, i.e., recognizing the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 15 as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as at the Effective Date, with no 
adjustments to comparative periods. 
 
With respect to its residential real estate activities, the Company has yet to finalize the evaluation 
of the potential impacts of applying IFRS 15 on its statement of  financial position and the 
cumulative effect of the initial application on its balance of retained earnings, whereas according 
to IFRS 15, under certain conditions, revenues from sale of apartments should be recognized 
along the construction period instead of the current accounting policy the Company of 
recognizing revenue from sale of apartments upon delivery. 
 
Except for the above mentioned potential impact in the real estate segment, the Company is of 
the opinion that applying IFRS 15 will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
IFRS  16   Leases 

International Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases (IFRS 16) sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. The objective is to ensure that 
lessees and lessors provide relevant information in a manner that faithfully represents those 
transactions. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect 
that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the entity. 
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16. As the Company has only a 
limited number of operational leases the impact of this standard is not expected to be material. 
 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions are used throughout these financial statements: 

Kardan or the Company – Kardan N.V. 
The Group or Kardan Group – Kardan N.V. and its subsidiaries 
GTC RE – GTC Real Estate Holding B.V. 
GTC Group – GTC RE and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
GTC SA – Globe Trade Centre S.A. 
KFS – Kardan Financial Services B.V. 
KFS Group – KFS and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
TBIF – TBIF Financial Services B.V. 
TBIF Group – TBIF and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
Kardan Israel – Kardan Israel Ltd. 
TGA - Tahal Group Assets B.V. 
TGI – Tahal Group International B.V. 
TGI Group – TGI and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
KWIG- Kardan Water International Group Limited 
Kardan Land China or KLC – Kardan Land China Ltd. 
TASE – The Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange 
EI XII- Emerging Investment XII B.V.  
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5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES  

A. Principle subsidiaries (consolidated into the Group)  
 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Following is a list of the main Company's directly and indirectly held subsidiaries.  

Holding company  Name of subsidiary  Country of 
incorporation 

% equity interest by 
the direct holding as 

of December 31
   2016  2015
      
Kardan N.V.  Kardan Financial 

Services B.V.  The Netherlands 100  100  

  GTC Real Estate Holding
B.V.  The Netherlands 100  100  

  Tahal Group 
International B.V.  The Netherlands 98.43  98.43  

  Emerging Investments 
XII B.V.  The Netherlands 100  100  

Kardan Financial 
Services B.V.  TBIF Financial Services 

B.V.   The Netherlands -  100 See B(2) 
below

TBIF Financial Services 
B.V.  TBI Credit IFN SA  Romania -  99.99  
  TBI Leasing IFN SA Romania -  99.99
  TBI Bank EAD Bulgaria -  100
  TBIF Bulgaria EAD Bulgaria -  100
TBIF Bulgaria EAD   TBI Leasing EAD Bulgaria -  100
GTC Real Estate Holding
B.V.  Kardan Land China 

Limited   Hong Kong 100 100  
Kardan Land China 
Limited  

Kardan Land (BJ) 
Management & 
Consulting Co. Ltd. China 100  100

  GTC (China) Investment 
Co. Ltd  China 100  100 

  Kardan Land Dalian 
(HK) Ltd.  Hong Kong 100 100  

Tahal Group 
International B.V.  Tahal Group B.V.  The Netherlands 100  100  

  Tahal Group Assets B.V. The Netherlands 100  100
Tahal Group B.V.  Tahal Consulting 

Engineers Ltd.  Israel 100  100  

  Water Planning for Israel 
Ltd.  Israel 99.99  99.99  

  Sitahal 'Hagal' (Talia) 
Partnership  Israel 100  100  

  Palgey Maim Ltd. Israel 55.5  55.5
  Fideco DOO Serbia 100  100
  Tahal Angola Ltd. Angola 70  70 
  TMNG Ltd. Israel 65  65 
Tahal Group Assets B.V.  Task Water B.V. The Netherlands 100  100 
  Agri Products N.V. The Netherlands 51  51 
 

 
Kardan water 
International Group 
Limited (KWIG)

 Hong-Kong -  25 See B(3) 
below 
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B. Significant transactions and business combinations 
 

1. GTC Group (Real Estate) 

Sale of GTC SA and Claw back liability 
 
On November 22, 2013, GTC RE completed the sale of its investment in GTC SA for a 
consideration of €160 million.  
 
The share purchase agreement contained a ‘claw-back’ clause which is conditional upon 
GTC SA achieving two specific business targets, one by March 31, 2015 and one by 
December 31, 2015. If a target is not met in time, the buyer has the right to receive an 
amount of €3.15 million per target.  
 
In February 2016, after the Company and GTC RE received demands from Lone Star Real 
Estate fund (‘the Buyer’), claiming the targets were not met, the parties signed a settlement 
agreement, according to which GTC RE paid the Buyer an amount of €4 million, in 
exchange for a final and absolute waiver by the Buyer of all its existing and future claims 
and demands towards the Company and GTC RE in relation to the Buyer’s demands 
according to the ‘claw-back’ clause, and of mutual cancellation and deletion of any 
proceedings taken in this matter. Following the signing of the settlement agreement the 
amount was paid.  The settlement did not have an impact on the Company’s income 
statement in 2016 as it was fully provided for as at December 31, 2015. 

 
2.  KFS Group (Banking and Retail Lending) 

A. Sale of TBIF 
On February 24, 2016, KFS has signed an agreement to sell its 100% holding in TBIF to 
a third party (4finance Holding S.A. (‘the Buyer’)). On August 11, 2016, the transaction 
was completed.  
The total consideration for the transaction was comprised of two parts (‘the 
Consideration’): on the completion date (‘the Completion date’) the Buyer paid KFS an 
amount of approximately €69 million and in October 2016 the Consideration was 
adjusted to take into account the reviewed result of the sold asset in the period January 
1, 2016 until the Completion date (‘the Adjustment’), and the Company received in 
October 2016 the Adjustment amount which totaled to €13 million. 
According to the agreement, TBIF transferred certain non-lending assets including the 
investment in Avis Ukraine, with a net value of approximately €32 million to KFS before 
the Completion date. 
    
KFS undertook to indemnify the Buyer for costs and damages which might occur under 
circumstances which have been specifically detailed in the agreement, including a breach 
of the customary representations and warranties given by KFS.  Accordingly, on the 
Completion date KFS deposited an amount of €6 million for a period of two years and 
pledge this in favor of the Buyer as collateral for the indemnification, which amount will 
be reduced to €5 million after one year (see Note 10).  In addition, Kardan guaranteed 
KFS’s obligation in this respect. 
As a result of the transaction, the Company recorded in 2016 a profit of approximately 
€15 million.  
 
Since TBIF was considered by management as a distinguishable major geographical and 
operating line of business, the results of the sold investment in TBIF in all represented 
periods were classified, in accordance with IFRS 5, to discontinued operations. 
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B. Sale of TBIF Bulgaria 
 
In October 2016, KFS signed an agreement to sell its investment in TBIF BG.  
As a result,  KFS recorded a loss in the amount of €1.7 million (see Note 31). 

   
C. Sale of TBI Credit  

In October 2014, TBIF signed an agreement to sell its investment in TBI Credit EAD (a 
fully-owned Bulgarian subsidiary) for a total consideration of approximately €8.9 
million, subject to adjustments.  
On February 11, 2015 TBIF finalized the sale of TBI Credit EAD. The final consideration 
amounted to €9.9 million was received by TBIF which recognized a small gain of €1 
million upon the completion of the sale which has been recorded in 2015.  

 
3. TGI Group (water infrastructure) 

Sale of KWIG  

On January 15 2015, TGA signed a share purchase agreement ('the Agreement') with 
China Gezhouba Group Investments Holding Co Ltd. ('the Purchaser'), to sell all of its 
holdings in KWIG. KWIG operates 11 wastewater treatment facilities and water supply 
projects in China and was the main subsidiary in the Group’s ‘Water Infrastructure - 
Assets’ segment. 
 
The total consideration for the shares amounts to RMB 630 million (paid in USD at a 
predetermined exchange rate of 6.24 RMB/USD; approximately €90.3 million as at 
March 4, 2015) (the 'Consideration'). Additionally, as part of the transaction, all 
outstanding loans provided to KWIG by Group companies, totaling approximately to €42 
million, were repaid. 
 
The sale of KWIG took place in two phases: in March 2015 the first phase of the 
transaction in which 75% of KWIG shares were sold was completed; the Purchaser paid 
75% of the consideration and all outstanding loans from Group companies were repaid.  
On June 30, 2016 TGA completed the second phase of the transaction and sold the 
remaining 25% of its holding in KWIG for a total consideration of USD 27.7 million 
(approximately €25 million), including interest as detailed in the agreement.  
 
As a result of the transaction, the Group recorded a net gain of approximately €20.1 
million in 2015 mainly due to the release of equity reserves transferred to the statement 
of income following the sale. In 2016, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately 
€0.1 million mainly due to exchange rate differences and an update of tax liability in 
respect of the transaction. 
 
Since KWIG was considered by management as a distinguishable major geographical 
and operating line of business, the results of the investment in KWIG (including the gain 
from the sale of the investment) in all represented periods were classified, in accordance 
with IFRS 5 to discontinued operations. 

 
C. Assets held for sale  

 
Assets held for sale as at December 31, 2015 consisted of €24.8 million related to the sale of 
KWIG, and of €7.1 million of repossessed assets held for sale in TBIF Group.  
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D. Discontinued operations related the sale of TBIF and KWIG 

The activities of TBIF and KWIG were classified as discontinued operations in 2016, 2015 and 
2014, following the sale transactions as described in B above. These activities were clearly 
distinguishable, operationally and for financial reporting purposes as TBIF and KWIG 
represented a separate business and major geographical area of operations.  
  

1) Composition of the income and expenses related to discontinued operations: 
 

  For the year ended 
December 31, 2016

 For the year ended 
December 31, 2015 

 
 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2014

  TBIF  KWIG  TBIF KWIG  TBIF  KWIG

 € 000’
Income  20,545 - 42,177  -  36,038 27,463
Expenses (13,297) - (23,785)  -  (24,960) (19,597)
Profit before tax 7,248 - 18,392  -  11,078  7,866
Income tax 
expenses, net  796 - 1,973

 
- 

 
33

 
3,483

Profit from discontinued 
operations before revaluation 
and release of capital reserves 6,452

 
 

- 16,419

 

- 

 

11,045  4,383 

Gain (loss) from revaluation 
of investment (*) - (144) -

 
6,812 

 
-

 
(6,972)

Release of capital reserves 
due to deconsolidation  - - -

 
13,287 

 
-

 
-

 6,452 (144) 16,419  20,099  11,045  (2,589)
Discontinued operation items 
related to the sale 
transactions:   

 

 

 

   
Capital gain 19,316 - -  -  -  -
Release of capital reserves 
due to sale (4,137) - -

 
- 

 
-  -

Net gain (loss) from 
discontinued operations 21,631 (144) 16,419

 
20,099 

 
11,045  (2,589)

Attributable to:             
Equity holders  21,631  (142)  16,419  19,783  11,045  (2,548)
Non-controlling interest 
holders 

 
-

 
(2)  -

 
316 

 
-  (41)

  21,631  (144)  16,419  20,099  11,045  (2,589)

 
(*) Including tax impact for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounting to €825 
thousand and €1,889 thousand, respectively.  
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2) Composition of other comprehensive income items related to discontinued operations:  
 

  For the year 
ended 

December 31, 
2016 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2015 

 

For the year ended 
December 31,2014 

 TBIF TBIF KWIG  TBIF KWIG
 € in thousands
Adjustments arising from 
translating financial statements  
of foreign operations 4,135 (86) 13,287 

 

40 9,474
 

Attributable to:   
Equity holders 4,135 (86) 13,078  40 9,325
Non-controlling interest holders - - 209  - 149
 4,135 (86) 13,287  40 9,474
 

3) Composition of the cash flow statements related to discontinued operations: 
 

 For the period 
of January 1 

2016 till August 
11, 2016

For the year 
ended 

December 
31, 2016

For the year ended 
December 31, 2015  

 
Year ended 

December 31, 2014
 TBIF KWIG TBIF  KWIG  TBIF KWIG
 € in thousands
Net cash provided by 

(used in) operating 
activities (3,672) - (11,666) - 26,680 3,594

Net cash provided by 
(used in) investing 
activities 38,714 21,856 (1,679) 91,960 (5,293) (493)

Net cash used in 
financing activities (138) - (764) - (1,526) (6,839)

 
(*) In 2016 the group paid tax in the amount of €3 million relating to the sale of KWIG.  
 

E. Collaterals 

As of December 31, 2016, the shares the Company (indirectly) owns in GTC RE, KLC, KFS, 
TGI, and EI XII were pledged or will be pledged in favor of the trustees of the Company’s 
debenture holders.  

F. Dividend 

The following dividend amounts were received in the reporting period: 

  2016  2015
  € in thousands
 
Subsidiaries  

 
167,740 

 
56,302

 
The amounts above relate to transfers from TGI and KFS following the sales of KWIG and of 
TBIF, respectively, (see B above), and from EI XII.  
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6.  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 Freehold Land, 
buildings  Office  

 and assets under Production Motor furniture and Leasehold  
 construction equipment vehicles equipment improvements Total 
 € in thousands
Cost:   
Balance as of January 1, 2015 38,371 28,175 10,849 11,330 2,473 91,198 
Additions 158 1,017 3,237 596 250 5,258 
Reclassified from Inventory 2,121 - - - - 2,121 
Disposals  (91) (98) (1,251) (77) (83) (1,600) 
Exchange rate differences 19 1,448 99 441 209 2,216 
Discontinued operation (30,423) (5,807) (302) (4,975) (105) (41,612) 
Balance as of December 31, 2015 10,155 24,735 12,632 7,315 2,744 57,581 

Additions  1,499 852 439 1,331 28 4,149 
Disposals  (3,882) (5,796) (11,519) (1,387) - (22,584) 
Exchange rate differences 41 569 37 189 54 890 
Balance as of December 31, 2016 7,813 20,360 1,589 7,448 2,826 40,036 

Accumulated depreciation:   
Balance as of January 1, 2015 3,102 18,092 4,599 4,225 755 30,773 
Depreciation for the year 308 1,033 1,795 858 372 4,366 
Disposals (16) (69) (794) (40) (70) (989) 
Exchange rate differences 12 1,368 41 247 49 1,717 
Discontinued operation (1,304) (191) (302) (545) (105) (2,447) 
Balance as of December 31, 2015 2,102 20,233 5,339 4,745 1,001 33,420 
   
Depreciation for the year 77 793 179 693 376 2,118 
Disposals  (924) (3,326) (4,582) (944) - (9,776) 
Exchange rate differences 9 461 13 102 - 585 
Balance as of December 31, 2016 1,264 18,161 949 4,596 1,377 26,347 

Net book value   
December 31, 2015 8,053 4,502 7,293 2,570 1,743 24,161 

Net book value            
December 31, 2016 6,549 2,199 640 2,852 1,449 13,689 
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

A. General 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 investment property solely comprises the shopping mall in the city 
of Dalian, China (‘Galleria Dalian’) which construction was completed in April 2015.     

B. The movements in investment property are as follows: 

 2016  2015
  € in thousands   
Opening balance  250,310  181,072
Additional capitalized subsequent expenditure -  37,102
Additional capitalized borrowing costs -  4,785
Fair value adjustments (2,588)  20,907
Foreign currency translation differences  (7,261)  6,444
   
Closing balance  240,461  250,310

 
The investment property is pledged as security of a loan (see Note 19).  

C. Fair value adjustments comprise: 

 For the year ended December 31,
 2016  2015  2014
 € in thousands 
      
      
Valuation gains from newly completed investments 
properties - 

 
20,262 

 
- 

Valuation loss from investments properties completed in 
prior years (2,588) 

 
- 

 
- 

Adjustment to fair value of investment property under 
construction - 

 
645 

 
8,859 

Total fair value adjustments, impairments, reversal for 
the year (2,588)  20,907  8,859 

 
D. Fair value measurement of investment property (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy) - significant 

assumptions: 

The fair value of investment properties has been determined on a market value basis in accordance with 
RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) Valuation – Professional Standards, as set out by the 
RICS. In arriving at their estimates of market values, the external appraiser has relied on their market 
knowledge and professional judgment and not only relied on historical transaction comparables. 
 
To assess the fair value of investment property under construction (until Q1 2015), the Residual Method 
and Cost Approach have been adopted, whereas for Gross Development Value (‘GDV’), the Discounted 
Cash Flow (‘DCF’) Approach and Direct Comparison Method have been adopted for the retail portion. 
The Direct Capitalisation method has been adopted for the car park portion.  
 
Starting Q2 2015, the construction was completed, and the investment property under construction was 
transferred to completed investment property.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, DCF Approach and 
Direct Comparison Method have been adopted to assess the fair value of the investment property. 
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Significant assumptions used in the valuations of the completed investment property are presented 
below: 
 

 

 
E. Sensitivity analysis: 

The table below presents the sensitivity of the profit (loss) before tax due to change in the following 
assumptions (the values are presented in absolute numbers as a change can either be positive or 
negative): 
 
 December
 31, 2016
 € in thousands

Investment property  
Change of 25 BP in discount rate and terminal yield 5,474 
Change of 5% in estimated rental income 5,337
Change in general vacancy by 1% 1,369
 
 
8. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 

A. Main associates include: 

 
 
   % of ownership and control by 

the direct holding company as of 
 

Holding   December  December   
company  Name of associate 31, 2016  31, 2015  Country
        
Sterna B.V.  MVV Water Utility Pvt Ltd. 26.0  26.0  India
Water Planning for 
Israel Ltd. 

 
Star Pumped Storage Ltd.  

 
40.5 

  
40.5 

  
Israel 
 

 
B. Composition (*): 

  December  December 
  31, 2016  31, 2015 

  € in thousands  

     
Total of equity investments  201  134 
Loans   12,687  9,406 
     
Total investment   12,888  9,540 

 
(*) mostly related to the investment in Star Pumped Storage Ltd. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 December December
 31, 2016 31, 2015

DCF method  
Estimated rental value per sqm per month (in €) 23 23
Discount rate  10.5% %10.5
Rental growth  5%-15% %15-%5

Terminal cap rate 5.5% %5.5
Occupancy rate 77%-96% %96-%89



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

48 

C. Movement in the equity investments in associates is as follows: 

  2016  2015 
  € in thousands 
Balance as of January 1  9,540  7,379 
Change in loans, net  2,793  1,312 
Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity 
method, net 

 
(971)  (658) 

Foreign currency translation differences   416  785 
Interest income from loan to associate company  1,110  722 

Balance as of December 31  12,888  9,540 
 
D. Loans: 

The investment in associated companies includes loans as follows: 
 
   December  December 
   31, 2016  31, 2015 
 Interest rate (p.a)  € in thousands 
 
In NIS 

 
8.85% linked to the 

Israeli CPI 

 

12,687 

 

9,406 

The loans are expected to be repaid according to the liquidity position of the associates.
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9. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES  

A. Main Joint Ventures: 

The Company indirectly holds through its subsidiaries the following main joint ventures that are accounted using the equity method: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   % of ownership by    

   

the direct holding 

company as of    

   December 31,    

Holding company Name of joint venture   2016  2015 Country  Nature of activities 

Kardan Land China Limited 

Shenyang Taiying Real Estate 

Development Ltd.   50.0  50.0 China  

Real estate development and property 

management 

  GTC Lucky Hope Dadong Ltd.   50.0  50.0 Hong Kong  Holding  

 Sino Castle Development Ltd.  50.0  50.0 Hong Kong  Real estate  development 

 Green Power Development Ltd. 50.0  50.0 Hong Kong  Holding  

 Rainfield Development Ltd.  50.0  50.0 Hong Kong  Holding  

 

Shaanxi GTC Lucky Hope Real 

Estate Development Ltd.  50.0  50.0 China  

Real estate development, property lease 

and property management 

Task Water  B.V.  Akfen SU Kanalizasyon  50.0  50.0 Turkey  

management and construction 

establishments for producing drinking 

water 

Sitahal ‘Hagal’ (Talia) Partnership  Energy Hagal- Talia Partnership 50.0  50.0 Israel  Electricity (biogas) 

Tahal Consulting Engineers Ltd. Tahal South Africa (PTY) Ltd. -  37.5 South Africa  Water projects 

Tahal Consulting Engineers Ltd.  Lahat Joint Venture 50.0  50.0 Israel  Water desalination 

GTC Real estate Holding B.V.  GTC Investments B.V.  48.75  48.75 Netherlands  Holding 

Kardan Financial Services B.V. TBIF-Dan Leasing Ltd.  66.0  66.0 Cyprus  Holding  
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B. The composition of the investment in joint venture is as follows: 

  December December 
  31, 2016 31, 2015 
  In €’000 

Total of equity investments   57,442  53,469 
Goodwill     7,697  8,208 
Deemed cost on real estate projects (*)  384  1,180 
Loans and other long-term balances  39,753  40,682 

  105,276  103,539 
     
Less impairments   (9,237)  (7,575) 
     
Total investment in joint ventures  96,039  95,964 

  
(*) Deemed cost is the Group’s financial cost which was capitalized to projects in joint ventures prior to the 
adoption of IFRS 11.    
 
C. Loans: 

The investment in joint ventures companies includes loans as follows: 
  
   December  December
   31, 2016  31, 2015
 Interest rate (p.a)  In €’000 
      
In EUR  -  7,017  7,017 
      

In EUR 
3 months Euribor + 

3.5%  3,438  3,330 

In EUR 
6 months Euribor + 

3.5%  2,521  2,528 

In EUR 
6 months Euribor + 

3.125%  -  1,156 
In EUR 12.5%  1,960  1,796 
In USD -  24,134  24,202 

In USD  
6 months libor + 

3.5%  658  636 
In HKD -  25  17 

   39,753  40,682 
The loans are expected to be repaid according to the liquidity position of  the joint ventures. 
 
D. Summary of financial data of immaterial joint ventures on aggregated level 

 For the year ended 

 2016 2015  2014 
   
 In €’000 

   
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 3,840 (1,496)  4,363 
Other comprehensive income (995) 3,347  13,101 
Total comprehensive income 2,845 1,851  17,464 
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E. Summary of financial data of material joint venture company accounted using the equity 
method: 

 
Shaanxi GTC Lucky Hope Real Estate Development Ltd.  

Summary of financial data from the statement of financial position: 
 
 
 December December  
 31, 2016 31, 2015  
 In €’000

Current assets (not including cash and cash equivalent) 108,084 120,234  
Cash and cash equivalent 12,347 5,352  

Non-current assets  14,298 20,248  

Current liabilities  (83,485) (95,700)  
Current financial liabilities  (4,538) (6,810)  

Total equity attributed to the owners  46,706 43,324  
% held in the joint venture 50 50  
Total investment in joint ventures 23,353 21,662  
 
 
Summary of financial data from the income statement: 
 
  For the year ended 
  2016  2015  2014 
  In €’000 

Revenues from operations  35,040  71,316  28,488 

Cost of operations  (21,573)  (49,574)  (15,316) 

Selling and marketing, other income (expenses), and 
administrative expenses  

 
(5,262)  (8,542)  (4,802) 

Interest income  25  26  82 
Profit before tax  8,230  13,226  8,452

Income tax expenses  (3,614)  (3,310)  (2,114) 

Profit for the year attributed to equity holders  4,616  9,916  6,338 

% held of the joint venture  50  50  50 

  2,308  4,958  3,169 

Realizing of deemed cost  on projects  -  (121)  (195) 

Group’s share of profit for the year 
 

2,308  4,837  2,974 
       
       

Total other comprehensive income (expenses) 
attributed to equity holders 

 
(1,232)  1,360  3,446 

% held of the joint venture  50  50  50 

Group share of the total other comprehensive income 
(expenses) 

 

(616)  680  1,723 
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F. Additional information regarding joint ventures that are accounted using the equity method: 

  

 
G. Additional information 

Kardan Land China  
 

1. Capital commitments: 

As of December 31 2016, KLC’s share in the contractual commitments of joint ventures 
amount to €6,565 thousand (December 31, 2015: €2,977 thousand). 
 
 

2. Guarantees: 

As of December 31, 2016, the joint ventures of KLC and its subsidiaries provided guarantees of 
€74.4 million (December 31, 2015: €86.2 million) in respect of mortgage facilities granted by 
certain banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of properties of the 
joint ventures of Kardan Land China and its subsidiaries properties, which were not provided for 
in the financial statements. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default on mortgage 
payments by these purchasers before the expiration date of the guarantees, the joint ventures of 
Kardan Land China and its subsidiaries are responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage 
principals and interest to the banks. 
 
The guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon 
the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be 
available within one to two years after the purchasers take possession of the relevant properties. 
The fair value of the guarantees is not significant. The management of the joint ventures of 
Kardan Land China and its subsidiaries consider that in the case of default on payments, the net 
realizable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage 
principals together with the accrued interest and penalties, and therefore no provision has been 
made in the financial statements for the guarantees. 
 

  

 December 31, 
 2016  2015 
 In €’000

 Goodwill 
included in 

the 
investment 

 Impairments 
to the 

investment 

 Goodwill 
included in 

the 
investment 

 Impairments 
to the 

investment 

TASK SU kanalizasyon SU   1,059  -  1,059  - 
Shenyang Taiyling Real Estate 
Development Ltd.  140  (140)  140  (140) 
GTC Lucky Hope Dadong Ltd. 

-  (2,599)  -  - 
TBIF-Dan leasing Ltd.  6,498  (6,498)   7,007  (7,435) 
 7,697  (9,237)  8,206  (7,575) 
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10. LONG-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES  

A. Composition: 

  December  December
  31, 2016   31, 2015

  € in thousands
In EUR (*)  -  43,464
In other currencies (*)  -  30,180

  -  73,644

Less – current maturities(*)  -  (16,749)

  -  56,895
Provision for doubtful debts (*)   -  (39,720)
Pledged deposit (See Note 5B(2))   5,000  -
Fit-out prepaid expenses  4,166  4,679
Other  2,529  1,716

  11,695  23,570

 
(*) Related to the former ‘banking and retail lending’ segment - see Note 5B(2) regarding the sale of 
TBIF. 
 
11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 

A. Movement: 

  Goodwill Service 
concessions 

Other 
intangibles 

 Total

  € in thousands
Balance as of January 1, 2015  8,043 8,688 909  17,640 
Additions   - - 382  382
Change due to disposal of 
subsidiaries 

 
- - (128)  (128)

Discontinued operation (1)  (2,880) (8,688) -  (11,568)
Amortization  - - (308)  (308)
Foreign currency exchange 
differences 

 
194 - 149  343

Balance as of December 31,2015  5,357 - 1,004  6,361
Additions   462 - 265  727
Amortization   - - (248)  (248)
Foreign currency exchange 
differences 

 
62 - (2)  60

Discontinued operation (2)  - - (744)  (744)
Balance as of December 31, 2016  5,881 - 275  6,156

 
(1) The decrease is due to the sale of KWIG – for additional information see Note 5B. 
(2) The decrease is due to the sale of TBIF – for additional information see Note 5B. 

 
B. Information regarding goodwill balance at the level of the different subsidiaries: 

 
 December  December
 31, 2016  31, 2015

 € thousands 

Water infrastructure segment:   
Tahal Consulting Engineers Ltd. (TCE) 3,508  3,508
TMNG  1,436  1,390
Palgey Maim 475  459
Z. Weinstein 462  -   
 5,881  5,357
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Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at the acquisition date, to each of the Group's cash-
generating units that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Relevant cash-generating units 
within the reportable segments could be individual subsidiaries, activities in a certain country, or total operating 
segments before aggregation. 
 
The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined based on the values used for valuations of each 
cash-generating unit, according to methods and assumptions applicable to such cash-generating unit. The 
Company annually assesses impairment, or more frequently if deemed required. 
 
C.  Impairment of goodwill 
 
The entire goodwill balance relates to the water infrastructure segment. 
The recoverable amount has been determined based on a value in use calculation. The method used for 
calculating the value in use is the Discounted Cash Flow (‘DCF’) method. This approach is based on 
the estimation of future returns on an investment in terms of cash flows, and the calculation of the 
present value of the expected cash flows by discounting them according to the required rate of pre-tax 
Weighted Average Cost of capital (WACC).The period used in the DCF method is 5 years, which is 
based on the nature of the operations of the cash-generating units. 
For the years 2016 and 2015 no impairment of goodwill was recorded.  
 
The assumptions regarding the recoverable amount evaluation can be presented as follows: 

  WACC Annual Gross profit  Operating income 

   
2016  12.5% 2% 14%-20%  5.9%-12.0%
2015  13.0% 3% 14%  5.9%

 
D.  Amortization and impairment expenses: 
 
Amortization expenses of intangible assets are included in the following line items in the income 
statement: 
- Contract costs; 
- Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations; 

 
 

12. INVENTORIES, CONTRACT WORK , BUILDINGS AND APARTMENTS INVENTORY 
IN PROGRESS  

A.   Composition: 
 

  December  December 
  31, 2016  31, 2015 
  € in thousands
Buildings and apartments inventory (1)  103,035  101,286 
Contract work in progress (2)  11,946  5,125 
Merchandise inventory (3)  4,440  3,407 

  119,421  109,818 
 

(1) Building and apartments inventory: 
 

a. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 inventory in the amount of €54,513 thousand and €56,117 
thousand, respectively, is pledged as security for a loan (see also Note 25).  

 
b. Inventory is presented at cost including finance expenses capitalized during the construction of 

the project.  
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c. Composition of cost of buildings and apartments inventory: 
 

 December  December
 31, 2016  31, 2015
 € in thousands 
Current:    
Completed 21,723  23,060
Under construction 81,312  78,226

 103,035  101,286

 
d. Buildings and apartments inventory is stated in gross figures. Advances from apartment buyers 

are presented under current liabilities and amount to €50,011 thousand as of December 31, 2016 
(December 31, 2015: €34,263 thousand). 
 

e. During the past year the Group entered into 6 sale contracts of apartments (in 2015 - 266 
contracts), for which the total consideration is estimated at €1.1 million (RMB 8.1 million) (in 
2015 - €68.6 million). As of December 31, 2016, the aggregated number of signed contracts of 
existing projects for which revenues were not recognized amounts to 265 contracts (in 2015 – 
263) for which the aggregated consideration is estimated at approximately €66.3 million (RMB 
484.5 million) (in 2015 - €68 million). 

  
(2) Contract work in progress: 

 
Contract work in progress relates to infrastructure projects.  
 
The composition of contract work in progress: 
 
  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  € in thousands 
Contract costs incurred  584,375  761,078 
Less – invoices on account of progress  (611,318)  )803,662(  

  (26,943)  (42,584) 

Presented in statement of financial position:     
Current assets – contract work in progress costs  11,946  5,125 
Current liabilities – Liabilities due to work in progress  (38,889)  (47,709) 

  (26,943)  (42,584) 
 

The above data refers to work done by TGI which provides engineering and design service primarily 
in the fields of water, sewage and agriculture that provide construction services. The results of TGI 
are presented as part of the water infrastructure segments. 

 
(3) Merchandise inventory mainly relates to inventory of the subsidiary Mast Foods S.A. (Greece).  
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B. Additional information concerning long-term construction works in inventory:  
 
 December 31, 2016 
 Residential construction Infrastructure works

 

For the year 
2016 

Cumulative 
up to the end 

of the 
reporting 

period

For the year 
2016 

 Cumulative 
up to the end 

of the 
reporting 

period
 € in thousands 
   

Revenues recognized 761 72,402 113,826  552,139 
Cost recognized 676 64,515 82,574  430,618 

 
 December 31, 2015 
 Residential construction Infrastructure works 

 

For the year 
2015 

Cumulative 
up to the end 

of the 
reporting 

period 

For the year 
2015 

 Cumulative 
up to the end 

of the 
reporting 

period 
 € in thousands 
     

Revenues recognized 791 71,641 29,253  152,281 
Cost recognized 889 63,839 25,679  157,857 

 
13. TRADE RECEIVABLES 

A. Composition: 
 
  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015

  € in thousands
Trade receivables   71,837  71,232

Less provision for doubtful debt  (5,390)  (3,914)
     
  66,447  67,318

 
As of December 31, 2016 an amount of €61,550 thousand (December 31, 2015: €62,455 
thousand) derives from the water infrastructure segment. 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 30-120 days terms. 

 
B. As of December 31 the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 
 
    Past due (net of impairment)   

 

 Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 

 < 30 
days 

 30 – 60 
days 

60 – 90 
days 

90 – 120 
days 

120 – 365 
days 

>365 days  Total

  € in thousands

             
2016  46,655  5,709  1,362 2,527 1,342 2,611 6,241   66,447
2015  23,880  3,289  12,436 9,452 2,934 7,222 8,105  67,318

             
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

57 

C. Movement in the provision for doubtful debts: 
  
     
  2016  2015 
  € in thousands 
Opening balance   3,914  2,681 
Addition during the year  1,831  1,094 
Collection during the year  (185)  (92) 
Foreign currency translation  6  231 
Disposal of a subsidiary  (176)  - 
     
Closing balance  5,390  3,914 

  
14. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 

 December  December
 31, 2016  31, 2015

 € in thousands

    
Central bank in Bulgaria (1) -  16,118 
Accrued income 4,624  4,621 
VAT receivable  2,786  1,196 
Receivables from joint ventures in China 928  2,799 
Prepaid expenses  4,868  5,586 
Advances to suppliers 4,734  1,383 
Deposit receivable 7,357  5,755 
Other  1,476  2,925 
 26,773  40,383 

 
(1) In 2015 the balance is due to TBI Bank which was required to maintain, in the form of non-interest 

earning cash deposits, certain cash reserves with the local central bank (obligatory reserve). There 
are no restrictions on the withdrawal of funds from the central bank provided that the minimum 
reserve requirements are met. If the minimum average reserve requirements are not met, the banks 
could be subject to certain penalties. The bank is obligated to maintain the minimal cumulative 
average reserve calculated on a daily basis over a monthly period. In 2016 TBI Bank was sold as 
part of the sale of TBIF – for additional information see Note 5B.  

 
15. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
 Average € € 
 interest rate  in thousands  in thousands 

Bank deposits in Euro 0%-1%  1,131  130 
Bank deposits in NIS 0%-0.5%  8  107 
Restricted bank deposits (*) 0%-3%  2,524  5,975 
Government bonds 4.75%-6.75%  -  542 
Bank deposits in RMB 1.8%-3.4%  6,555  1,033 

   10,218  7,787 

 
(*) In 2016 mostly in RMB; in 2015 mainly RMB and Euro. 
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015

  € in thousands 
Cash at bank and in hand  50,759  72,900
Short-term deposits *)  7,024  71,020

  57,783  143,920

 
*) As of December 31, 2016 the range of the annual interest rate earned on short-term deposits was 
0.5%-1.5% (December 31, 2015 - up to 1.5% p.a). 
 
 
17. ISSUED AND PAID-IN CAPITAL 

A. Composition: 
 

 December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015
   Issued and    Issued and
  Authorized  paid-in  Authorized  paid-in

 Number of shares  Number of shares
Ordinary shares with nominal 
value of €0.20 each 225,000,000  123,022,256  225,000,000  123,022,256

 
 
B. Movement in issued and paid-in shares: 

 
During 2016 there were no movements in the issued and paid-in shares. 

 Number of  par value
 shares  in €
Balance as of January 1, 2015 111,848,583  22,369,716
    
Issuance of shares to the debenture holders in 2015 11,173,673  2,234,735
    
Balance as of December 31, 2015 and 2016 123,022,256  24,604,451

 
C. Movement in treasury shares: 

 
 Number of  par value
 shares  in €

Balance as of January 1, 2014  1,240,590  248,119

Treasury shares granted to a former officer (73,005)  (13,871)

Balance as of December 31, 2014 1,167,585  234,248

Treasury shares granted to the Debenture Holders (1,167,585)  (234,248)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 and 2016 -  -

 
D. Changes in share capital and treasury shares 
 
During 2016 and 2015, the following transactions took place: 
 
In July 2015, according to the Deeds of Trust (see Note 22), the Company allocated to the Debenture 
Holders, without consideration, 12,341,258 shares of the Company (out of which 1,167,585 shares were 
treasury shares held by the Group), which constituted approximately 10% of the Company’s issued and 
paid in capital immediately after the allocation.  
 
E. Dividend: 
 
In 2016 and 2015, the Company did not distribute dividends.  
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F. Restrictions on distribution: 
 
In accordance with the Dutch civil code, part of the retained earnings is restricted for distribution 
following the regulation to maintain reserves in respect of real estate unrealized fair value revaluation, 
cash flow hedges, foreign currency differences from investment in foreign operations, and equity gains 
from associates and joint ventures.   
It is further noted that according to the debentures Amended Deeds of Trust there are limitations of 
distribution of dividend: Dividend will not be distributed before 75% of the outstanding debentures as 
at December 31, 2014 are repaid. 
 
18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

A.   The expenses recognized during the year are shown in the following table: 
 

 For the year ended
 December December December
 31, 2016 31, 2015 31, 2014
 € in thousands

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions of the Company and the subsidiaries 254 1,080 776
Expense arising from cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions of a subsidiary 339 (41) 526

 593 1,039 1,302
The expenses are presented as part of ‘Payroll and related expenses’ within the General and 
administrative expenses (see Note 30). 
 
B. Option plans: 

 

Below is a description of the principles of the main option and share incentive plans granted by the 
Company and its main subsidiaries:  

  
(1) Kardan N.V. 

 
a. The Company granted to its former CEO options exercisable to shares of the Company representing 

approximately 2% of the outstanding share capital of the Company (prior to the shares issued to the 
debenture holders as part of the Final Settlement agreement (see also Note 22). The options were 
granted in 2012, and in 2015 a modification to the option plan was approved by the general meeting 
of shareholders. According to the modified plan, the exercise price would be €0.2807 or NIS 1.191. 
The options will vest in two equal tranches, 50% of the options would be exercisable from December 
31, 2016 and 50% of the options would be exercisable from June 30, 2018. The modification was 
accounted for under the requirements of IFRS 2. 

The total benefit of the modified grant is valued at approximately €0.2 million and was calculated 
using the Black & Scholes model, based on the following assumptions: 

 
 

 
 

 
During 2016, all the options expired following the resignation of the CEO. 
 

b. In September 2013 (the ‘Grant Date’), the Board of the Company approved a stock-option plan 
according to which the Company granted to several employees of the Company a total of 250,000 
options exercisable into up to 250,000 ordinary shares of the Company, each having a par value of 
€0.20 (subject to adjustments). The exercise price of each option is equal to NIS 6.136. The options 
were exercisable in four annual equal portions, starting June 2012 (the ‘Effective Date’), of which 
the first 25% are exercisable two years following the Effective Date. The total value of the options 
at date of grant was immaterial. The Company share price on Grant Date was approximately NIS 
1.9052. The grant was accounted for assuming equity settlement and the total expenses booked in 
the period were immaterial and were included in ‘General and administration expenses’ in the 
income statement. 

The total additional expense relating to the management stock option plan is less than €0.1 million. 

Number of options 2,282,624 
Expected volatility (%) 63.2%-67.8% 
Risk-free interest rate (%) -0.06%-0.77% 
Expected term of options (years) 3.8 
Dividend yield (%) 0% 
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Movement in the year 
 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (‘WAEP’) of, and 
movement in, share options issued by the Company during the year: 
 

  2016 2015 
  No.  WAEP No.  WAEP

    NIS   NIS
Outstanding on January 1  2,582,624  1.191 2,532,135  6.136
Granted during the year  -  - 100,489  1.191

Expired during the year  (2,332,624)  1.191 (50,000)  1.191

Outstanding on December 31  250,000  1.191 2,582,624  1.191

Exercisable on December 31  125,000  1.191 -  -
 
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, additional 150,000 options will expire due to termination of two 
employees. 
 
The expected life of the options was based on historical data and was not necessarily indicative of 
exercise patterns that may have occurred. The expected volatility reflected the assumption that the 
historical volatility was indicative of future trends, which may also not have necessarily been the actual 
outcome. 

 
(2) Kardan Land China 

 
Under the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), share options of the Company are granted to eligible 
employees of the Company. The exercise price of the share options is calculated based on total capital 
injected plus interest under Libor/Euribor + 3%. The share options vest according to the following 
schedule: 50%, 25% and 25% of the share options shall be vested in the Option Holder on the third, 
fourth and fifth anniversary of the date of commencement of services to the Group, respectively. The 
contractual term of each option granted is seven years.  
The options are fully cancelled as at December 31, 2016 and the liability under the Agreement has been 
settled in full and no options outstanding under the Agreement. For year ended December 31, 2016, 
KLC has recognized €94 thousand of share-based payment expenses in the statement of profit or loss 
(2015: €41 thousand income). 

 
(3) KFS  

 
In March 2012, the CEO of TBIF was granted an incentive plan. The incentive plan includes:  
a) Options at a range of 2%-4% in four operations of TBIF. The exercise price for these options was determined 

to be the base value at the time of grant plus interest. The options vest in four equal portions on 30 June 2012, 
2013, 2014 and 2015. This option plan is treated under IFRS 2. 

b) A phantom option scheme relating to TBI Bank, treated under IAS 19.  
c)  A bonus scheme relating to the loans granted to VAB Bank and VAB Leasing.  

During 2016 KFS recognized an expense of €245 thousands related to this option plan.  
 
(4) TGI  
 
a. In March 2015, the supervisory board of TGI decided to grant the CEO 560 options to purchase 2% 

of TGI’s share capital at that time. The total fair value of the grant is approximately USD 1 million 
approximately (€ 0.7 million) and was calculated using the Black& Scholes model. 

b. In August 2014, the supervisory board of TGI decided to grant five executive managers options to 
purchase 1.9 % of TGI’s share capital. The total value of the grant is approximately USD 1 million 
(€ 0.7 million) and was calculated by the company using the Black & Scholes model. 

 

c. In March 2013, TGI granted three senior employees stock options totaling to 2.2% of TGI's issued 
and paid-in capital (580 options). TGI accounted for these options as equity settled (except for the 
CEO options – see note 21). Based on B&S model, the total fair value of the options is €0.6 million 
which will be recognized in the income statements during the remaining vesting period of 4 years.  
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d. During 2011, the supervisory board and the general meeting of shareholders of TGI formally 
approved TGI to grant to the CEO of TGI 797 options, constituting approximately 3% of the shares 
of TGI at that time, post-issuance. The newly issued stock option plan was divided into two 
agreements which have comparable option terms except for the vesting periods. Each option plan 
has been valued separately. 
The exercise price of the options amounted to €4,317 per option. The options can be exercised until 
December 31, 2017. 
 

The total value of the options at date of grant was estimated at €1.9 million. This fair value was 
determined by an independent external valuator. The expected life of the options is based on 
historical data. 

 
  TGI accounts for all the options granted, as described above, in accordance with IFRS 2, assuming 

equity payments will be affected. 
 

The following table lists the inputs to the models used to determine the fair value of the equity-
settled share-based payments: 

 
 2015 2014 2013 2011 
Number of options granted 560 499 580 797 
Expected volatility (%) 36% 35% 46.4% 44.96% 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0% 0.429% 0.7% 2.04 % 
Expected term of options (years) 4 4 5 6.4 
Weighted average share  
exercise price  $5,978 $6,044 €3,495 €1,350 
Weighted average share value $6,131 $6,360 €4,868 $4,999 

Model used 
Black–
Scholes

Black–
Scholes

Black–
Scholes

Hull–White 

 
Movements in the year 

 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price ('WAEP') of, and 
movement in, share options during the year: 
 

  2016 2015 2016  2015 
  No. No. WAEP WAEP
   EUR 
Outstanding on January 1 2,041 1,481 1,787  1,884 
   
Granted for the year - 560 -  1,532 
   
Outstanding on December 31 2,041 2,041 1,787  1,787 
   
Exercisable on December 31 1,650 1,339 1,764  1,693 

 
  It should be noted that during 2015 and 2016, following dividend distribution, all exercise prices 

in the above mentioned option plans were adjusted to reflect such change in TGI’s equity. 
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19. NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

A. Composition: 
 

 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
 Weighted interest 

rate as of %
€ in 

thousands 
Weighted interest 

rate as of % 
€ in 

thousands 
Banks:  
In EUR 3.2-5.8 95 6.4 5,589
In NIS  3.7-6.7 222 4-7 197
Others – in EUR 3.2-5.8 147 4.59 1,016
Others - In RMB (*) 12.5 111,232 12.5 100,667
Linked to other currencies 3.7-6.7 178 4-7 236
  
 111,874  107,705
Less:  
- Current maturities  (111,455)  (4,577)
- Long-term interest-bearing loans 
related to current inventory (**) -

 
(62,578)

  
 419  40,550

 
(*) On October 27, 2015, Kardan Land Dalian Ltd. (‘the Project Company’) entered into a framework 
agreement with the investment fund Shenzhen Ping An Da Hua Huitong Wealth Management Co., (‘the 
Fund‘) in China, with respect to a credit facility (the ‘Credit’) amounting up to RMB 1 billion 
(approximately €142 million) for the Europark Dalian project and to replace the bank loan at the time. 
In November 2015 the Project Company withdrew an amount of RMB 700 million (approximately €105 
million) from the Credit. The withdrawn funds was used, together with additional existing cash reserves, 
to repay the current project loan in full. In February 2016, additional RMB 100 million was withdrawn 
from the Credit. The Credit is for a period of 2 years from the date of the initial drawdown, which can 
be extended by one year with the mutual consent of both parties. The parties are negotiating the 
extension of the loan, and management of the Project Company is confident the loan will be extended.  
As of December 31, 2016 the loan balance is presented as current liability as such extension has not 
been signed yet.  
For additional information regarding collaterals and covenants, see Note 25A. 
 
(**) The amount presented as of December 31, 2015 relates to a long term loan that as of December 31, 
2016 presented entirely as current maturity. 
 
B. Maturities: 
 
  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015

 € in thousands
First year – current maturities  111,455  67,155 
Second year  272  40,002 
Third year  -  225 
Fourth year  -  219 
Fifth year  -  54 
Thereafter  147  50 

 111,874  107,705 
 
20. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  € in thousands
     
Site coverage and rehabilitation provision (*)  2,669  2,544
Deferred  revenues in China  833  -
Other  502  -

  4,004  2,544
(*) The movement in the year is due to foreign currency exchange differences.  
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT: OPTIONS AND WARRANTS 

  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  € in thousands
Liability to FIMI (1)  2,745  2,495
PUT option liability (2)  976  -
Share-base payment liability (3)  245  -

  3,966  2,495
 
(1) On September 10, 2015 TGI and the Company signed an amended agreement with FIMI (the 

’Amended Agreement‘) to replace existing agreements which were signed in 2010 (the 
’Agreements‘). According to the Amended Agreement, FIMI will be entitled to receive from TGI a 
cash consideration (and not the right to receive shares as stipulated in the previous warrant 
agreements) under the following conditions: 

 
 If an exit event occurs during the period from the date of signing of the Amended Agreement 

until July 31, 2021 (the ‘Exercise Period’) at a TGI company value of up to USD 173 million, 
FIMI will receive an amount USD 3 million (the ‘Basic Amount’) the Basic Amount is subject 
to adjustments in the event of investments in TGI or distribution of dividends by TGI, excluding 
distribution of dividends of up to a maximum of USD 27 million following the sale transaction 
of KWIG.  

 
 If an exit event occurs at a TGI company value which is higher than USD 173 million, FIMI 

will receive an amount of USD 3 million plus 8% of the difference between the value of the 
underlying transaction and the Basic Amount and up to a maximum amount of USD 7.5 million. 
 

 If no exit event occurred during the Exercise period FIMI will receive an amount of USD 0.5 
million. 

 
According to the Amended Agreement there will be no restrictions on TGI’s right to distribute 
dividends and/or to repay shareholder loans. Following signing the Amended Agreement, the 
Company and TGI signed an agreement whereby the Company undertakes towards TGI to bear 
payment to FIMI exceeding USD 0.5 million. 

The valuation of the liability was based on the estimates of management with regards to the 
probability of an exit event and value. 
 

(2) The Company entered into a PUT option agreement with a CEO of a subsidiary, according to which 
the Company granted the CEO an option to sell to the Company (following the employment 
termination date) all the shares which he will choose to exercise under his option agreement with 
the subsidiary. The exercise price of the PUT option will be determined based on the fair value of 
the option shares as of the date of the PUT notice. The value of the liability as of December 31, 
2016 amounts to €0.9 million.   

 
(3) The share base payment liability relating to phantom options as described in Note 18C. 
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22. DEBENTURES 

A. Composition: 
 

 Par value 
(net) as of 
December 

 Balance as 
of 

December 

Balance as 
of 

December 
Nominal 
Interest

Effective 
interest   Currency and

Maturities 

 31, 2016  31, 2016 31, 2015 rate rate  linkage principal
 € in thousands % %   
Issuer:      
The Company – 2007  160,993,886  47,232 85,760 6.325 7.05%  (1) 2017-2018
The Company – 2008  832,452,875  241,746 270,512 6.775 7.64%  (1) 2017-2020
   288,978  356,272       
   288,978  356,272       

 
(1) The Company’s Debentures (series A and series B) are traded on the TASE. The Debentures are 

denominated in NIS and are linked to the Israeli CPI. The amount presented above is net of 
Debentures held by the Company’s subsidiaries.  
 

(2) Debt settlement between the Company and its Debenture Holders 
In 2015 the Company reached a debt settlement with its Debenture Holders. The amended Deeds of 
Trust dated July 3, 2015  constitute new deeds of trust to series A and B and replace the original 
deeds of trust, including all related amendments (‘the Deeds of Trust’). This debt settlement 
postponed the debt repayment dates that were determined in the original deeds of trust while 
repaying the debt in full to the Debenture Holders. Below are the main principles of the Deeds of 
Trust.  

Series A: 
 
a. The principal payments (and linkage differences in respect thereof) which the Company 

originally would have had to pay on February 25, 2015 and February 25, 2016 were postponed 
to February 25, 2017 and February 25, 2018, respectively. 

 
b. No changes occurred in the interest payment dates (except the February 2015 interest payment). 

The interest set in the original deed of trust was increased by 1.875%, so that the principal of 
Debentures Series A bears an annual nominal interest rate of 6.325%, payable once a year, on 
February 25 of each year from 2016 up to and including 2018. 

 
Series B: 

 
a. The principal payments (and linkage differences in respect thereof) which the Company 

originally would have had to pay on February 1, 2015-2018 were postponed by 24 months, 
excluding the principal payments of 2019 and 2020, which remained unchanged (and grew, due 
to the postponement of the principal payments of this series from 2017 and 2018 to 2019 and 
2020).  

 
b. No changes occurred in the interest payment dates (except the February 2015 interest payment). 

The interest set in the deed of trust was increased by 1.875%, so that the principal of Debentures 
Series B bears an annual nominal interest rate of 6.775%, payable once a year, on February 1 of 
each year from 2016 up to and including 2020. 

 

Pledges and guarantees in favor of the Debentures holders 
The Company committed to establish and register primary, exclusive pledges with no limitations of 
amounts over all of the Group's interests in GTC RE, KLC, KFS, TGI, EMERGING (the ‘Pledged 
Subsidiaries’), including all benefits which will emanate from these interests and all the rights of 
the Group in loans granted to the Pledged Subsidiaries. As long as the aforesaid pledges have not 
been exercised the Company shall be allowed to use the benefits derived from these interests and 
from loan repayments. Issuance or sale of shares in the Pledged Subsidiaries will be used to early 
repay the Debentures. 
Most of the aforesaid pledges were established and registered as of December 31, 2016.  
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In addition, the Company established in favor of the trustees primary exclusive pledges with no 
limitations of amounts over the bank accounts of the Company (‘the Pledged Accounts’). All the 
funds in the Company’s possession, were deposited and kept in the Pledged Accounts, excluding 
the Free Amount (‘Free Amount‘ signifies  a maximum of €3 million, which will serve for the 
payment of the Company's general and administrative expenses), which will not be pledged in favor 
of the trustees and which can be deposited in a bank account which is not pledged in favor of the 
trustees. Insofar the said pledge has not been exercised, the Company may use the funds freely. 
 
In addition, to secure the Company’s commitments, KLC provided a guarantee in favor of the 
trustees limited to an amount of €100 million which will expire upon meeting the Relief Conditions 
as detailed below. The trustees will not be able to use the guarantee or to take any action against 
KLC as long as the construction loan to the Dalian project has not been fully repaid, as well as loans 
that will be obtained, if obtained, in relation to the Dalian project. 
 
Financial Covenants 
The Company’s debt coverage ratio shall not be below 100% during the years 2015 till 2017 
(including), and shall not be below 120% from 2018 onwards. The coverage ratio is the total value 
of the assets according to the Company’s stand-alone financial statements divided by the total stand-
alone liabilities of the Company, net of certain amounts as detailed in the Deeds of Trust. If the 
Company's coverage ratio in the years 2015-2017 shall be lower than 110%, and as of 2018 – lower 
than 130%, KLC's coverage ratio shall not be lower than 180%. 

 
Additional provisions 
Some additional provisions have been established to guarantee the rights of the Debenture Holders 
including: provisions which regulate the early repayment of debt to the Debenture Holders from 
sources which will become available to the Company, restrictions on dividend distribution, 
limitations on general and administrative expenses of the Company and payments to controlling 
shareholders, restrictions on specific new investments, various restrictions on raising credit and the 
right to appoint a director on behalf of the debenture holders to the Company’s board of the directors 
and KLC’s board. In addition the approval by both general meetings of the Debenture Holders (by 
a regular majority or a special one as the case may be) will be required before certain actions, 
including transferring of the control in the Company and transactions with controlling shareholders. 
It was also agreed that the Company may retain certain amounts, prior to an early repayment, for 
general and administrative expenses, interest payment to the debenture holders, as well as for 
supporting its subsidiaries.  

 
Restrictions on business activities 
It was agreed that the Company and GTC RE shall not initiate any new business activity, shall not 
make any new investments and shall not be allowed to raise any new credit (unless it is subordinated 
to the Debentures). 
 
KFS and any company under its control shall not be allowed to enter into new business activities 
except for the ones detailed in the Deeds of Trust. KFS shall not be allowed to make any new 
investments, however any corporation under their control shall be allowed to invest in existing and 
new projects in its area of operations, provided that the source of the funds is the ongoing operations 
of such corporation. KFS shall not be allowed to raise any credit, except for short term credit that 
will be taken from a corporation under their control in an aggregate amount not exceeding €5 
million. Any corporation under its control shall be allowed to obtain unlimited credit, for the purpose 
of its business activity subject to the conditions detailed in the Deeds of Trust. 

 
KLC and any corporation under its control shall not be allowed to enter into new business activities 
or to invest in new projects or activities even if they are within the current area of operations. In 
addition, KLC shall not expand the Dalian Project, and the Lucky Hope joint venture companies 
shall not initiate or develop any new projects beyond the existing projects which will be developed 
on the land plots they currently own. Proceeds from the sale of assets owned by KLC or companies 
under its control shall serve only for that project. Unless approved by a 66% majority by each of the 
meetings of the debenture holders of the two series, KLC or any entity under its control shall not be 
allowed to raise credit except under the certain limitations which are detailed in the Deeds of Trust. 
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TGI and TGA or any entity under their control (except TG and entities under its control) shall not 
be allowed to enter into new business activities except for those detailed in the Deeds of Trust. They 
can make investments and obtain credit insofar the source of the investments is from the operating 
activities of any of the entities controlled by TGI; and the securities for such credit will be provided 
by TGI and entities under its control and not by other Group companies. 
 
Relief Conditions  
Upon meeting both of the following conditions: (1) Repayment (taking into account repurchase of 
Debentures which would be done after the date of completion of the Final Settlement) of 55% of 
the par value of the Debentures (which are not owned by the Company or its subsidiaries) as of 
December 31, 2014; and (2) the coverage ratio of the Company calculated according to the 
Company's most recent stand-alone financial statements (quarterly or annual, according to the date), 
will stand at more than 180% ('Relief Conditions'), all the restrictions on purchase of Debentures by 
the Company or any corporation under its control will be removed, the Free Amount will increase 
to €6 million, pledges over TGI or KFS (or both) will be revoked, provided that the coverage ratio 
calculated using the remaining pledged assets after the revocation of said pledges and the Company's 
debt shall be at least 180%, restrictions on the business activities of subsidiaries as described above 
will be revoked, restriction on dividend distribution will be revoked (distribution will be allowed 
after the Company will repay 75% of the par value of the Debentures) and the right to appoint a 
board member on behalf of the Debenture Holders will be cancelled. In addition, after the Relief 
Conditions have been met the Company shall be obligated to repay only 35% of the funds received 
from disposal of certain assets (as detailed in the Deeds of Trust). 

 
Accounting 
The Company examined the changes in the terms of Debentures series A and B in accordance with 
IAS 39 provisions for substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability. The 
Company concluded, based on its examination that the modified terms are not substantially different 
than the existing terms of the debentures prior to signing the Amended Deeds of Trust, and therefore 
it is not regarded an extinguishment.  Accordingly, the debt settlement would be accounted for as 
of July 3, 2015 by an adjustment of the effective interest rate resulted from the modification of the 
interest rate and the issuance of shares and one-time payment. Such adjustment shall not result in 
recognition of profit or loss from the modification of the terms. The effective interest of the series 
A debentures and the series B debentures post settlement amounts to 7.05% and 7.64% respectively. 

 
(3) Early repayments 

 
On July 24, September 2, and November 14, 2016 the Company early repaid the total amount of 
principal which was due to be repaid in February 2017 for both series A and series B debentures 
amounting to approximately €86.4 million and accumulated interest of approximately €17.7 million 
to Debenture Holders series A and series B (net of the relative portion of debentures held by the 
Company’s subsidiaries). The total repayment amounted to approximately €104.1 million 
(approximately NIS 439 million). 
 
On March 31, 2015 the Company early repaid principal amounting to approximately €6.7 million, 
additionally the Company paid the interest deferred to August 2015 in the amount of approximately 
€18.7 million to Debenture Holders series A and series B. The total repayment amounted to 
approximately €25.4 million. 

 
(4) Kardan N.V. Debentures held by subsidiaries 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s subsidiaries hold NIS 136,506,115 par value Debentures 
Series A (which represent 45.9% of the outstanding par value of Debentures Series A) and NIS 
120,381,443 par value Debentures Series B (which represent 12.6% of the outstanding par value of 
Debentures Series B). 

 
(5) For details regarding covenants and pledges, please refer to the above and Note 25. 
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Maturities: 
 
  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  € in thousands
Second year  109,281  101,296
Third year  95,790  95,520
Fourth year  83,907  84,998
Fifth year  -  74,458

Total  288,978  356,272

  
 

23. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 Weighted  December  Weighted  December

 annual interest   
rate 

 31, 2016  annual interest   
rate 

 31, 2015

 %  € in thousands  %  € in thousands
Short-term credit from   
In EUR   3.2-5.8 2,623 -  -
In USD 3.7 11,590 -  -
Other 4.5 1,148 6.5  1,295
  15,361   1,295
Long-term interest-bearing 
loans related to current 
inventory  (*) 

  

-  

  

62,578

Current maturities:        
Loans (see Note 19)   111,455    4,575
  126,816   68,448

 
(*) The amount presented as of December 31, 2015 relates to a long term loan that as of December 31 
2016 presented entirely as current maturity. 
 
Collateral – see Note 25. 
 
24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 

  December  December

  31, 2016  31, 2015

 € in thousands
Financial:     
Accrued expenses  38,859  63,725
Payroll and related expenses  5,325  7,521
Payable to joint ventures in China accounted using the equity method  11,574  11,920
Claw back liability  -  4,000
Liability regarding share-based payment  -  117
Derivatives  -  36
Other   5,264  8,803

     
Non-Financial:     
Advances from customers  15,814  17,102
VAT payable  7  332 
Unearned revenues  -  949
Other   1,231  1,431

  78,074  115,936
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25.  LIENS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

A. Financial covenants, Liens and collaterals:  
 

1. Financial Covenants  

For the year 2016 and as of December 31, 2016 all Group companies met their financial covenants, 
which are described below:  

 
(a) The Company committed to maintain certain financial covenants within the framework of the 

Deeds of Trust, as described in Note 22 above. 
(b) TGI Group committed towards banks, with respect to long-term and short-term loans, credit 

facilities and guarantees, to maintain certain financial covenants such as minimum equity and 
EBITDA, the ratio of equity to total assets, the ratio of equity to net debt and the ratio of 
financial debt to total assets. Furthermore some restrictions relating to dividend distribution 
were imposed on TCE (an indirectly fully owned subsidiary of TGI).    

(c) KLC Group committed towards a financial institution which granted a construction loan 
amounting to up to RMB 1 billion, to meet an initial loan-to-value ratio of not more than 50%. 
 

2. Pledges 
(a) Within the framework of the Amended Deeds of Trust, as described in Note 22 above, the 

Company pledged in favor of the trustees of the debenture holders of the Company all its rights 
in shares and loans of the subsidiaries GTC RE, EI 12, TGI and KFS, certain bank accounts, 
and the Company’s debentures held by the subsidiaries GTC RE and EI 12. Additional pledges, 
as described in Note 22, are in process of being established. 

(b) As of December 31, 2016 long-term loans amounting to €109.5 million granted to a subsidiary 
of KLC was secured by mortgages over investment property, inventory and trade receivables. 

(c) Within the framework of the sale of TBIF, KFS undertook to indemnify the buyer for costs and 
damages which might occur under circumstances which have been specifically detailed in the 
share purchase agreement, including a breach of the customary representations and warranties 
given by KFS. Accordingly, KFS has deposited an amount of € 6 million for a period of two 
years and pledged this in favor of the buyer as collateral for the indemnification, which amount 
will be reduced to € 5 million after one year.  
 

3. Guarantees: 
(a) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, TGI provided bank guarantees in an aggregated amount 

of approximately €43.3 million and €27.1 million, respectively, in favor of customers in respect 
of advances received from them for projects and for performing works.  

(b) A subsidiary of TGI, TCE, is a guarantor by an irrevocable guarantee for the fulfillment of its 
subsidiary’s obligations by means of placing the subsidiary’s real estate properties as securities, 
or in any means as it will be agreed from time to time. 

(c) As at December 31, 2016, Kardan Land China provided guarantees of €9,150 thousand 
(December 31, 2015 - €6,761 thousand) in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain 
banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Kardan Land China 
Group’s properties, which were not provided for in the financial statements. Pursuant to the 
terms of the guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the 
expiry of the guarantees, the Kardan Land China Group is responsible for repaying the 
outstanding mortgage principals and interest to the banks. 

Kardan Land China guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage 
loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which 
will generally be available within one to two years after the purchasers take possession of the 
relevant properties. The fair value of the guarantees is not significant. The management of 
Kardan Land China considers that in the case of default on payments, the net realizable value 
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals 
together with the accrued interest and penalties and therefore no provision has been made in 
the financial statements for the guarantees. 
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(d)  The Company provided a performance guarantee in favor of the Dutch Government (via 
Atradius Dutch State Business NV), the body securing the loan agreement between the 
Government of Angola and a commercial bank ("the Insurer"), regarding financing of a Tahal 
Group project in Quiminha ("the Lender"). In accordance with the said guarantee, Kardan NV 
secured Tahal Group's liabilities towards the Insurer to pay sums which the Insurer will pay the 
Lender in case of a breach by Tahal Group of the provisions of the commercial agreement 
between Tahal Group and the customer in the aforementioned project. Kardan NV's said 
guarantee is for the payments that have been paid and/or will be paid to Tahal Group in 
accordance with the milestones set by the project. Kardan NV's Performance Guarantee with 
respect to the project entered into force, the balance of which is € 98.8 million as of December 
31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 € 93 million). 

(e) In relation to KFS’s undertaking towards the buyer of TBIF as described above, the Company 
has guaranteed the due and punctual performance of each obligation of KFS contained in the 
share purchase agreement.  

(f) With respect to such guarantees provided in joint ventures companies, refer to Note 9. 
 

4. Legal claims and contingencies: 
(a) The Company and its main subsidiaries do not have any material legal claims, except as 

described below. 

(b) From time to time, Kardan Land China is involved in discussions with customers relating to 
the fulfillment of certain contractual obligations. To the extent there are gaps between the 
current performance of KLC and the relevant terms in the underlying agreements, these gaps 
may expose KLC to risks which may result in future cash out flows. As of the date of issuance 
of these financial statements, none such discussions resulted in legal claims being lodged or 
asserted and management of KLC concluded that the exposure to such risks is, in most cases, 
remote, and when the exposure is assessed to be between remote and probable, it is not 
practicable to estimate the related amount. Consequently, no provision is included in the 
accounts in respect of any such risks.  

 
5. Commitments: 

(a) With respect to commitments towards the debenture holders of the Company as outlined in the 
Amended Deeds of Trust, refer to Note 22. 

(b) As of December 31, 2016 Kardan Land China Group had commitments of €3.1 million 
(December 31, 2015: €7 million) principally relating to the property development cost of the 
construction projects of the KLC Group.    

(c) On May 2, 2016 a Cooperation Framework was signed between the TGI and ZRB Consulting 
Finance & Development Limited (‘ZRB’), in which the parties agreed to fully cooperate in 
Angola in any future project/activity for any project and activity from January 1, 2016 to 
December 31, 2020  
According to the cooperation agreement: (1) All projects in Angola will be managed jointly by 
Tahal and ZRB; (2) Tahal has the right to acquire majority in voting by means of purchasing a 
casting vote, in a case of deadlock in relation to management decisions and relating to all 
aspects of the cooperation, without change in its rights to profits and for a payment of USD 1 
million. 

(d) On October 13, 2016 TGI signed together with its partner, ZRB, a project agreement regarding 
the operation and management of a large scale agricultural project in the Quiminha area in 
Angola. The agreement was signed for a period of 7 years, with an extension option for an 
additional 5 years. The expected revenues from the Project are USD 370 million which will be 
recognized by Tahal Group throughout the 7 year period. The parties commenced the Project 
immediately and first revenues were recognized in the fourth quarter of 2016 and had an 
immaterial effect on the Group’s results.   

(e) With respect of commitments relating to Joint Venture companies, refer to Note 9.   

B. Operating lease commitments: 
  
1. Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 

KLC Group has entered into various operational lease contracts with tenants related to its property 
portfolio. The commercial property leases typically have lease terms between 2 and 20 years and 
include clauses to enable periodically upward revision of the rental charge according to prevailing 
market conditions. Some leases contain options to break before the end of the lease terms.  
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Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 
2016 and 2015: 

 
  2016  2015 

  € in thousands

First year  3,309  3,090 

Second to fifth year  12,075  13,281 

After the fifth Year  11,130  11,139 

  26,514  27,510 

 
2. Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 

(a) TGI Group companies have entered into commercial operating lease agreements on 
commercial vehicles. These leases have an average life of three years with no renewal option 
included in the contracts. The annual rentals total approximately €0.9 million (2015 - €0.6 
million).  

(b) TGI Group companies have entered into operating lease agreements with respect of office 
buildings rental. Future minimum rentals payables under non-cancellable operating leases as 
of December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

  
  2016  2015 

  € in thousands

First year  2,410  2,366 

Second to fifth year  8,080  6,356 

After the fifth Year  5,240  500 

  15,730  9,222 

 
(c) With respect to b above, one of the buildings was sub-leased to a third party under an operating 

lease agreement for a period of eight years. Future minimum rentals payables under non-
cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

 
  2016  2015 

  € in thousands

First year  1,550  1,334 

Second to fifth year  4,424  5,334 

After the fifth Year  -  556 

  5,974  7,224 

 
 
(d) KLC leases various offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms 

are between 1 and 3 years, and the majority are renewable at market rate.  The total commitment 
as of December 31, 2016 amounts to €0.4 million (December 31, 2015 - €0.8 million). 
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26. OPERATING SEGMENTS  

A. General: 
 
The Group's operating businesses are organized and managed separately. Each segment represents a 
strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. The segmentation 
was determined by the Company's CODM – the CEO. The Group's operating businesses included the 
operations of consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. Each group company is assessed 
based on its sector of operations, asset base, country and contribution to the Company and to the Group. 
 
Following the sale of TBIF in 2016 and KWIG in 2015 (for additional information see Note 5B), the 
Company’s CODM re-examined the operating segments. In the past, the results of TBIF and the results 
of KWIG were the Company’s main activities included in ‘Banking and Retail lending’ and 
‘Infrastructure - Assets’ segments, respectively. Following the sales of these subsidiaries, the Group is 
substantially no longer active in the ‘Banking and Retail lending’ and ’Infrastructure-Assets’ segments. 
The results of TBIF and KWIG have been presented as discontinued operation and thus no longer form 
a reportable operating segment. The comparative information has been amended accordingly. 
 
The CODM examines the various segment performance in terms of various line of activity (real estate 
and water infrastructure) on the basis of the segment revenues, other income including adjustment to 
fair value of investment property, capital gains, impairments of goodwill and equity earnings as well 
as on the basis of the segment results which are based on the total revenues net of cost of sale, selling 
and marketing expenses and general and administration expenses.       
 
 
Real Estate  
The real estate activities are incorporated under GTC RE and currently include real estate in China. In 
its real estate operations, the Group is primarily engaged in development and sale of residential 
property and development and lease of commercial properties.  
 
Water Infrastructure  
The water infrastructure activities are incorporated under TGI Group. 
Through its affiliates, TGI Group undertakes engineering, consulting and planning projects in Latin 
America, Eastern Europe, Africa, China, Israel and in other countries, mainly relating to the 
environment, water, sewage, drainage, irrigation, energy and agriculture. 
 
The Group's operating segments are fully independent. Allocated segment assets and liabilities are 
those directly linked to the segment activities in the operating companies. In most cases assets and 
liabilities of the holding companies are considered unallocated. 

 
 
B. Segments results  

 
For the year ended December 31, 2016: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Real Estate 

Asia
Water 

Infrastructure Other Total 
  In €’000
Revenue   8,536 129,695 2,572 140,803 
Other expense (*)  (81) (647) (91) (819) 
    
Total Income  8,455 129,048 2,481 139,984 
    
Segment result  (7,815) 6,268 655 (892) 
    
Unallocated expenses   (3,756) 
Loss from operations and share in profit of investment accounted using the
equity method before finance expenses, net  (4,648) 
Finance expenses, net      (49,225) 
    

Loss before income tax   (53,873) 
Income tax benefit    1,060 

Loss from continuing operations   (52,813) 
Profit from discontinued operations  21,487 
    

Loss for the period   
(31,326) 
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For the year ended December 31, 2015: 
 

  
Real Estate 

Asia 
 Water 

Infrastructure Other Total
 
  In €’000
Revenue  6,726  167,861 (715) 173,872
Other income (expense) (*)  23,954  (1,241) 880 23,593
    
Total Income  30,680  166,620 165 197,465
    
Segment result  13,648  6,378 (3,014) 17,012
    
Unallocated expenses    (5, 208 )
Gain from operations and share in profit of investment accounted using the equity
method before finance expenses, net 11,930 

Finance expenses, net   (64,913)
    

Profit before income tax    (52,983)
Income tax expenses    (6,493)

Profit from continuing 
operations 

   
(59,476)

Profit from discontinued operations  36,518
   

Loss for the period   (22,958)

 
For the year ended December 31, 2014: 
 

  
Real Estate 

Asia 
 Water 

Infrastructure Other Total
 
  In €’000
Revenue  51,957  142,794 (409) 194,342
Other income (expense) (*)  32,861  (690) 668 32,839
    
Total Income  84,818  142,104 259 227,181
    
Segment result  28,390  8,987 (1,988) 35,389
    
Unallocated expenses    (6,075)
Gain from operations and share in profit of investment accounted using the equity
method before finance expenses, net 29,314 

Finance expenses, net   (19,739)
    

Loss before income tax    9,575
Income tax expenses    (12,969)

Loss from continuing operations    (3,394)
Profit from discontinued operations  8,456
   

Loss for the period   5,062

 
(*) Other income/expense includes fair value adjustments of investment property, equity earnings, gains from 
disposal of assets and investments and other adjustments. 
 
 
C. Segments assets 

 
  December 31 
 2016  2015

 € in thousands 
Real Estate – Asia 469,982  488,944 

Banking and Retail Lending (*)  -  294,382 

Water infrastructure  155,536  143,504 

Others  -  40 

  625,518  926,870 

Discontinued operation   -  24,760 

Unallocated assets (**)  39,849  24,112 

  665,367  975,742 

 
(*)   Following the sale of TBIF in August 2016 the Company does not present this segment (see A 
above). 
(**) Most unallocated assets relate to cash balances at the level of the holding companies and as of 
December 31, 2016 also include assets of the former ‘Banking and Retail Lending’ segment. 
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D. Segments liabilities 
 

  December 31 
 2016  2015

 € in thousands 
Real estate – Asia  215,754  198,651

Banking and Retail Lending (*)  -  210,815

Water infrastructure  111,671  102,156

  327,425  511,622

Unallocated liabilities (**)  296,759  388,182

 624,184  899,804

  
(*)   Following the sale of TBIF in August 2016 the Company does not present this segment (see A 
above).  
(**) Most unallocated liabilities relate to financing at the level of the holding companies. 
 
E. Information about geographical areas: 

 
(1) Revenues by geographical markets (according to location of customers): 
 
  For the year ended 

December 31, 

   2016  2015  2014 
  € in thousands
China   8,536  6,726  51,953 
Bulgaria and Romania  2,572  566  19,280 
Israel  47,595  39,235  21,410 
Other  82,100  127,345  101,687 

  140,803  173,872  194,330 
 
The Company doesn’t have any income generating activity in the Netherlands. 
 
(2) Non-current assets by geographical areas (according to location of assets): 
 
 December December

  31, 2016 31, 2015

 € in thousands
China  243,035 253,293
Bulgaria and Romania - 11,737
Israel  11,441 10,321
Other 5,830 5,486

 
Non-current assets include investment properties, goodwill and intangible assets and property plant and 
equipment. 
The Company doesn’t have non-current assets in the Netherlands. 
 
(3) Revenues from major customers, responsible for more than 10% of the revenues: 

  For the year ended 
December 31 

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 
       
Customer A - water infrastructure  23,052  34,780  21,688
Customer B - water infrastructure  21,320  7,763  -

  44,372  42,543  21,688

 
 
  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

74 

27. CONTRACT REVENUES 

A. Contract revenues: 
 

  For the year ended December 31

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Revenue from construction projects 98,517 135,235  106,009
Revenue from planning projects  25,770  27,987  29,860 
Other 5,378 4,639  6,925

  129,665  167,861  142,794 

 
B. Cost of contract revenues: 

 
  For the year ended December 31

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Payroll and related expenses 20,065 23,621  29,648  
Subcontracted work (including equipment)  61,718 94,697  58,371  
Changes in inventory of finished goods   3,370  2,092  3,496  
Depreciation expenses 1,632 1,428  1,746  
Materials 10,878 9,035  9,062  
Other expenses  10,949  11,057  16,102 

  108,612  141,930  118,425 

 
28. OTHER EXPENSES, NET 

  For the year ended December 31

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Cost of asset management services  4,128 2,616  2,600
Other expenses, net  1,427 4,462  3,171

  5,555  7,078  5,771 

 
29.  SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

   For the year ended December 31

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 
Payroll and related expenses 3,428 3,898  3,307
Commissions  31  317  195
Marketing and advertising  2,020  2,152  1,160
Other  2,648  3,596  3,530
   
  8,127  9,963  8,192
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30.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

  For the year ended December 31 

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Payroll and related expenses (*) 11,211 13,941  10,643
Share-based payment (see Note 18) 593  1,039  805
Management fees 1,200  681  2,171
Office maintenance 2,374  2,367  1,906
Professional fees 2,652  2,970  2,988
Depreciation and amortization 177  462  238
Other 1,962  2,742  2,500

  
  20,169  24,202  21,251

 
(*) Payroll and related expenses are as follows: 
 
  For the year ended December 31 

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Wages and salaries 9,364 12,451  9,574
Unemployment contributions 309  348  598
Other social expenses 1,538  1,142  471

  
  11,211  13,941  10,643

 
Payroll and related expenses are also included in the income statement under various expense categories. 
 
31. GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS AND OTHER INCOME 

  For the year ended December 31

  2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Gain (loss) on disposal of investment in companies 
(1) 

 
(1,734)  -  16,768

Gain (loss) from sale of fixed assets   460  (423)  -
Other   174  426  498

  (1,100)  3  17,268 

 
(1) In 2016, relates to revaluation of the remaining mortgage activity in light of its disposal (see Note 5B). In 

2014, mainly relates to gain from the disposal of an investment.  
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32. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

  For the year ended December 31

 2016  2015  2014

  € in thousands 

Income:       

Income from bank deposits  321  1,147  432
Revaluation of warrant  -  -  329
Income from interest bearing loans to associates  686  202  -
Exchange differences, net  -  -  874 
Other   162  169  426

  
Total financing income  1,169  1,518  2,061

       

Expenses:       

Interest on long-term loans and borrowings 13,182  13,497  2,949
Interest on debentures  19,990  24,126  17,290
Exchange differences, net 16,016  25,193  -
Devaluation of warrant 236  -  -
Other 970  3,615  1,560

Total financing expenses  50,394  66,431  21,799

 
33. TAXES ON INCOME  

A. The Company has its statutory seat in the Netherlands, and therefore is subject to taxation according 
to the Dutch law. 
 
For 2016 and 2015, the standard Dutch corporate income tax rate amounts to 25%. A tax rate of 
20% applies to the first € 200,000 of taxable income. 
 
Dutch Participation Exemption  
 
The Company benefits from the Dutch Participation Exemption regime (“Participation 
Exemption”). The Participation Exemption exempts income, such as dividends, capital gains, but 
also capital losses realized with respect to a qualifying participation, held by a Dutch shareholder.  

 
Interest deduction limitation rule regarding Participation Debt  

 
The Company might be subject to an interest deduction limitation rule, aimed on the limitation of 
the deduction of “Excessive Interest” expenses allocated to “Participation Debt” from the Dutch 
taxable profit (section 13L CITA). Based on this rule both intercompany and third party interest 
relating to debt that is deemed to be used to finance participations on which the Dutch Participation 
Exemption applies (Participation Debt) is not deductible. The amount of Participation Debt is 
determined based on a mathematical formula. This rule applies only if the amount of non-deductible 
Excessive Interest expenses exceeds € 750,000. 
 
It is noted that certain exceptions exist. The impact of Section 13L CITA can be limited if and to 
the extent that the interest held in an operational participation can be considered an expansion of the 
operational activities of the group (‘expansion investment escape’). Also a grandfathering rule 
applies for participations held by the Dutch tax payer on or before 1 January 2006. 
 
In December 2013 the Company has filed a ruling request with the Dutch Tax Authorities 
regarding the (non-)applicability of Section 13L CITA for 2013 and further years. The Dutch Tax 
Authorities followed the position taken in the 2013 tax return of the Company that the deduction 
of interest expenses should not be limited pursuant to Section 13L CITA. 
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Substance requirement regulations  
 

The Company might be subject to substance requirement regulations for companies engaged in 
inter-company financing and/or licensing activities. Dutch companies that claim the benefits of a 
tax treaty or EU Directive should now declare in their annual Dutch corporate income tax return 
whether the tax payer meets a defined set of substance requirements. If one or more of these 
requirements are not met and if the company has claimed treaty benefits, the Dutch Tax Authorities 
notify the foreign tax authorities. 
 
The Company has analyzed the impact of the new substance requirement regulations and concluded 
that these do not apply to the Company and its Dutch group companies. 

 
New transfer pricing documentation requirements 
 
As per 2016, additional transfer pricing documentation requirements have been introduced for 
Dutch tax payers that are part of a multinational group. These revised standards consist of: 

 a “Master file” containing high-level information regarding the Company’s global business 
operations and transfer pricing policies; and 

 a specific “Local file” containing information regarding material related party transactions 
and the company's analysis of the transfer pricing determinations; and 

 a Country-by-Country Reporting (“CbCR”) template containing aggregate information 
relating to the amount of revenue, profit (loss) before income tax, income tax paid and 
accrued, number of employees, stated capital, accumulated earnings and tangible assets other 
than cash or cash equivalents per entity in each jurisdiction in which the group operates. 

Although the Company is not required to submit the CbCR template regarding financial year 2016 
to the Dutch Tax Authorities, it has the obligation to prepare a Master file and Local file before 
filing of the 2016 corporate income tax return. The Company is currently in the process of preparing 
a Master file and Local file. 

 
 

B. The statutory corporate income tax rates in the main various countries were as follows: 
 

 Tax rate

Country 2016       2015

Bulgaria 10% 10%

China 25% 25%

Hong-Kong 16.5% 16.5%

Israel 25% 26.5%

Romania  16% 16%

The Netherlands  20-25% 20-25%

 
 

C. Tax presented in the consolidated income statement is broken down as follows: 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 

  2016 2015  2014

 € in thousands 

Current taxes  3,522 2,368  6,131 

Tax expenses related to previous years  135 610  1,537 

Deferred taxes (see also E below)  (4,717) 3,515  5,301 

  (1,060) 6,493  12,969 

 
 
 
 
 
  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

78 

D. The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by 
the applicable tax rate is as follows: 
 
  For the year ended December 31, 

  2016 2015  2014 

  € in thousands 

Accounting profit (loss)  (53,873) (52,983)  9,575 

Tax expense (tax benefit) computed at the statutory
tax rate 25% 

 
(13,468) (13,246)  2,394 

Increase (decrease) in tax expense (tax benefit)
due to: 

 
    

Carry forwards tax losses for which no deferred tax
assets were recognized 

 
9,600 15,403  6,591 

Adjustment in respect to tax of previous years  135 610  1,537 
Share of results of investments accounted using the
equity method  

 
(717) (666)  (1,678) 

Non-deductible expenses and others, net  2,347 883  1,096 
Impact of different tax rates  842 3,685  1,637 
Other  201 (176)  1,392 (*)

  (1,060) 6,493  12,969 

 
(*) Relates mainly to land tax in China. 
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E. Composition of deferred taxes 
 
 
 

Consolidated statement of 
financial position  Recorded in the income statement 

 Movement 
 December  December  for the year ended December 31,
 31, 2016  31, 2015  2016 

(*)
 2015 

(*)  2014 

 € in thousands  € in thousands 

Deferred income tax assets 
(deferred tax liabilities) with 
respect to: 

         

Investment properties  (12,124)  (13,156)  (646)  5,227  2,215
Financial instruments -  (3,178)  -  (74)  5,613
Temporary differences in reserves and 
allowances 

-
 

195
 

-
 

40 
 

440

Carry forwards losses available for 
offset against future taxable income 

8,723

 
4,555

 
)3,807(

 
926 

 
127

Differences in measurement basis 1,417  (2,279)  785  (185)  (132)
Timing differences of projects (965)  2,390  (1,039)  (310)  - 
Non-current assets eliminated for 
rendering of service among group 
companies 

-

 

-

 

- 

 

- 

 

99

Other 638  629  (10)  (2,143)  (273)

 (2,311)  (10,844)  (4,717)  3,481  8,089

 
(*) In 2016 and 2015 the difference between the movements in the deferred taxes in table E to the 
tax expenses in table C are mostly due to discontinued operation (see Note 5B).  
 

 Tax presented in the consolidated statement of financial position is broken down as follows: 
 
  December 31, 

  2016  2015

  € in thousands 

Net deferred income tax asset  2,452  3,065 

Net deferred income tax liability  (4,763)  (13,909) 

 (2,311)  (10,844)

 
F. Losses carry-forwards and final tax assessments 

 
Under the 2010 Dutch Tax legislation the carry back of losses is restricted to one year and furthermore 
the carry forward of losses is restricted to nine years. The accumulated unused tax losses as at 
December 31, 2016 of Kardan NV company-only amount to €273.9 million (according to the filed 
2015 tax return, net of tax losses evaporated in 2016). The tax losses expire as follows: €14.9 million 
– in 2017, €17.5 million in 2018, €85.5 million in 2019, €29.1 million in 2020, €41.1 million in 2022, 
€24.1 million in 2023 and €61.7 million in 2024. 
The Company received final tax assessments up to and including the year 2013. The Company does 
not expect the year 2016 to result with a tax liability. The Company has not recorded any deferred tax 
assets for these losses. 

 
 
 
 

  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2016 
 

80 

34. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year, less the weighted average number of treasury shares. 
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent, after adjusting for interests on convertible shares of the Company and 
Group companies, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during (less the 
weighted average number of treasury shares) the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary 
shares, adjusted for the effects of dilutive options and dilutive convertible Debentures of the Company 
and of Group companies.  

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations: 

 

  2016  2015  2014 
  € in thousands 
Net profit (loss) attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent (€ in thousands)  

 
(52,813) (22,915)  5,091 

Effect of dilution of earnings of group companies  (10)  (231)  (98) 

  (52,823)  (23,146)  4,993 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
basic earnings per share (in thousands) 

 
123,022 

 
116,429 

 
110,754 

Effect of dilution:       
Shares options  -  -  - 

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary
shares for diluted earnings per share 

 
123,022 

 
116,429 

 
110,754 

 
Certain warrants, employee options and convertibles issued by the Group were excluded from the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share as they did not result in a dilutive effect (‘out of the money’) 
as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. 
 
To calculate earnings per share amounts for discontinued operations, the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for both basic and diluted amounts is as per the table above. The profit used is €21,487 
thousand, €36,518 thousand and €8,456 thousand for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT  

A. Introduction 
 
This Note deals with various disclosures required by IFRS 7 pertaining to risk management. Section B 
covers the Group as a whole and addresses the following: 
 

1) Risk Management (financial and capital risk management and structuring thereof); 
2) Market risk; 
3) Price risk; 
4) Political risk; 
5) Credit risks; 
6) Interest rate risk including sensitivity analysis; 
7) Liquidity risk including maturity profile of financial assets, liabilities and guarantees; 
8) Foreign currency risk including sensitivity analysis; 
9) Fair value disclosures. 

 
 
B. The Kardan Group 
 
1) Risk management 
 
Financial risk management 
The Group's principle financial instruments comprise of bank loans, Debentures, receivables and cash 
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group's operations. The 
Group has various other financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise 
directly from its operations. 
 
The operations of the Group expose it to various financial risks, e.g. market risk (including currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. On occasions, the Group 
employs derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swap transactions, to hedge certain 
exposures to risks.  
 
The current instability in the global financial markets, affecting the worldwide economic development, 
could have consequences for the future results of the Group, its equity base, the value of its assets, its 
ability to comply with the covenants agreed upon with lenders, its ability to raise financing, as well as 
the terms of such financing and collection risks. 
 
Management is closely monitoring the financial position of the Group. Reference is made to Note 1 for 
additional information. 
 
Kardan Group is predominantly active in emerging markets. In its operations the Group is therefore 
inherently exposed to a relatively high degree of entrepreneurial, geopolitical and legal risks in these 
markets which, by nature, have a different risk profile than developed markets. Moreover, particularly 
in the real estate market in which it operates, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in supply and demand.  
 
In their regular business updates, the boards of directors (as applicable) of the various Group companies 
provide overall risk-management principles and specific measures with respect to certain risks to which 
they are exposed to the Board of Kardan, e.g. exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and use 
of derivative financial instruments.  
 
Capital risk management 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure capital preservation and maintain 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business activities, optimize stakeholder value and monitor 
the status of existing covenants. Each Group company considers its equity to be its capital.  
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, according to changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group decides on leverage policy, repayment 
of loans, investment or divestment of assets, dividend policy and the need, if any, to issue new shares 
or Debentures. 
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For additional information regarding the capital risk management with respect to the Company’s 
liquidity position and uncertainties, see Note 1.  
 
Risk management structuring 
The Board of Kardan N.V. and of each Group company is ultimately responsible for identifying and 
controlling risks. However, there are separate independent bodies within the Group that are responsible 
for managing and motoring risks. 
 
(i) Corporate level 
The Executive Management of Kardan N.V. (CEO, CFO) work closely with chief risk managers within 
the Group, by means of functional lines of responsibility and jointly they have overall responsibility for 
the execution of the risk strategy and implementation of principles, frameworks, policies and limits. 
The Board of Kardan N.V. is responsible for monitoring the overall risk process, including the overall 
risk-management approach and for approving the risk strategies and principles. 

 
(ii) Group companies 
Some of the Kardan Group companies have appointed risk managers at their corporate levels as well as 
at country levels or subsidiary levels.  
 
(iii) Risk mitigation  
Kardan uses the analysis of the structure of its portfolios in order to mitigate excessive risk in each of 
the countries and each of the business segments. The risk is spread among the different activities of the 
Kardan Group. The diversification of the businesses (commercial and residential real estate, 
infrastructure projects) as well as collateral management are useful risk mitigation tools as well. In 
addition, management may change its targets and focus in order to mitigate specific (excessive) risk. 

 
(iv) Excessive risk concentration 
A concentration of risk may arise from financial instruments with similar characteristics that are affected 
likewise by changes in economic or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
Kardan's performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 
 
In order to avoid excessive concentration of risks, Kardan's policy is to maintain a diversified portfolio 
in terms of geography, industry, products and product features – geographical diversification (CEE, 
CIS, China, etc.); industry diversification (real estate and water infrastructure); product diversification 
(f.e. residential and commercial real estate). 
 

2) Market risk 
 
Achieving the Group’s objectives in emerging markets depends on, among other things, the pace of 
economic development of these markets and in particular the pace of development of the real estate 
sector and water infrastructure sectors. Diminishing development rates of these markets and sectors may 
have an adverse impact on the business objectives of the Group.  
 
The Group conducts operations in China where it is active in commercial and residential real estate and 
in the Ukraine where it is active in car leasing business. The Company closely monitors the economic 
developments in and the countries of operations and directs management and financial resources to and 
from these regions based on its revised strategy. China is considered to be the largest emerging economy 
in the world, which has been gradually shifting over the last decades from a central government 
controlled economy to an open market economy and consequently more interlinked with international 
markets. A change in trends in countries where the Group operates may have an adverse impact on its 
operations. 
 
The management of the Company believes that the following factors are instrumental in handling the 
above-mentioned risks:   
(1) Skilled and experienced management team, combining local expertise with international experience 
in the countries of operation. 
(2) Focus on selection of major projects which are developed in stages, according to demand (real 
estate). 
(3) Strict due diligence before embarking on a project combined with high quality project management.  
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3) Price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.  
Kardan's price risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and 
constraints on investments, diversification plans, and limits on investments in each country.  
Kardan N.V. does not have a material exposure to financial instruments which are impacted by market 
prices, therefore it has no significant price risk, and accordingly there is no significant exposure to equity 
price risk. 
 
4) Political risk 
 
The Group has significant business activities predominantly in China, Africa and Central and Eastern 
Europe. Political and economic changes in these regions can have consequences for the Group's 
activities, as well as an impact on the results and financial positions of the Group. By closely monitoring 
these businesses, management intends to limit the risks of those changes.  
 
5) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is a risk that the Group may incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to meet 
their contractual obligations. Credit risk is also applicable to derivatives, financial guarantees and loan 
commitments. The Group is exposed to credit risk with regard to its trade receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, deposits, and other financial assets, financial guarantees and loan commitments. It is the 
policy of the Group, in general, to enter into trade agreements with reputable third parties with good 
credit ratings.  
 
The Group companies regularly monitor the credit status of their customers and debtors and record 
appropriate provisions for the possibility of losses that may be incurred from provision of credit, with 
respect to specific debts whose collection is doubtful. As a result, the Group's exposure to bad debts is 
not considered significant. 
 
Credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit approvals, 
limits and monitoring procedures. To manage this risk, the Group companies periodically and regularly 
assess the financial viability of their customers. 
 
A concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry, or geographic factors similarly 
affect groups of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group's 
total credit exposure. The Group's portfolio of financial instruments is diversified along product and 
geographic lines and transactions are entered into with various creditworthy counterparties, thereby 
mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk. The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations 
of their customers' financial condition and requires collateral as deemed necessary. 
 
Counterparties to financial instruments consist of a large number of financial institutions. The Group 
has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterpart or group of counterparties. 
 
With respect to trade receivables, the maximum exposure is equal to the amount on the face of the 
statement of financial position. Refer to Note 13 for more information regarding trade receivables and 
their aging analysis. 
 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, cash and cash equivalent amounted to €57,783 thousand and 
€143,920 thousand, respectively, and deposits in banks amounted to €10,218 thousand and €7,245 
thousand, respectively (see Note 15 and 16). All deposits are deposited with highly rated financial 
institutions primarily in the countries of operation. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk 
The sum of all financial assets presented in the table below and the sum of all financial guarantees is 
presented in the table below, showing the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 
Group. The maximum exposure is presented gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of 
collateral agreements. 
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6) Interest-rate risk 
 
The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates usually relates primarily to the Group's 
long-term debt obligations. The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a combination of debt 
with fixed and variable interest rates. Interest rate risk management aims to limit the impact of 
fluctuations in interest rates on the results and reduce total interest expenses as much as possible.  
 
The majority of the Group’s financial liabilities (debentures, loans and borrowings) bear a fixed interest 
rate and are therefore not exposed to interest rate risk. 
 
7) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations 
associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
To limit this risk, the Group finances its operations through diversified, short-term and long-term credit 
obtained from the public and institutional investors and from financial institutions. The Group raises 
financing according to needs and market conditions when required.  
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at December 31, 
2016 and 2015. The liabilities are based on contractual undiscounted cash flow. The tables include 
repayments of principal amounts as well as interest due. The amount of interest due was estimated based 
on contractual terms of the financial liabilities.  
For additional information regarding the liquidity risk management with respect to the Company’s 
liquidity position and uncertainties, see Note 1 and 25, respectively.  
 
7.1 Liquidity table 2016: 
 

 
7.2 Liquidity table 2015:  

 
0-3 

months
4-12 

months
1 to 2 
years  

Over 2 
years 

 
Total 

               EUR in thousands  
Liabilities    
    
Trade payables 16,752 3,688 - - 20,440 
Other payables and accrued expenses 12,980 42,476 2,888 - 58,344 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5,168 134,195 272 147 139,782 
Other debentures 4,453 - 113,398 216,574 334,425 
Other long term liabilities - - - 8,327 8,327 
    
Total liabilities 39,353 180,359 116,558 225,048 561,318 

 
0-3 

months
4-12 

months
1 to 2 
years  

Over 2 
years 

 
Total 

               EUR in thousands  
Liabilities    
    
Trade payables 20,121 152 - - 20,273

Other payables and accrued expenses 28,403 45,024 - - 73,427

Banking customers accounts 53,142 140,118 17 113 193,390

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 2,917 13,877 113,344 383 130,521

Other debentures 23,669 - 109,963 318,017 451,649

Other long term liabilities - - - 5,230 5,230

    
Total liabilities 128,252 199,171 223,324 323,743 874,490
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8) Foreign currency risk 
 
Since the Group conducts business activities in multiple countries, it is exposed to a foreign currency 
exchange rate risk, resulting from exposure to different currencies. The foreign currency exchange rate 
risk arises from transactions conducted in a currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant 
company in the Group. 
Group companies conduct currency translation transactions at times to hedge the exposure to the foreign 
currency risk.  
 
As of December 31, 2016: 
 

8.1 
 

In euros 

In US 

dollars

In NIS 

(Israel)

In RMB 

(China)

In Rub 

(Russia)

In other 

currencies

Non-

monetary Total 

  

Assets  € in thousands

Property and equipment  - - - - - - 13,689 13,689
Investment properties  - - - - - - 240,461 240,461

Goodwill   - - - - - - 6,156 6,156

Investments in companies accounted 
for using the equity method 

 
14,936 24,792 - - - 12,712 56,487 108,927 

Long-term receivables  5,000 - 2,530 - - - 4,165 11,695

Deferred tax assets  - - - - - - 2,452 2,452

Inventory  - - - - - - 119,421 119,421

Accounts receivable  7,329 10,497 40,452 4,897 - 3,272 - 66,447

Other receivables  20 1,467 4,993 5,686 1,731 895 13,326 28,118

Short-term investments  1,507 - 243 8,468 - - - 10,218

Cash and cash equivalents  20,062 4,535 6,961 19,424 2,666 4,135 - 57,783

  48,854 41,291 55,179 38,475 4,397 21,014 456,157 665,367 

 

Liabilities      

Deferred tax liability  - - - - - - 4,763 4,763 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing  2,865 11,590 1,486 111,232 62 - - 127,235

Warrants and options  - 3,966 - - - - - 3,966

Debentures   - - 288,978 - - - - 288,978

Other long-term liabilities  169 - 4,092 - 833 5,094

Other payables and accrued expenses  1,712 171 11,630 43,804 - 3,559 17,198 78,074

Trade payables  5,198 2,108 6,330 3,985 - 2,819 - 20,440

Advances from apartment buyers  - - - - - - 88,900 88,900

Income tax payable  - - - - - - 6,734 6,734

  9,944 17,835 312,516 159,021 62 6,378 118,428 624,184 

          

Differences between assets and 

liabilities 

 
38,910 23,456 (257,337) (120,546) 4,335 14,636 337,729 41,183 
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As of December 31, 2015: 
 

8.2 
 In euros 

In US 

dollars

In NIS 

(Israel) 

In RMB 

(China) 

In Rub 

(Russia)

In other 

currencies

Non-

monetary Total 

  

Assets  € in thousands

Property and equipment  - - - - - - 24,161 24,161
Investment properties  - - - - - - 250,310 250,310

Goodwill   - - - - - - 6,361 6,361

Investments in associates  15,826 24,837 - - - 9,424 55,417 105,504

Long-term receivables  26,305 174 1,125 - - 12,715 - 40,319

Loans to bank customers  90,813 - - - - 47,442 - 138,255

Deferred tax assets  - - - - - - 3,065 3,065

Inventory  - - - - - - 109,818 109,818

Accounts receivable  9,906 17,703 27,741 4,434 - 7,534 - 67,318

Other receivables  579 1,023 5,795 5,274 38 21,713 7,116 41,538

Short term investments  3,260 - 1,071 2,914 - 542 - 7,787

Cash and cash equivalents  62,748 12,997 26,558 34,362 1,230 6,025 - 143,920

Other financial assets  - - - - - 5,485 - 5,485

Assets classified as held for sale  - 24,760 - - - - 7,141 31,901

  209,437 81,494 62,290 46,984 1,268 110,880 463,389 975,742 

 
Liabilities      

Deferred tax liability  - - - - - - 13,909 13,909 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing  7,901 - 430 100,667 - - - 108,998

Warrants and options  - 2,495 - - - - - 2,495

Debentures   - - 356,272 - - - - 356,272

Other long-term liabilities  120 - 3,839 - - - - 3,959

Other payables and accrued expenses  9,435 7,446 28,151 46,743 1,063 4,436 18,662 115,936

Trade payables  2,885 2,877 5,152 4,655 109 4,590 - 20,268

Advances from apartment buyers  - - - - - - 81,972 81,972

Income tax payable  - - - - - - 3,933 3,933

Banking customers accounts  150,127 5,754 - - - 36,181 - 192,062

  170,468 18,572 393,844 152,065 1,172 45,207 118,476 899,804 

 
 

        

Differences between assets and 

liabilities 

 
41,760 65,799 (326,402) (103,196) 205 70,263 327,509 75,938 

 

 
b) The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit and loss before tax to a 
reasonably realistic change in exchange rates compared to other main currencies in which the Group 
operates, when all other variables are held constant: 
 
 
8.3 Sensitivity to change in EUR\USD 
 Effect on profit and loss 
 € in thousands 
 +10% +5% -5%  -10%

2016 3,021 1,511 (1,511)  (3,021)
2015 5,475 2,738 (2,738)  (5,475)
 
8.4 Sensitivity to change in EUR\ NIS 
 Effect on profit and loss 
 € in thousands 
 +20% +10% -10%  -20%

2016 (59,157) (29,579) 29,579  59,157
2015 (74,156) (37,078) 37,078  74,156
 
8.5 Sensitivity to change in RMB/EUR 
 Effect on profit and loss 
 € in thousands 
 +20% +10% -10%  -20%

2016 1,026 513 (513)  (1,026)
2015 3,350 1,675 (1,675)  (3,350)
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8.6 Sensitivity to change in Israeli CPI  
 Effect on profit and loss 
 € in thousands 
 +3% +2% -2%  -3%

2016 (8,876) (5,917) 5,917  8,876
2015 (10,674) (7,611) 7,611  10,674
 
9) Fair value disclosure: 
 
A. Set out below is a comparison by class of the differences between the carrying amounts and fair 

values of the Group's financial instruments. 
 

 
Methods of determining the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
Level 2 – Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 – Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that is 
not based on observable market data. 
 
Financial instruments for which fair value could not be determined are immaterial. 
 
Comments regarding determining the fair value: 
 

1) The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, which only 
include bank deposits, approximates their fair values, due to the short-term nature of such 
financial assets. Refer to Note 15 and 16 for additional information. 

2) Market prices of Debentures Series A and Series B of the company have been used to determine 
the fair value of the listed Debentures which were issued by the Group. Please refer to Note 22 
for additional information. The carrying value includes accrued interest in the amount €2,531 
thousand for 2016 and €23,495 thousand in 2015. 

3) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 most of the loans bear a fixed interest rate, and management 
estimates that this rate is approximately the same as the one at yearend. Refer to Note 8, 9, 19 
and 23 for additional information. 

4) Warrants, options and certain long-term liabilities were valued internally by the Group. The 
valuations were based on the DCF approach using the following assumptions: the exercise price, 
the price of the underlying asset, the contractual term of the option, the expected volatility of the 
asset price and the dividend yield. Refer to Note 18 and 21 for additional information.  

5) In determining that the carrying value approximated the fair value, management considered the 
continuous process for determining whether the value of these financial assets was impaired. 
Refer to Note 10 for additional information. 

6) The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and other financial instruments such as trade 
and other receivables, trade and other payables, which were not included in the table above, is 
assumed to approximate their fair value due to their short-term nature. 

  

9.1 Fair value schedule Methods of 

determining 

fair value Carrying amount Fair value  

  2016 2015 2016  2015  

  € in thousands Comment 

Assets        

Short-term investment  10,218 7,245 10,218  7,245 A 

Long-term loans and receivables  11,695 40,319 11,695  46,150 E 

Loans to associates and joint ventures  52,440 49,251 52,440  49,251 C 

Liabilities        

Debentures (1) 291,509 379,767 213,056  250,542 B 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings   127,235 108,996 127,235  108,996 C 

Other long-term liabilities (3) 3,171 2,544 3,171  2,544 D 

Financial instruments - warrants and options (3) 3,966 2,495 3,966  2,495 D 
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B. Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 

 
9.2 Fair value levels schedule:  December 31, 2015

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total

  € in thousands 

Financial assets: 
        

Held for trading securities and other  7,086  9  46  7,141 

Financial liabilities at fair value 

 through profit or loss:         

Warrant and call option  -  -  (2,495)  (2,495) 

Claw-back liability  -  -  (4,000)  (4,000) 

 
During 2016 and 2015 there have been no transfers between financial instruments valuated in Level 1 
to Level 2 or between Level 2 to Level 1.  

C. Level 3 financial assets and liabilities reconciliation 

 

 
 

9.2 Fair value levels schedule:  December 31, 2016

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total

  € in thousands 

Financial assets: 
        

Held for trading securities and other  238  -  -  238 

Financial liabilities at fair value 

 through profit or loss:         

Warrant and call option  -  -  2,745  2,745 

Put option  -  -  975  975 

Phantom options  -  -  245  245 

9.3 Level 3 reconciliation: 

 As of January 1, 
2016 

Fair value gain 
(loss) recorded 

in P&L  

Additions
 

Disposals  As of 
December 31, 

2016 

Total gains 
(losses) for the 
period included 

in P&L
  € in thousands

Securities 46 - - (46)  - -

Total assets 46 - - (46)  - -

Warrants and call options (2,495) (250) - -  (2,745) (250)

Claw-back (4,000) - - 4,000  - -

Put option - - (976) -  (976) -

Phantom options - - (245) -  (245) -

Total liabilities (6,495) (250) (1,221) 4,000  (3,966) (250)

   
 
 

As of January 
1, 2015 

 Fair value 
gain (loss) 
recorded in 

P&L

Gains recorded 
in other 

comprehensive 
income  

Additions
 

Transfers  As of 
December 
31, 2015 

Total gains 
(losses) for the 
period included 

in P&L
 € in thousands

Securities 45  1 - - -  46 1

Total assets 45  1 - - -  46 1

Warrants and call options (428)  64 - (2,559) 428  (2,495) 64
Put option (1,014)  (133) - - 1,147  -  (133)
Claw-back (3,150)  (850) - - -  (4,000) (850)

Total liabilities (4,592)  (919) - (2,559) 1,575  (6,495) (919)
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9.4 IAS 39 classification of financial assets and liabilities:  December 31, 

  2016  2015 

  € in thousands 

Financial assets:     

Cash, loans and receivables  209,210  506,867 

Derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments   -  5,485 

  209,210  512,352 

Financial liabilities:     

Financial liabilities presented at amortized cost  497,529  770,520 

Financial liability through P&L  3,171  6,544 

Put option  976  - 

Phantom options  245  - 

     

FIMI liability   2,745  2,495 

  504,666  779,559 

 
36. RELATED PARTIES  

The Group has entered into a variety of transactions with its related parties. The Group has adopted the 
policy to enter into such transactions, which are being concluded in the normal course of business, on 
an arm's-length basis. The sales and purchases from related parties are made at comparable normal 
market prices. Outstanding balances relating to such sales and purchases at year-end are unsecured, 
interest free, and settlement occurs in cash. Outstanding loans from related parties are unsecured and 
presented with accrued interest. The significant of these balances and transactions are as follows: 
 
A. Balances: 

 
As of December 31, 2016: 
 
 

Note  Associates  
Joint 

ventures 

   € in thousands 
      

Trade receivables 13  -  794 

Other receivables and prepayments  14  -  928 
Loans and long-term assets (including current 
maturities) 8,9  12,687  12,159 

Other payables and accrued expenses  24  -  11,574 

 
As of December 31, 2015: 
 
 

Note  Associates  
Joint 

ventures 

   € in thousands 
      

Trade receivables 13  -  1,997 

Other receivables and prepayments  14  -  2,660 
Loans and long-term assets (including current 
maturities) 8,9  9,406  13,828 

Other payables and accrued expenses  24  -  11,920 
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B. Transactions 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 
 

Note  Associates  
Joint 

ventures 
 Fellow 

subsidiaries 

   € in thousands 

Management fee, net   -  960 
 

- 

Finance income 32  686  137 
 

162 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2015: 
 
 

Note  Associates  
Joint 

ventures  
Fellow 

subsidiaries 

   € in thousands 

Management fee, net   -  1,477  - 

Finance income 32  202  264  168 

Other   -  -  1,276 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2014: 
 
 

Note  Associates  
Joint 

ventures  
Fellow 

subsidiaries 

   € in thousands 

        

Management fee, net   -  2,122  - 

General and administrative expenses  30  -  -  1,676 

Finance income 32  -  287  - 

 

1) Management fees for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014 relate mostly to management fees from joint 
ventures received by Kardan Land China. Finance income from associates and joint ventures are 
from loans granted the associates and joint ventures.  
 

2) In May 2015 the services agreement between the Company and Kardan Israel (a company 
controlled by the Company’s controlling shareholders) has been amended. According to the 
amended agreement, effective March 1, 2015, the scope of services will be reduced and 
accordingly, the corresponding service fees would be reduced to a total of approximately €212 
thousand per year, linked to Israeli CPI. This agreement is effective for three years. 
 

3) Kardan Israel provides various services to the Group which are not part of the abovementioned 
services agreement, including, among others, the provision of office space and services. In addition, 
Kardan Israel is entitled to reimbursement of expenses incurred in connection with such services. 
With respect of the aforesaid services provided in 2016, the Company paid to Kardan Israel a total 
of €30 thousand (2015 - € 19 thousand). 
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C. Remuneration to related parties: 

 
Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and executive management, of the Company: 
 
1) Board: 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

 In € ‘000 
 

     

 263  269 249 

 
2. Executive Management:  
 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

Short-term 
employee 
benefits 

 Post-employment 
pension and 

medical benefits 

Share-based 
payment 

transaction 

 Total

  €000  €000 €000  €000

2016 (*)  1,324 
 

152 359
 

1,835

2015 1,335 
 

120 170
 

1,625

2014 1,551 
 

112 181
 

1,844

 
(*) The amounts in 2016 include the new CEO fees from his appointment as CEO on April 15, 2016 and the 
former CEO until termination of employment on September 30, 2016.  
Short term employee benefits include bonuses over the years 2014, 2015 and 2016. 
 
3.  Options granted by the Company as of December 31, 2016 (*): 
 

  No. of options
Total options granted to two Executive 
management  

  
200,000 

  
(*) 100,000 options are to be cancelled in 2017 following termination of employment. For additional 

information see also Note 18B. 
   

37.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

A subsidiary of TGI is currently in advanced negotiations with an Israeli fund for selling 19.84% of 
Star Pumped Storage Ltd. in consideration of approximately NIS 40-50 million. The sale is subject 
to various conditions, including the approval of financing institutions and regulatory approvals 
which will be stipulated in the sale agreement and are being discussed between the parties.  
As of the date of the approval of these financial statements, the parties are also in negotiations for 
selling the remaining 20.66% of Star Pumped Storage Ltd., held by TGI. 
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COMPANY-ONLY NON-STATUTORY BALANCE SHEET 

December 31, 2016 
After appropriation of net result 
 

  December  December 
 Note 31, 2016  31, 2015 

 € in thousand 
A s s e t s         
Non-current assets      
Tangible fixed assets  95  114
Investments in subsidiaries  5  406,692  550,493
Loans to subsidiaries  23  22
   406,810  550,629
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,754  22,867
Short-term investments 7 131  137
Other receivables 4 1,005  687
   2,890  23,691
   
Total assets  409,700  574,320
   
E q u i t y  a n d  
l i a b i l i t i e s  

   

   
Equity 8    
Share capital  25,276  25,276
Share premium  206,482  206,482
Property revaluation reserve  34,772  36,713
Foreign currency translation reserve   23,590  24,711
Other reserve  6,633  8,144
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)  (259,420)  (229,865)
   37,333  71,461
     
Non-current liabilities    
Debentures 9    364,159  468,407
Options and other long-term liabilities 10  3,246  2,035
   367,405  470,442
Current liabilities     
Other payables 12 4,962  32,417
  4,962  32,417
   

Total equity and liabilities  409,700  574,320
See accompanying notes. 
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COMPANY-ONLY NON-STATUTORY INCOME STATEMENT 
Year ended December 31, 2016 

 
 Note  2016  2015 
   
   € in thousand 

      

General and administration expenses 
13  

(3,379) 
 

(4,585)

Loss from operations 
  

(3,379) 
 

(4,585)

Financial expenses ,net 
14  

(47,426) 
 

(63,680)
Loss before share of profit from 
investments accounted for using the equity 
method 

  

(50,805) 

 

(68,265)
Share of profit of investments accounted for 
using the equity method, net 

5  
20,049 

 
45,827

Loss before income taxes 
  

(30,756) 
 

(22,438)

Income tax expenses 
11  

574 
 

477

Loss for the year 
  

(31,330) 
 

(22,915)
 

 
See accompanying notes. 
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COMPANY-ONLY NON-STATUTORY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 
 2016  2015  2014 
 In €’000 
Cash flow from operating activities of the Company    
Profit (loss) for the year (31,330)  )22,915( 5,091 

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) to net cash of the 
Company 

  

Financial expense 49,020  ,64 013 23,561 

Dividend received 113,284  53,742 78,557 

Share-based payment (146)  163 191 

Equity earnings (20,049)  )45,827( (31,079) 
Changes in working capital of the Company   

Change in receivables (873)  )138( (730) 
Change in payables 548  )1,154( 1,474 

Cash amounts paid and received during the year   

Interest paid (41,120)  )18,676( (2,997) 
Interest received 8  20 10 

Net cash provided by operating activities of the Company 69,342  ,29 228 74,078 

Cash flow from investing activities of the Company  

Short term investments, net 6  659 57 

Net cash provided by investing activities of the Company 6
 

659 57 

Cash flow from financing activities  
Investment in shares of a subsidiary (4,003)  )150( (21,966)
Debentures settlement payment -  (750) -
Repayment of long term debt (86,458)  )6,725( (67,788) 

Net cash used in financing activities of the Company (90,461)  (7,625) (89,754) 
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Company (21,113)

 
22,262 (15,619) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  22,867  605 16,224 

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company at end of the 
year  1,754

 
22,867 605 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY-ONLY NON-STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2016 

1. GENERAL 

The description of the Company’s activity and the Group structure, as included in the Notes to the 
non-statutory consolidated IFRS financial statements, also apply to the Company-only non- statutory 
financial statements, unless otherwise stated.  
 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Company’s non-statutory financial statements are prepared based on the accounting principles 
of recognition, measurement and determination of profit, as applied in the non-statutory consolidated 
financial statements. These principles also include the classification and presentation of financial 
instruments, being equity instruments or financial liabilities.  
 
In case no other policies are mentioned, refer to the accounting policies as described in the accounting 
policies in the non-statutory consolidated financial statements. For an appropriate interpretation, the 
company-only non-statutory financial statements of Kardan NV should be read in conjunction with 
the non-statutory consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Company prepared its non-statutory consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union.  
 
3. Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries are measured at net asset value. Net asset value is based on 
the measurement of assets, provisions and liabilities and determination of profit based on the 
principles applied in the consolidated financial statements. 
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4. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
 € in thousand
    
Intercompany debtors 896  468 
Prepaid expenses 109  208 
Other -  11 
   
 1,005  687 

 
5. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries  

(1) The movement in the investment in consolidated subsidiaries can be summarized as follows: 
 
 2016  2015 
  
 € in thousand 
Balance as of January 1 550,493  456,880
Investment in a subsidiary (a) 4,003  103,892
Change in treasury shares (held by a subsidiary) -  290
Change in capital reserves (b) (454)  (94) 
Dividend distributed (167,740)  (56,302) 
Share in profit of investments for the year 20,049  45,827
   
Balance as of December 31 406,351  550,493

 
(a) In 2015 the Company capitalized a shareholder’s loan to Emerging Investments XII B.V. in the 
amount of €103.6 million.  
 (b) Primarily relates to foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations. 
 

(2)  Further specification of the investments in subsidiaries is as follows: 
 
 2016 2015 
 Owner Total Owner  Total
Names of subsidiaries  ship Value ship  value
   
 % € in 

thousand 
%  € in 

thousand 

GTC Real Estate Holding B.V.  100  276,412  100   307,599
Kardan Financial Services B.V.  100  36,610  100   51,986
Tahal Group International B.V.  98.43  39,856  98.43   60,442
Emerging Investments XII B.V. 100  53,473  100  130,490
Other 100  -  100  (24)
   
Total investments in significant 
consolidated subsidiaries (*) 

  
406,351

   
550,493
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6.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  € in thousand
     

EURO  1,496  3,942
NIS  257  18,603
USD  1  322

  1,754  22,867
 
The cash is primarily comprised out of short term deposits. 
The average interest rate on short term deposits was 0.2%-1.5% p.a. in 2016 and 2015. 
 
7. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 

 December 31, 
 2016  2015 
  
 

€ in thousand 
  
Deposits  131  130
Trust account -  7
   
 131  137

 
In 2016 and 2015, the average interest rate earned was 0.5%. 
 
 



   

8. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY. 

 
 Issued    Foreign 

 and  Property Revaluation currency   

 paid-in Share revaluation reserve, translation Retained  

 capital premium reserve (*) other (*) reserve (*) earnings(**) Total 

 € in thousand  
              

Balance as of January 1, 

2016 25,276  206,482  36,713  8,144  24,711 

 

(229,865)  71,461 
              

Other comprehensive income 

(expense) -  -  -  (1,365)  (1,121) 

 

-  (2,486) 

Profit (loss) for the period -  -  -  -  -  (31,330)  (31,330) 

Share-based payment -  -  -  (146)  -  -  (146) 

Transaction with non-

controlling interest -  -  -  -  - 

 

(166)  (166) 

Reclassification according to 

the Netherlands civil code 

requirements law (*) -  -  (1,941)  -  - 

 

1,941  - 

Balance as of December 

31, 2016 25,276  206,482  34,772  6,633  23,590 

 

(259,420)  37,333 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

 
 Issued    Foreign 

 and  Property Revaluation currency   

 paid-in Share revaluation reserve, translation Retained  

 capital premium reserve (*) other (*) reserve (*) earnings(**) Total 

 € in thousand  
              

Balance as of January 1, 

2015 23,041  208,002  21,033  10,765  23,943 

 

(194,386)  92,398 
              

Other comprehensive income 

(expense) -  -  -  (2,784)  768 

 

-  (2,016) 

Profit (loss) for the period -  -  -  -  -  (22,915)  (22,915) 

Share-based payment -  -  -  163  -  -  163 

Issuance of treasury shares 2,235  (1,520)  -  -  -  2,625  3,340 

Transactions with non-

controlling interest -  -  -  -  - 

 

491  491 

Reclassification according to 

the Netherlands civil code 

requirements law (*) -  -  15,680  -  - 

 

(15,680)  - 

Balance as of December 

31, 2015 25,276  206,482  36,713  8,144  24,711 

 

(229,865)  71,461 
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(*) In accordance with the Dutch civil code, part of the retained earnings is restricted for 
distribution following the regulation to maintain reserves in respect of real estate unrealized fair 
value revaluations, cash flow hedges, foreign currency differences from investments in foreign 
operations and equity gains from associates and joint ventures (as also disclosed in Note 17F to 
the consolidated financial statements). 
 
(**) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, amounts of €32,778 and €29,909 thousand 
respectively resulted from equity gains in associates and joint ventures held by the Company 
subsidiaries, and therefore the distribution of these amounts is pending on approval of the 
shareholders and partners. This part of the retained earnings is therefore restricted for 
distribution. 
 
 
9.  DEBENTURES 

Composition: 
 

 Par value 
as of 

December 

 Balance as of 
December  

Balance as of
December  

Interest  
Maturities 

 31, 2016  31, 2016 31, 2015 rate  principal
 € in thousands %   
Issuer:     
The Company – 2007  297,500,001  87,285 158,490 6.325  2017-2018
The Company – 2008  952,834,318  276,874 309,917 6.775  2017-2020
   364,159  468,407     

 
Maturities: 
 

 December  December
 31, 2016  31, 2015
 € in thousand  
First year – current maturities -  - 
Second year 158,350  146,977 
Third year 109,709  138,745 
Fourth year 96,100  97,379 
Fifth year -  85,305 

Total 364,159  468,406 

 
Repayment of debentures: 
 
On July 24, September 2, and November 14, 2016 the Company early repaid principal 
amounting to approximately €86.4 million to Debenture Holders series A and series B, and 
accumulated interest of approximately €17.7 million to Debenture Holders series A and series 
B (net of the relative portion of debentures held by the Company’s subsidiaries). The total 
repayment amounted to approximately €104.1 million (approximately NIS 439 million). 
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On March 31, 2015 the Company early repaid principal amounting to approximately €6.7 
million to Debenture Holders series A and Series B  and paid the interest deferred to August 
2015 in the amount of  approximately €18.7 million to Debenture Holders series A and series 
B and. The total repayment amounted to approximately €25.4 million. 

 
10. SHARE PLAN  

 
In 2012 the Company granted to its former CEO 2,282,624 options exercisable to 2,282,624 
shares of the Company, comprising approximately 2% of the outstanding share capital of the 
Company (prior to the shares issued to the debenture holders as part of the Final Settlement 
agreement (see also Note 22 to the consolidated IFRS financial statements). In 2015 a 
modification to the option plan was approved by the general meeting of shareholders.  
According to the modified plan, the exercise price would be €0.2807 or NIS 1.191. The options 
will vest in two equal tranches, 50% of the options would be exercisable from December 31, 
2016 and 50% of the options will be exercisable from June 30, 2018. The modification was 
accounted for under the requirements of IFRS 2.  
During 2016, the options expired following the resignation of the CEO. 
 
In September 2013 (the ‘Grant Date’), the Board of the Company approved a stock-option plan 
according to which the Company granted to several employees of the Company a total of 
250,000 options exercisable into up to 250,000 ordinary shares of the Company, each having 
a par value of €0.20 (subject to adjustments). The exercise price of each option is equal to NIS 
6.136. The options were exercisable in four annual equal portions, starting June 2012 (the 
‘Effective Date’), of which the first 25% are exercisable two years following the Effective 
Date. The total value of the options at date of grant was immaterial. The Company share price 
on Grant Date was approximately NIS 1.9052. The grant was accounted for assuming equity 
settlement and the total expenses booked in the period were immaterial and were included as 
‘General and administration expenses’ in the income statement. In 2015, the senior 
management stock options were modified in line with the above modification of the CEO 
option plan, as described above.  
During 2015, 100,000 new options were granted and 50,000 options expired. During 2016 
50,000 expired.  Subsequent to the balance sheet date, in January 2017 additional 150,000 
options expired. The total additional expense relating to the management stock option plan is 
less than €0.1 million. 
 

For additional information refer to Note 18B to the consolidated IFRS financial statements. 
 

11. TAXES ON INCOME 

The Company has received final tax assessments for the years 2003 to 2013.  
Loss for the year amounts to €(31.3) million (2015: €22.9 million), including net result from 
investments of €20.0 million profits (2015: €45.8 million losses), which is not 
deductible/taxable under the Participation Exemption described above. The Company assumes 
that the remaining other expenses and income will not result in tax benefits or tax expenses due 
to the available tax losses from previous years of the Company.   
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Up to and including 2016, Kardan N.V. has estimated tax losses of €273.9 million that are 
available for carry forward (according to the filed 2015 tax return, net of tax losses evaporated 
in 2016). The carry back of losses is restricted to one year, whereas the carry forward of losses 
is limited to nine years. Special provisions apply for compensation of tax losses incurred in 
years during which a company’s activities consists (almost) exclusively of holding activities 
and the direct or indirect financing of related parties. Such tax losses can only be offset against 
future taxable profits of years during which the company’s activities also consists (almost) 
exclusively of holding and finance activities. Furthermore compensation of losses is disallowed 
if the balance of the related-party receivables and the related-party payables of a company with 
holding and financing losses, during the year in which a profit was realized, exceeds that 
balance in the financial year the losses were incurred, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
increase of the balance of related-party receivables and related-party payables has increased for 
business reasons and was not predominantly aimed at the compensation of the holding and 
financing losses. According to the final tax assessment for the fiscal year 2013, Kardan N.V. 
has tax losses available for carry forward as per December 31, 2013 which are not considered 
holding and financing losses and can therefore be compensated with future taxable profits, 
taking into account the statutory carry forward period.  
 
Deferred tax assets have been recognized only with respect to potential tax liability in relation 
with the Company’s former hedge transactions. Deferred taxes amounted to €1,311 thousand 
as of December 31, 2016 (as of December 31, 2015 amounted to 1,331 thousand). As of 
December 31, 2016 no deferred tax assets are presented in the balance sheet. For more 
information regarding to taxes on income refer to Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

 

12. OTHER PAYABLES   

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
   

 € in thousand 
   
Accrued expenses (mainly accrued interest on 
debentures)  

3,170  30,574 

Others  1,792  1,843 
   

 4,962  32,417 
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13. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES    

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
   

 € in thousand 
   
Payroll and related expenses 1,834        2,343 
Share-based payment  (146)          162   
Management fees  473           523 
Office maintenance  340          334 
Professional fees  1,014          731 
Depreciation and amortization  28           29 
Other  (164)          463 
   

 3,379       4,585 
   

 

14. FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES), NET 

  For the year ended December 31

 2016  2015

  € in thousands 

Income:     

Income from bank deposits  6  23 
Exchange differences  3,194  8,945 
   
Total financing income  4,060  8,968 
     

Expenses:     

Interest on debentures  30,818  27,332 
Exchange differences 18,585  42,557 
Revaluation of warrant 236  2,035 
Loss from early repayment of debentures 1,019  - 
Other 827  724 
Total financing expenses  51,486  72,648 

Total financing expenses  47,426  63,680 
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15.  AUDIT FEES 

The tables below summarizes the fees invoiced to the Company’s by its auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. and Ernst & Young in 2016 and in 2015,   
respectively: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
16. REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Company’s management and Board received remuneration in 2016 and 2015 as described 
in Note 36 to the consolidated IFRS financial statements. 
 
17. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, GUARANTEES, AND 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

For commitments, contingent liabilities, guarantees, and subsequent events please refer to notes 
25 and 37, respectively of the consolidated IFRS financial statements. 
 
18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT  

For disclosures required by IFRS 7 regarding financial instruments and risk management, refer 
to Note 35 to the consolidated IFRS financial statements.   

2016 PwC Others Total 
 
 
 € in thousand 
Audit services – Kardan N.V. 455  -  455 
Audit services – subsidiaries 647  17  664 
  
Total statutory audit fees 1,102  17  1,119 
      
Other services relevant to taxation 29  -  29 
      
  
Total 1,131  17  1,148 

2015 PwC Ernst & 
Young  

Others Total 
 
   
 € in thousand 
Audit services – Kardan N.V. 355  134  -  489 
Audit services – subsidiaries 632  509  51.4  1,192.4 
   
Total statutory audit fees 987  642.9  51.4  1,681.3 
        
Other services relevant to taxation 59  167  -  226 
Other non-audit services -  -  -  - 
   
Total non-audit services 59  167  -  226 

Total 1,046  809.9  51.4  1,907.3 
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Independent auditor’s report  

To: the shareholders and the board of directors of Kardan N.V. 

 

 

Report on the non-statutory financial statements 2016 
  

  

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 
 the accompanying consolidated non-statutory financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the financial position of Kardan N.V. as at 31 December 2016 and of its result 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS); 

 the accompanying company non-statutory financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of Kardan N.V. as at 31 December 2016 and of its result for the 
year then ended in accordance with the accounting principles as disclosed in the notes to 
the company non-statutory financial statements.  

What we have audited 
We have audited the accompanying non-statutory financial statements 2016 of Kardan N.V., 
Amsterdam (‘the Company’). The non-statutory financial statements include the non-statutory 
consolidated financial statements of Kardan N.V. and its subsidiaries (together: ‘the Group’) 
and the non-statutory company financial statements. 
The non-statutory consolidated financial statements comprise: 
 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016; 
 the following statements for 2016: the consolidated income statement and the 

consolidated statements of other comprehensive income and changes in equity and the 
cash flow statement; and 

 the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

The non-statutory company financial statements comprise: 
 the company-only statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016; 
 the company-only income statement for the year then ended; 
 the company-only statement of changes in equity for 2016; 
 the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 
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The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the non-
statutory consolidated financial statements is EU-IFRS and the financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in the preparation of the non-statutory company financial statements is 
disclosed in the notes to the non-statutory company financial statements. 

 
 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to the financial position and going concern paragraph in note 1B on page 14 
of the financial statements, which indicates that the Company is currently negotiating 
transactions (sale of assets and refinancing of loans) with a number of prominent parties which 
it is confident will generate adequate resources to meet future liabilities in the next 12 months. 
The realization of the Company’s plans depends on factors that are not wholly within the 
Company’s control. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which 
casts significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 

The basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section ‘Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial statements’ of our report. 
We are independent of Kardan N.V. in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO) and other relevant 
independence requirements in  
the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en 
beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA). 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  
 

Responsibilities of the board of directors  
The board of directors is responsible for: 
 the preparation and fair presentation of the non-statutory consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and the preparation and fair presentation of the 
non-statutory company financial statements in accordance with the accounting policies 
as disclosed in the notes to the company non-statutory financial statements; 

 such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the non-statutory financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of the non-statutory financial statements, the board of directors is 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern. Based on the 
financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the non-
statutory financial statements using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the board of 
directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. The board of directors should disclose events and circumstances that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern in the 
non-statutory financial statements, refer to note 1B ‘Financial position and going concern’ for 
disclosures.  
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial 
statements 
Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement to obtain sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion aims to 
provide reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory  financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.  
Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance which makes it possible 
that we may not detect all misstatements. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error.  
They are considered to be material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-
statutory financial statements. 
A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report. 

Amsterdam, 22 March 2017 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 

 
Original has been signed by E. Hartkamp RA 
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the non-statutory 
financial statements 2016 of Kardan N.V. 
  

In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, we have further set out in this appendix 
our responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory  financial statements and explained what 
an audit involves. 
The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial 
statements 
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements 
and independence requirements. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the non-statutory  financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Our audit consisted, among others of the 
following: 
 Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the non-statutory 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
intentional override of internal control. 

 Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors. 

 Concluding on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going-concern 
basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the non-statutory financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and are made in the context of our 
opinion on the non-statutory financial statements as a whole. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a  
going-concern. 

 Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the non-statutory financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and evaluating whether the non-statutory financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the Company’s non-statutory 
consolidated financial statements we are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. In this context, we have determined the nature and extent of 
the audit procedures for components of the group to ensure that we performed enough work to 
be able to give an opinion on the non-statutory financial statements as a whole.  
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Determining factors are the geographic structure of the group, the significance and/or risk 
profile of group entities or activities, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry 
in which the group operates. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or 
review of financial information or specific balances was considered necessary. 
We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ACCORDING TO RULE 9C 

Herewith financial data and separate financial information related to the company-only derived 
from the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2016 which is 
published as part of the annual report (herewith – Consolidated Financial Statements), presented 
according to Rule 9c to the Israeli Securities and Exchange Regulations (Periodic and Immediate 
Reports), 1970. The main accounting policies that were used for this financial information are 
described in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The notes to this financial 
information are those not included in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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  December  December 
 Additional 

information
31, 2016  31, 2015 

  In €’000 
A s s e t s         
Non-current assets      
Tangible fixed assets  95  114  

 
  

Financial fixed assets     
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries   406,692  550,493 
Loans to consolidated subsidiaries  23  22 
   ,406 810  550,629 
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1,754  22,867 
Short-term investments 3 131  137 
Other receivables 4 ,1 005  687 

   2,890  23,691 
 

 
 

Total assets  409,700  574,320 
   

E q u i t y  a n d  l i a b i l i t i e s       
Equity attributable to equity shareholders     
Share capital  25,276  25,276 
Share premium  206,482  206,482 
Property revaluation reserve  34,772  36,713 
Other reserves  6,633  8,144 
Foreign currency translation reserve  23,590  24,711 
Accumulated deficit  (259,420)   (229,865) 
   37,333  71,461 
     
Long-term liabilities    
Debentures   364,159  468,407 
Option liability    3,246  2,035 
   367,405  470,442 
     
Current liabilities     
Other payables  4,962  32,417 
   

Total equity and liabilities  409,700  574,320 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements related to the  
company 
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THE COMPANY’S INCOME STATEMENT  
 
For the year ended December 31,  

  2016  2015  2014 
     In €’000  

 
 

Net result from investments for the year  049,20  45,827  31,079 
    
General and administrative expenses, net  3,379 4,585  5,508 
    
Profit from operations before financing expenses   ,16 670 41,242  25,571 
           
Finance income  4,060 23  286 
Finance expenses  (51,486) (63,703)  (20,432) 
Financing expenses, net  (47,426) (63,680)  (20,146) 
Income tax expense   574 477  334 
    
Net profit (loss) for the year  (31,330) (22,915)  5,091 
  

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements related to the 

company 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FROM THE COMPANY-ONLY STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 
For the year ended December 31, 

   
  2016 2015  2014
 

  In €’000 
       
Net profit (loss) for the year  (31,330) (22,915)  5,091 
      
Foreign currency translation differences  (1,121) 768  30,701 
Change in hedge reserve, net  (1,365) (2,784)  (3,754) 
 

    
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year to
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

 
(2,486) (2,016)  26,947 

 
Total comprehensive income (expense)  (33,816) (24,931)  32,038 

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements related to the 

company 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FROM THE COMPANY-ONLY CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 
 2016  2015  2014 
 In €’000 
Cash flow from operating activities of the Company    
Profit (loss) for the year (31,330)  )22,915( 5,091
Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) to net cash of the 
Company 

 

Financial expense 49,020  ,64 013 23,561
Dividend received 113,284  53,742 78,557
Share-based payment (146)  163 191
Equity losses (earnings)  (20,049)  )45,827( (31,079)
Changes in working capital of the Company  
Change in receivables (873)  )138( (730)
Change in payables 548  )1,154( 1,474
Cash amounts paid and received during the year  
Interest paid (41,120)  )18,676( (2,997)
Interest received 8  20 10

Net cash provided by operating activities of the Company 69,342  ,29 228 74,078

Cash flow from investing activities of the Company  

Short term investments, net 6  659 57
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of the 
Company 6

 
659 57

Cash flow from financing activities  
Investment in shares of a subsidiary (4,003)  )150( (21,966)
Debentures settlement payment -  (750) -
Repayment of long term debt (86,458)  )6,725( (67,788)

Net cash used in financing activities of the Company (90,461)  (7,625) (89,754)
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Company (21,113)

 
22,262 (15,619)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period  22,867  605 16,224
Cash and cash equivalents of the Company at end of the 
period  1,754

 
22,867 605

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements related to the 

company 
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NOTES TO THE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
1. FINANCIAL POSITION AND GOING CONCERN 

As at December 31, 2016 the Company had, on a stand-alone basis and in the consolidated 
financial statements a working capital deficit of €1.5 million and €39 million, respectively 
(excluding debentures held by subsidiaries).   
 
In 2016 the Company completed the sale of TBIF, generating a total of €82 million, and 
the sale of the remaining 25% in KWIG (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements). The Company early repaid in full the principal amount of the debentures that 
was payable in February 2017 using the proceeds from these transactions.  The remaining 
interest of approximately €4 million was paid in February 2017. The sale of TBIF allows 
the Company a period of more than one year to sell assets in order to pay its obligations in 
2018 and onwards.  
 
Management prepared a two year liquidity analysis as part of its normal course of business 
which addresses the required liquidity to be able to repay interest and principal of the 
Company’s debentures and all other liabilities in the year 2017 and onwards and to finance 
its operating activities. Included in this analysis are, among others, the current cash 
balances and the projected cash from future operations and transactions. The Company is 
currently negotiating transactions (sale of assets and refinancing of loans) with a number 
of prominent parties which, it is confident will generate adequate resources to meet future 
liabilities in the next 12 months, as well as strengthening its financial position.   
 
The directors are confident that, taking into account their plans to realize the transactions 
and the progress which has been made in that respect, the Company has the ability to obtain 
the required resources for repaying its obligations and continue its business operations in 
the future. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the non-
statutory consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.  
 
However, the directors are aware that the realization of the Company’s plans depends on 
factors that are not wholly within the Company’s control, and therefore there is uncertainty 
that such transactions will be completed or will generate sufficient resources to meet its 
liabilities according to their contractual maturities. According to established guidelines, 
these conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which casts significant 
doubt regarding the Company’s ability to repay its liabilities when they become due and 
its ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and 
classifications of assets and liabilities that would result if the Company is unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
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2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  December  December
  31, 2016  31, 2015
  In €’000 
     

EURO  1,496  3,942
NIS  257  18,603
USD  1  322

  1,754  22,867
 
Cash and cash equivalents include primarily short-term deposits. 
The average interest rate on short term deposits was 0.2%-1.5% p.a. in 2016 and 2015.  
 
 
3. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

 December  December
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
 In €’000 
   
Pledged deposit  131  130
Deposit in a trust account -  7
 131  137

 
The average interest earned in 2016 and 2015 was 0.5%. 
 
 
4. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
 In €’000 
    
Intercompany debtors 896  468 
Prepaid expenses 109  208 
Other -  11 
   
 1,005  687 
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5.  DETAILS OF MATERIAL FINANCIAL ASSETS IN ACCORDANCE WITH   
IAS 39 

 December  December 
 31, 2016  31, 2015 
 In €’000 
    
Financial assets:    
Loans to subsidiaries 23  22
Receivables 1,005  687
Short term investments 131  137
Cash and cash equivalents 1,754  22,867

 2,913  23,713
 

6. EXPECTED REALIZATION PERIODS OF MATERIAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AND LIABILITIES GROUPED IN ACCORDANCE WITH IAS 39 
CLASSIFICATIONS: 
 
Financial assets as of December 31, 2016 
 
  Up to 1 

year
 1-2 

years
2-3 

years
 Total 

  In €’000

Cash and short term Investments  1,885 - -  1,885 
Loans and receivables  1,028 - -  1,028 
  2,913 - -  2,913 

 
Financial assets as of December 31, 2015 
 
  Up to 1 

year
1-2 

years
2-3 

years
 Total 

  In €’000

Cash and short term Investments  23,005 - -  23,005 
Loans and receivables  687 - -  687 
  23,692 - -  23,692 

 
Financial liabilities as of December 31, 2016 

  
  Up to 1 

year 
 1 to 2 

years 
 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 

years 
 > 5 years   

 
Total

 In €’000

Debentures (*)  5,694  168,816  127,758 120,135 -  -  422,403
Option liabilities  -  -  - - 3,246  -  3,246 
             
Total  5,694  168,816  127,758 120,135 3,246  -  425,649
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Financial liabilities as of December 31, 2015 
 

  
  Up to 1 

year 
 1 to 2 

years 
 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 

years 
 > 5 years   

 
Total

 In €’000

Debentures (*)  30,811  159,368  161,234 122,020 114,739  -  588,172
Option liability  -  -  - - -  2,035  2,035 
             
Total  30,811  159,368  161,234 122,020 114,739  2,035  590,207

 
(*) Including interest.  
The majority of the Company’s financial assets, other than cash, are denominated in EURO.  
 
 
7. TAXES ON INCOME 
 
For information regarding to taxes on income refer to Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 
 
8. LOANS, MUTUAL BALANCES, COMMITMENTS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH 
INVESTEE COMPANIES 
 
A. Balances with investee companies 
 
  December   December
  31, 2016  31, 2015 
  € thousands 
Debentures held by subsidiaries  75,820  119,214
The largest amount of loans and current debts during the year  23  22

 
B. Transactions with investee companies. 
 
  December   December  December 
  31, 2016  31, 2015  31, 2014 
  € thousands 
       
Management fees  702 687  522 
Guarantee fees  - -  22 
General and administrative expenses  210 254  467 
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9. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 
 
a. Modification of option plan 

 
In August 2015, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved a modification 
to the option plan of the Company’s CEO, which replaced his existing option plan. During 2016, 
the options expired following the resignation of the CEO. 
 For additional information reference is made to Note 18 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 

 
Board of Directors 

P. Sheldon 
 
A. Schnur 
 
J. Grunfeld 
 
E. Rechter 
 
E. Seinstra 
 
C. van den Bos 
 
B. Marsman 

 
M. Groen 
 
A. Hasson 
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